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Capio is a leading, pan-European healthcare 
provider offering a broad range of high quality 
medical, surgical and psychiatric healthcare 
services in four countries through our hospitals, 
specialist clinics and primary care units. In 
2014, Capio’s 12,3571 employees provided 
healthcare services during 4.6 million2 patient 
visits across our facilities in Sweden, Norway, 
France and Germany, generating net sales of 
MSEK 13,200. 

1 Number of employees as full-time equivalents on average during the year.
2 Number of inpatient and outpatient visits.
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Vision

The best achievable 
quality of life  
for every patient.
The aim of all healthcare work is to ensure the best 
achiev able quality of life for each and every patient. 
Many make a full recovery, while others have the 
chance of a more normal life. 

A patient’s self-esteem and dignity shall also  
be respected and reinforced even as his or her life 
draws to a close. Our key drivers are quality,  
compassion and care.

Values

Quality. Compassion. 
Care.
When we require medical care, we are vulnerable 
and perhaps helpless, or at least in need of assis-
tance. We may also have a limited insight and 
knowledge of our illness and how best to treat it. 
This places a heavy burden of responsibility on the 
healthcare service and its staff, far beyond the 
responsibility that applies to many other activities 
and situations in life. The foundation for Capio’s 
activities is three core values to manage this respon-
sibility and to achieve the best achievable quality of 
life for every patient.

This is Capio

Mission

Cure. Relieve. Comfort.
We have a mission: to cure, relieve and comfort anyone 
seeking medical care from Capio. This is also what is stated 
in the oath created around 2,400 years ago by Hippocrates, 
the father of medicine.

Modern medical developments mean that more and 
more diseases can now be cured, or at least eased. At 
Capio, we are doing everything in our power to make the 
most of this development. We use all the knowledge and 
experience of our staff to ensure that new advances benefit 
patients as quickly as possible. New, improved methods 
and procedures are only viable when they are implemented 
in day-to-day medical care. 

There are times when a cure is impossible and relief is 
merely temporary. In these cases, comfort is an important 
part of the care offered. We must be able to see the person 
behind the illness; see their anxiety and sorrow, and do 
every thing in our power to support them. It is important to 
remember this personal aspect of medical care in the face 
of the advanced technology used today, not to  mention the 
thousands of sophisticated treatment methods that are part 
of modern healthcare.



Total net sales 2014 Capio Group MSEK 13,200
– share of net sales 2014 in Capio’s segments

Capio Nordic Capio France Capio Germany

54% 37% 9 %

Capio organizes its business in three3 opera-
tional segments: Capio Nordic (Sweden and 
Norway), Capio France and Capio Germany. 
The segments provide a wide range of 
healthcare services and the organization is 
structured to  facilitate the provision of 
healthcare at the most efficient care level for 
each patient.

Capio Nordic – Sweden
1 emergency hospital
2 local hospitals
27 locations for specialist care
23 locations for psychiatric care
77 locations for primary care

Capio Nordic – Norway
6 medical centers
2 specialist clinics

Capio France
8 emergency hospitals
12 local hospitals
3 specialist clinics 

Capio Germany
5 general hospitals
4 specialist clinics
2  hospitals with rehabilitation  

and care facilities
7 outpatient clinics (MCC)

12,357 
   employees2

13,200 
   MSEK net sales

4.6 
    million patient visits1

1  Number of inpatient and outpatient visits.
2  Number of employees as full-time equivalents on average during the year.
3  In addition, there is the segment Other, which includes the UK business up until divestment in July 2014 (consolidated in the Group’s accounts 

through June 30, 2014) as well as holding companies.

A pan-European footprint



2014 in brief

Operational development

Financial development

• Capio continued to implement modern treatment methods – 
Modern Medicine – generating higher quality and productivity. 

• Strong development in shifting patient volumes from inpatient 
care to outpatient treatment in France driven by the 
implementation of Modern Medicine and Rapid Recovery.

• Capio continued to deploy a quality measurement model 
throughout the entire Group in order to systematically define, 
measure and follow up medical results and patient 
satisfaction. 

• Capio St Göran’s Hospital in Stockholm, Sweden, continued 
to improve performance in line with the tender agreement with 
Stockholm County Council.

• The proximity care platform fully integrated in Sweden 
resulting in primary care centers at 77 locations in 12 county 
councils.  

• Completion of the sale and leaseback transaction (SLB 
transaction) of seven hospital properties in France 
strengthened the balance sheet for continued growth.

January – December 2014
• Net sales MSEK 13,200 (12,420).

• Organic sales growth 4.0% (2.3) and total sales growth 6.3% 
(19.2). The organic sales growth was positive in all segments 
and was mainly related to volume as price increases were 
limited.

• Operating result (EBITDA) MSEK 1,102 (1,084) and operating 
margin 8.3% (8.7). Adjusted for the French SLB1 transaction 
and at comparable exchange rates EBITDA increased with 
MSEK 61 (5.5%).

• Operating result (EBITA) MSEK 645 (608) and operating 
margin 4.9% (4.9). Adjusted for the French SLB1 transaction 
and at comparable exchange rates EBITA increased with 
MSEK 68 (10.9%).

1 Sale and leaseback
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In the lead of Modern Medicine 
and ready for growth

Capio has provided healthcare to patients since 1994 
becoming a leading pan-European healthcare provider. 
We are driven by our values Quality, Compassion and 
Care, striving for the best achievable quality of life for 
every patient. Our offering spans a wide range of medi-
cal, surgical and psychiatric healthcare services in four 
countries through our hospitals, specialist clinics and 
primary care units. 

Capio’s medical strategy is to drive quality improvements by 
implementing new, evidence-based methods that reduce the 
physical strain of treatment, helping the patient to make a faster 
recovery (“Rapid Recovery”). This also enables shorter lengths 
of stay or even just over the day treatment, improved productiv-
ity and better use of resources for the benefit of patients, 
employees and society.

In 2014, we received 4.6 million patient visits provided by 
our more than 12,300 employees across the Group’s facilities 
in Sweden, Norway, France and Germany, generating net sales 
of MSEK 13,200.

The healthcare systems have changed
Over the past decade, Western European healthcare systems 
have evolved at an accelerating speed towards increasingly 
adopting performance based reimbursement structures, incor-
porating quality performance as a metric determining reim-
bursement, and driving structural changes to involve private 
providers in developing the healthcare system. This transition 
has been driven by the increased pressure on Western Euro-
pean countries to provide even higher efficiency including both 
the quality and volume aspects of delivery. Examples include 
the transition from per diem based to performance based 
(DRG, Diagnosis Related Groups) reimbursement (UK, Ger-
many and France), the widespread adoption of patient choice 
and the free right of establishment for private providers (Swe-
den and Norway), and removal of borne basse (France), stipu-
lating financial incentives for improving quality and productivity 
of healthcare.  

Capio has changed
After six years as a listed company, Capio was delisted from 
the Stockholm Stock Exchange in 2006. We have since cre-
ated a medical strategy to improve quality of healthcare by 
implementing new, evidence-based medical protocols and  
an empowered organization to drive implementation. 

Modern Medicine and an empowered organization are  
key elements of the Capio Model, driving quality, capacity and 
productivity. 

We have built a solid knowledge for our medical strategy in the 
Swedish healthcare system, an early adopter of DRG based 
reimbursement, which has also spearheaded the ongoing tran-
sition towards quality-based remuneration systems. Subse-
quently, we have integrated the medical strategy across our 
Norwegian and French operations and are today the leader in 
the implementation of Rapid Recovery in France. We are cur-
rently implementing the Modern Medicine strategy in Germany, 
a healthcare system that recently has started the transition 
towards increased focus on both quality and productivity per-
formance.

Healthcare in Europe
Western European healthcare can benefit from quality provid-
ers of healthcare with platforms at scale, as there is a strong 
and steadily increasing demand for healthcare services, and 
large productivity and quality differences between countries. 
Capio recognizes three main European challenges:
• Unsustainable cost development in healthcare due to grow-

ing demand, driven by an ageing population and the medical 
development with ability to treat more conditions

• A need to implement modern medicine to drive both quality 
and productivity through less invasive methods thereby facil-
itating shorter lengths of stay in hospital and transfer to day 
treatments 

• However, the historical adoption of modern medicine has 
been slow due to poor incentives in reimbursement systems 
as well as the inability of healthcare providers to modernize 
their organization and processes

These challenges allow for private healthcare providers to 
 supplement the public offering of care to drive change in the 
healthcare system. In Capio’s case, we use our pan-European 
platform to accelerate changes and improvements within and 
across our countries of operation. We share and spread best 
practice among our units.
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There are two keys to change: Recent healthcare system 
reforms and modernized organization 
Successful dissemination of Modern Medicine requires both 
healthcare systems promoting improved quality, and just as 
important, empowered healthcare organizations, with the suffi-
cient scale and geographical footprint to drive change. 

Healthcare system reforms have been implemented in most 
European countries over the past decade driven by the 
increased pressure on Western European countries to provide 
higher quality and increased productivity. These recent health-
care reforms open up the potential for best practice transfer.

The other requirement for the successful implementation of 
modern medicine is the change of traditional hierarchies in the 
organization of healthcare into decentralized organizations. 
These are based on clear responsibilities for strong local man-
agers and their teams, sufficient local expertise and authority to 
take decisions. Instrumental reporting of quality and financial 
performance on a regular basis to each and every frontline unit 
facilitates continuous change and improvement in day-to-day 
activities.

Capio is up to the challenge
With our thorough development over the last 20 years, Capio is 
well-positioned to continue to address the challenges of Euro-
pean healthcare. Medical quality and Modern Medicine are cor-
nerstones of our operational model – the Capio model and we 
have demonstrated a track record of driving quality, productiv-
ity and a stable financial development. The latter has enabled 
us to implement core investments in facilities, medical equip-
ment and employee development in order to accelerate the 
speed of change and improvement of healthcare services.   

The knowledge of Modern Medicine
Capio is a leader in adapting to the continuously evolving field 
of Modern Medicine. By transferring best practice care proto-
cols across countries, regions, and care units, we have the abil-
ity to diminish the existing differences in quality and productivity 
performance. Capio’s knowledge and experience from the sys-
tematic implementation of Modern Medicine, have enabled 
Capio to initiate and maintain constructive dialogues with sev-
eral authorities and institutions on how to drive national health-
care agendas towards quality healthcare with high productivity. 

Two examples of high-volume procedures in which Capio is 
pioneering the implementation and dissemination of Modern 
Medicine are knee and hip replacement surgery, where Capio’s 
patients already have a significantly shorter average length of 
stay (AVLOS) than the national average.  

An empowered organization
Capio has created an empowered organization to drive initia-
tives and continuous improvements, enabled by decentralized 
and local leadership with responsibility being matched with 
decision-making authority and resources, and rigorous report-
ing of quality and finances to provide managers with the right 
basis for making decisions. 

Capio’s reporting is based on quality performance indicators 
(QPIs) driving quality and key performance indicators (KPIs)  
that drive financial results. The number of reporting care units 
has increased by a factor of 10, from approximately 60 care 
units in 2006 to approximately 600 care units in 2014. This 
decentralization has been key to enabling the organization to 
drive initiatives and improvements faster through clear dele-

gation of responsibility, local allocation of resources close to  
the patient and the authority to drive change.  

A pan-European footprint
With a pan-European presence and the necessary scale and 
experience across all levels of healthcare delivery, Capio contin-
ues to drive quality and productivity across Europe, by harmo-
nizing best practices and disseminate Modern Medicine across 
countries. Our focus on implementing Modern Medicine, 
enabling Rapid Recovery of patients, while maintaining an offer-
ing tailored to the needs of the local area, presents an attractive 
proposition for patients, employees and healthcare funders.  

Experience and a proven model to drive change
Capio has the experience and a proven model to drive change. 
Examples of the Capio model in action, with one from each of 
our three largest business areas, include:

At Capio St Göran’s emergency hospital in Stockholm, the 
introduction of Modern Medicine and the optimization of patient 
flows, have led to an annual AVLOS reduction of 2–4 percent 
annually, releasing capacity to welcome more patients. During 
2010 to 2014 Capio St Göran reached directed quality indica-
tor scores in the range of 96 to 99 percent, out of 100 percent 
in the Stockholm County Council’s measurement. Patient sur-
veys show high perceived quality and employee satisfaction 
index is very high for the hospital alone and higher than other 
hospitals in the region.

Our track record of quality and savings provided to the  
public system was a key factor in the successful renewal of  
the long-term St Göran’s contract with currently more than  
10 percent lower cost than comparable hospitals in the Stock-
holm region.  

In Capio Proximity Care in Sweden, we have successfully 
increased the share of consultations performed by relevant clin-
ical staff from 46 percent in 2010 to 53 percent in 2014. The 
number of consultations has increased by approximately 15 
percent. As a result, patients have benefited from a more per-
sonalized service, while Capio Proximity Care has managed to 
drive productivity in a capitation environment. The direct costs 
per visit as a percentage of net sales have been reduced by 
approximately 4 percentage points since 2011. 

Capio France has reduced AVLOS for inpatient care and 
driven the shift from inpatients to outpatients by pioneering the 
implementation of Rapid Recovery while also improving quality 
and productivity. In uncomplicated hip and knee replacement 
surgeries, for example, in France, Capio has reduced AVLOS 
by approximately 33 percent between 2010 and 2014 (while 
the market only reduced AVLOS by 17 percent during the same 
period) and increased the share of patients discharged within 
four days from 3 percent in 2010 to over 34 percent in 2014.

Our development does not stop here
We are determined to continue the changes and improvements 
that are needed to maintain and develop the quality and pro-
ductivity of healthcare. Our starting point is the patient’s needs 
and our people are the link to good quality. In close and long 
term co-operation with funders and public providers, we make 
a difference. Capio is in the lead for Modern Medicine and 
ready for growth.

Thomas Berglund, President and CEO
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Capio’s strategy  
and development

Strategy
Capio’s strategy is based on five pillars aimed at 
 improving quality in healthcare services by leveraging 
underlying market dynamics, the Capio model, and its 
pan-European footprint. The basis for the strategy is 
 Capio’s core focus on quality through the concepts of 
Modern Medicine and Rapid Recovery, which are the  
key elements of Capio’s medical strategy.

Accelerate implementation of Modern Medicine      
to drive quality, productivity and growth 

Capio seeks to accelerate the implementation of Modern Medi-
cine to drive improved medical quality, attract new patients and 
doctors, release healthcare capacity to enable growth and 
improve productivity to enable lower cost of care for payers. 

Leverage integrated footprint to capture  
additional patient volumes

Capio aims to leverage its integrated footprint to increase 
patient referrals and capture growth within existing markets. 
This includes the integration of care processes across care lev-
els, to improve patient continuity and provide care at the right 
level (LEON) while using resources effectively.

Capture scale benefits from recent  
investments and integrate smaller add-ons

Capio seeks to capture the scale benefits from recent invest-
ments by growing patient volumes with low incremental cost 
and integrating smaller add-on units into Capio’s existing infra-
structure, for example within Capio France and Capio Nordic 
(Capio Proximity Care and Capio Specialist Clinics).

Further empower organization through clear 
accountability and reporting

Capio aims to further empower its organization to systemati-
cally drive improvements and strengthen accountability by 
building links between the quality of care and financial results. 
Capio’s strategic focus area is to further integrate QPIs (Quality 
Performance Indicators) into Capio’s comprehensive reporting 
model and management, and to link QPIs, KPIs (Key Perfor-
mance Indicators) and financial results. 

Explore strategic options when opportunities arise 
Capio seeks to further underpin long-term growth by 

exploring strategic market entries through acquisitions when 
opportunities arise. 

1

2

3

4

5
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Development 
In recent years Capio has worked to develop a medical strategy 
to improve the quality of care by implementing new, evidence-
based medical protocols and empowering its organization to 
focus on driving quality, operational productivity and growth in 
patient volumes. Modern Medicine and an empowered organi-
zation are key elements of the Capio model.

Capio has built a solid base for its medical strategy in the 
Swedish healthcare system, which was an early adopter of 
DRG (Diagnosis Related Groups) based reimbursement and 
also led the transition towards quality-based remuneration sys-
tems.  Capio has integrated its medical strategy across its Nor-
wegian and French operations and is today a leader in the 
implementation of Rapid Recovery in France. Capio is currently 
implementing its Modern Medicine strategy in Germany, whose 
healthcare system has started a transition towards increased 
focus on quality performance. 

Reflecting the Capio strategy, Capio has focused on: 
• Implementing Modern Medicine across its markets.  
• Decentralizing performance responsibility (quality and finan-

cial) throughout Capio by empowering the organization. 
• Implementing a new performance management system  

linking quality to productivity and financial results. 
• Adopting LEON (lowest efficient care level), which means 

managing patient flows to the most efficient level, and start-
ing to build patient pathways across regions and care levels. 

• Consolidating operations into larger, more specialized units, 
and so called star networks.

• Investing in real estate and facilities to enable the delivery  
of quality healthcare at high productivity and to implement 
Capio’s medical strategy.
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The European healthcare 
 market is changing 

1  Swedish Association of Local Authorities and Regions (SKL), DREES, Helsedirektoratet, Destatis (Federal Bureau of Statistics of Germany).
2  Swedish Association of Local Authorities and Regions (SKL), Helsedirektoratet, Finans Norge, DREES, Comptes de la santé, Destatis (Federal Bureau of Statistics Germany), 

 Hospital Rating Report Germany, Capio market studies.

The healthcare market
The total size of the markets in which Capio operates was 
approximately EUR 38 billion in 2013.1 Private providers still 
represent a small part of the overall market, approximately 
13 percent of the adressable market in Sweden, 24 percent 
in France, 15 percent in Germany and 6 percent in Norway 
in 2012.2 Although the various local markets have different 
proportion of private providers, growth prospects and fund-
ing conditions, there are a number of common factors 
between all of the markets in which Capio operates. Capio 
believes that these common factors create significant 
opportunities for private healthcare providers. 

Development of European healthcare systems
Over the past decade, healthcare systems in Western 
Europe have developed at a faster rate towards a more 

sophisticated environment characterized by the adoption of 
performance based reimbursement structures, which incor-
porate quality indicators as a metric determining reimburse-
ment. Simultaneously with this development, structural 
changes have been implemented to enable independent 
providers to play a larger role in driving change in the health-
care system. This transition has led to increased focus on 
productivity, incorporating both the volume and quality 
aspects of service delivery, and opened up the potential for 
best practice transfer in Western European countries. This 
trend is evidenced by the transition from per diem based to a 
DRG-based reimbursement system (Germany and France), 
the adoption of free healthcare choice (the Nordic countries) 
and removal of so called borne basse thresholds (France).

Capio operates within the market for private 
provision of mainly publicly funded healthcare  
in Sweden, Norway, France and Germany. 
 Capio’s services include emergency hospital 
care, acute and elective (planned) local hospital 
care, specialist care and primary care.
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Trend: The demographic squeeze drives increasing  
needs and costs of healthcare

Capio can identify three main drivers of the growing demand for 
healthcare and associated costs. Firstly, the share of the popu-
lation in the 60+ age bracket is increasing disproportionately, 
as the post-war baby-boomer generation ages. The proportion 
of the EU population over 60 years is expected to increase to 
29 percent in 2050 from 15 percent in 1960. Secondly, overall 
medical progress and the ability to manage illness have 
resulted in an overall increased life expectancy. Thirdly, the 
spectrum of illness has shifted towards managing chronic con-
ditions (such as diabetes, obesity or cardiovascular disease) 
over longer periods of time. 

While the population structure develops towards a larger 
share being elderly and while healthcare expenditure is increas-
ing, the share of working people financing healthcare is 
expected to decrease, resulting in constrained public health-
care budgets. The share of the working population is expected 
to decrease at a CAGR (Compound Annual Growth Rate) of 
approximately 0.4 percentage points from 2010 to 2050,1 
which, in turn, can be expected to reduce the funding available 
for healthcare and increase the need for healthcare providers to 
provide more efficient services at lower costs. Within OECD, the 
average healthcare expenditure as a percentage of GDP has 
increased from 7.7 percent in 2000 to 9.2 percent in 2012.2

Western Europe has started to respond to this challenge, with 
each country starting at different points and times, but all striv-
ing in the same direction. The Nordic countries were among the 
first countries to promote the adoption of modern  medicine; 
evidence based methods that allow certain conditions, which 
only a few years ago would have required major operations, to 
be treated today by a simple procedure or medication alone. 
For example, Sweden introduced the DRG (Diagnosis Related 
Groups) system in 1995; but it was only introduced in France 
in 2005. All of Capio’s markets are now focused on consoli-
dation, performance based remuneration and the capturing 
of scale synergies, for example from vertical integration or col-
laboration across care units. In the Nordic region, Capio has 
 successfully reduced the length of stay of patients in hospitals 
(AVLOS) before they can return to daily life, shifted large num-
bers of inpatients to outpatient care, and increased volumes via 
the system’s continued adoption of LEON (lowest efficient care 
level) to provide healthcare at the right level of care delivery, 
and specialization. Capio can see that France and Germany 
present significant opportunities for similar improvement, and 
Capio believes that it is well positioned to benefit from these 
 opportunities.

80+
75–79
70–74
65–69
60–64
55–59
50–54
45–49
40–44
35–39
30–34
25–29
20–24
15–19
10–14
5–9
0–4

15%

1960 2010 2050

19% 29%

Women Men

Population pyramid, EU, 1960–2050 
The population structure develops towards a larger share being elderly  

Total expenditure on healthcare as share of GDP, 
OECD, 1960–2030

Key trends 
In order to meet the changing healthcare demand, healthcare 
systems have needed to develop new delivery models and 
improve the quality and productivity of healthcare. For example, 
the focus on providing quality healthcare at the most efficient 
care delivery level has resulted in a significant shift from higher-
cost inpatient to lower-cost outpatient care. Healthcare provid-
ers must drive internal quality and productivity improvements 

while also as ensuring that patients are treated at the right level 
of care and manage a well-functioning cooperation between 
levels of care. Greater specialization, new treatment methods, 
new medical techniques, and the ability to treat patients at the 
right care delivery level, can drive both higher quality outcomes 
and shorter lengths of stay.

*  Future development projected in line with historic OECD average 
CAGR from 2002 to 2012. 

Source: OECD Health Data 2014

1 World Bank.
2 OECD Health Data 2014.

Source: World Bank

The proportion of the EU population above 
60 years is expected to increase to 29 
percent in 2050 from 15 percent in 1960.
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The effect of introducing care choice in Stockholm  
for hip and knee replacements

Source: Report about care choice for hip and knee replacement in Stockholm, Medical 
Management Center, Karolinska Institutet, Institute for Strategy and Competitiveness 
Harvard Business School, Svenska Höftprotesregistret (2 March 2012).

2 Trend: Private providers are increasingly part of the solution  
to provide quality healthcare at high productivity

While the share of private healthcare provision varies in different 
markets, in recent years, Western European healthcare sys-
tems have evolved, providing a favorable outlook for private 
providers. Capio experiences that the key market trends have 
created opportunities for private healthcare providers, as they 
have historically been better able to adapt to the changing envi-
ronment. In view of the increasing demand for healthcare ser-
vices and increasing pressure on healthcare budgets, private 
providers are seen by governments as part of the solution to 
relieve the pressure from an increase in healthcare expenditure. 
This is due to their perceived high quality and high productivity 
offering, which is increasingly attractive to both payers and 
patients, who also benefit from reduced waiting times. For 
example, in Stockholm, the share of patients waiting more than 
90 days for hip or knee procedures fell from 16 percent in 2010 
to 3 percent in 2014,3 which could be linked to an increase in 
private provision. 

Private providers still represent a small part of the overall 
market at approximately 13 percent of the addressable market 
in Sweden, 24 percent in France, 15 percent in Germany and 6 
percent in Norway, in 2012.4 There are generally two primary 

means by which the public system can shift volumes to private 
providers: tendered contracts and the implementation of free 
patient choice, with the latter being expected by Capio to con-
tinue or to become more prevalent in the Group’s markets. 
Going forward, the share of healthcare services provided by pri-
vate providers in Europe is expected by Capio to increase with 
the following potential benefits to national healthcare systems 
and private providers: 

• Lower unit price: Private providers offer a lower unit price 
for healthcare based on the combination of contracts 
awarded through competitive bidding and centrally-deter-
mined patient choice reimbursement levels. Healthcare sys-
tems are expected to increase the volumes shifted to private 
providers, as private providers are well positioned to provide 
quality healthcare at a high productivity and at a lower cost 
than public providers. For example, introducing care choice 
in Stockholm for hip and knee replacements has resulted in 
a 17 percent decrease in cost per procedure between 2008 
and 2011, see graph below.

3 Swedish Association of Local Authorities and Regions (SKL) (Väntetider i vården).
4  Swedish Association of Local Authorities and Regions (SKL), Helsedirektoratet, Finans Norge, DREES, Comptes de la santé, Destatis (Federal Bureau of Statistics Germany),  

Hospital Rating Report  Germany, Capio market studies.

Number of surgical 
procedures

Cost per surgical 
procedures (SEK)

Net cost (MSEK)

+16% p.a. –17% p.a. –4% p.a.

CAPIO HOLDING AB ANNUAL REPORT 20148

Healthcare in Europe 



• Leveraging patient involvement: The implementation of 
patient choice creates an incentive for providers to improve 
quality (such as encouraging an improved quality/value 
offering or shorter waiting times). This creates an opportu-
nity for private providers to attract elective (planned) vol-
umes by developing competitive quality and value offerings.

• Explicitly connecting reimbursement to quality: The 
implementation of management systems and incentives for 
both quality and the adoption of evidence-based treat-
ments, including changes to reimbursement models in order 
to not discourage shorter AVLOS and ambulatory surgeries, 
are expected by Capio to lead to reimbursement levels for 
private providers that better reflect the quality provided. For 
example, the French government has removed the so called 
borne basse for certain procedures, a system in France with 
minimum required lengths of stays for patients in hospital in 
order for the provider to receive full reimbursement. This 

means that reimbursement levels better reflect the quality  
of care provided, and improve the transparency of actual 
quality delivered across providers.

• Increased co-payments: Potential limitations to the public 
offering of healthcare due to longer waiting times are 
expected to stimulate an increase in privately financed 
healthcare, such as private health insurance and out-of-
pocket expenditure, thereby affording private providers the 
opportunity to expand service offerings.

• Co-investments in capacity: The use of public-private 
partnerships, and the shift of specific volumes of healthcare 
for which public providers lack capacity and private provid-
ers hold excess capacity, benefit both the public system  
and private providers as the public system is expected to 
improve its access to “free capacity” while private providers 
are expected to gain access to additional patient volumes.
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Trend: Reduced average length of stay (AVLOS) from improved quality  
of care increases productivity

New treatment methods, new medical techniques and proto-
cols that allow patients to be treated with these methods and 
techniques and at the right level of care delivery, all support 
improved quality of care. This results in more rapid recovery for 
patients and shorter average length of stay (AVLOS).

Historically, two barriers have inhibited the historical adop-
tion of modern medicine: the inability of healthcare providers to 
implement best-practices; and poor incentives under health-
care reimbursement systems.

Research has indicated that the time lag from when best-
practice is proven to when it is implemented may amount to up 
to 17 years. The poor ability of healthcare providers to evolve 
and reap the potential of modern medicine, derives, in part, 
from an organizational structure of healthcare providers influ-
enced by a traditional split between “the profession” and “the 
administration”, with limited incentives for the organization as a 
whole to drive initiatives and improvements. 

In addition, European healthcare systems have historically 
reimbursed healthcare on a per diem basis in certain countries. 
For example both France and Germany have had thresholds for 
minimum required lengths of stays for patients in a hospital in 
order for the provider to receive full reimbursement, in France 
called borne basse thresholds and untere grenzverweildauer 
(“UGVD”) in Germany. These reimbursement systems have 
provided poor incentives for healthcare providers to drive qual-
ity and productivity improvements.

The slow adoption of modern medicine and timing differences 
in the implementation of performance based reimbursement, 
have resulted in an unbalanced adoption of modern medicine 
and large performance differences across countries. For exam-
ple, there is significant variation in the AVLOS in Germany, 
France and Sweden, respectively, for the treatment of acute 
myocardial infarction and acute appendicitis, as well as for sur-
gery and treatment in connection with knee or hip replacement. 
The AVLOS for acute appendicitis, for example, was 4.3 days 
in Germany, while the equivalent AVLOS was 4.2 days in 
France and 2.5 days in Sweden in 2013. For hip and knee 
replacement operations, the AVLOS in Sweden was approxi-
mately 50 to 65 percent shorter than in France and Germany in 
2013.5

These trends create opportunities for pan-European health-
care providers to implement best practices across markets by 
transferring knowledge and experience between units and 
countries, thereby gradually decreasing the differences in the 
quality of care. In addition, AVLOS reduction reduces personnel 
and other direct costs, as well as frees up capacity for new 
patient volumes. Continued implementation of Modern Medi-
cine will improve medical results and reduce AVLOS.

Trend: Shift from inpatient to outpatient care driven by  
implementation of modern medicine 

Technological improvements in healthcare result have resulted 
in both increased life expectancy and an increased number of 
treatment methods available to patients. As modern treatment 
methods are developed, the need for inpatient care is generally 
reduced. As AVLOS for inpatients decreases and the share of 
outpatient treatments increases, more resources are made 
available for other activities, so that more patients can receive 
healthcare at the same cost. The share of outpatient care for 
certain treatment areas varies considerably among European 

countries. In France, for example, the share of costs related to 
outpatients has increased from 32 percent in 2007 to 37 
 percent in 2012. During 2012, the corresponding share was 51 
percent in Germany and 59 percent in Sweden.6 In France, this 
trend is expected to continue, with positive effects on medical 
quality and productivity.

5 The Swedish National Board of Health and Welfare, Helsedirektoratet, ATIH, Federal Statistical Office’s DRG Browser.
6  OECD health statistics 2013.
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6 Trend: Concentration of volumes to “centers of excellence”  
to further drive quality and productivity improvements

Increased specialization increases quality and productivity, 
since greater specialization increases the expertise of doctors 
and other medical staff, enabling them to develop and maintain 
their core competences. Developed healthcare systems are, 
therefore, seeking to concentrate volumes at levels where the 
number of procedures, treatments and interventions per doctor 
or medical team are sufficiently high to achieve quality and pro-
ductivity gains. The development of increased specialization is 
in line with the shift from inpatient care to outpatient care and 
the adoption of the LEON (lowest efficient care level) principle, 

and ultimately enables the provision of quality care to more 
patients for the same cost.

In most developed healthcare systems, this trend can be 
seen in the development of “centers of excellence”. In Sweden, 
the breast center at Capio St Göran’s Hospital is an example of 
a specialist inpatient center of excellence, while Capio Artro 
Clinic, which has developed expertise in laparoscopic surgery 
within orthopedic treatment, is an example of a specialist out-
patient center of excellence.

Trend: Improved efficiency of healthcare systems by shifting  
volumes to the most efficient care level (“the LEON principle”)

The ability to manage patient flows to the right treatment at the 
right care delivery level will be important in addressing the bott-
lenecks and cost pressure in European healthcare systems.

By providing quality healthcare with high productivity, at the 
right level of care delivery while integrating care across the dif-
ferent levels of the healthcare system and building patient path-
ways, the cost of care can be lowered while ensuring consistent 
or improved quality. Allowing the patient to be the basis for the 
healthcare structure not only ensures that the patient receives 
comprehensive care at the right level, but also that resources 

are used in the best possible way. One consequence of this 
viewpoint is that there is greater focus on outpatient care, seen 
from the patient’s perspective. This new viewpoint also means 
that substantial patient flows can in future be redirected from 
inpatient to outpatient care, where there are good opportunities 
for greater specialization and treatment of more patients to a 
high quality standard, as well as cost efficiency. An example of 
this is providing a patient with the right treatment at the primary 
care unit level, rather than requiring a patient to seek treatment 
at a local hospital.

Complexity

Capio today
Volume

Healthcare providers must offer
1. Internal efficiency
2. Right level of healthcare
3. Well-functioning cooperation 
    between levels

Emergency
hospital

Local 
hospital

Specialist 
clinic

Primary care 
unit

University 
hospital

Development logic
• Quality increases with greater
   specialisation and higher volumes
• The cost of the same treatment 
   decreases at lower care levels

3

3

2

3

2

3

2

3

2

1

Source: Company information
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The Capio model –  
The parts make up the whole

How we do it
Capio’s culture is based on our core values: Quality, 
 Compassion and Care. 

We seek to achieve medical care of good quality via 
four cornerstones, or methods: Modern Medicine, Good 
information, Kind treatment, and a Nice environment and 
adequate equipment. 

To enhance and reinforce the four cornerstones, 
employees with the right skills are required, as well as a 
culture that promotes continuous, systematic improve-
ments. We create these conditions with the help of our 
tried and tested organization model, which consists of 
four important, interrelated elements.

What we aim  
to achieve
Our work has one single purpose – to provide good care 
of high quality to our patients whenever it is required. Our 
objective is to make care available when the patients need 
it, so that they feel secure and well-informed about what is 
to take place at various stages of their treatment. We also 
work to introduce more effective treatment methods that 
are less invasive for the patients, promoting their recovery, 
so that they can return more quickly to a life that is as nor-
mal as possible. Via this focus, our supreme ambition is to 
achieve the best achievable quality of life for every patient.

The result – Good  
healthcare for more people
Our methodical approach to our work means that we are 
constantly developing. Quality increases, with better treat-
ment results and less care-related injuries. Quality in turn 
 drives higher productivity. This increases the benefit to 
patients and to society, as the money can be spent on 
good healthcare for a larger number of patients.

The elements of the Capio model work together to create continuity for the benefit of patients and society.
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The 
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Modern 
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Quality Compassion Care
Quality Compassion Care
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Create an 
organization for 
continuous initiatives 
and improvementsContinuous 

development builds 
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Mirror operations 
in simple and 

clear reportingTraining and internal 
recruitment build 

expertise and 
continuity

The 
practice
People  
make the  
difference

The vision, and the objective of all of Capio’s operations, is to ensure 
the best achievable quality of life for every patient. Capio’s mission is  
to cure, relieve and comfort anyone seeking medical care from Capio. 
To deliver on this patient promise, Capio has developed a medical 
strategy and an operating model – the Capio model.

CAPIO HOLDING AB ANNUAL REPORT 2014 13

 The Capio model



The values

The foundation  
of our activities
When we require medical care, we are vulnerable and perhaps 
helpless, or at least in need of assistance. We may also have  
a limited insight and knowledge of our illness and how best  
to treat it. This places a heavy burden of responsibility on the 
healthcare service and its staff, far beyond the responsibility 

that applies to many other activities and situations in life. The 
foundation for Capio’s activities is three core values to manage 
this responsibility and to achieve the best achievable quality of 
life for every patient.

Our top priority is medical quality – 
on which we never compromise. 
We must remember that what may 
be routine for healthcare staff is 
often a unique experience for 
patients. This is why the highest 
medical quality on its own is not 
enough. We must also show com-
passion and care, which are our 
other two core values.

Today many medical advances are 
made via technically sophisticated 
methods. This is important for 
medical results, although the 
human aspect of healthcare can 
never be replaced by medical 
drugs or machines. Compassion 
and understanding the fears and 
vulnerabilities of our patients are 
therefore just as important to how 
patients experience medical care.

Our understanding of the patient’s 
situation enables us to show care 
for both major concerns and minor 
queries. Caring for patients, of 
course, but also taking the care to 
do our everyday work well in rela-
tion to both our colleagues and 
Capio. We know that each and 
every one of us makes a difference 
and that each of us is needed for 
the team to function.

Quality Compassion Care
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The method

Quality based on  
four cornerstones
The patient is our first priority. We wish to continuously develop 
our ability to cure, relieve and comfort – and the better we are at 
giving high-quality care, the more we can help, at the same 
cost to society. 

In other words, quality drives productivity, enabling us to 
give good healthcare to more patients. 

When we summarize healthcare quality there are four areas 
of particular importance: Modern Medicine, Good information, 
Kind treatment, and Nice environment and adequate equip-
ment. Together they provide a stable basis for good healthcare. 

The four cornerstones work together
In order to offer our patients the best achievable quality of life, 
we never compromise on the quality of medical care. This does 
not mean that we can fail in the other three areas. On the con-
trary: good information and kind treatment ensure that patients 
can feel secure, and recuperate and recover more quickly. In 
the same way, well-functioning premises and the right equip-
ment help to increase the quality of medical care. Together they 
help to improve patients’ quality of life. We  therefore work to 
increase the levels of all of these dimensions at the same time. 
This is a continuing task that is never completed. 

Modern Medicine
Medical methods are undergoing constant development. 
Conditions that just a few years ago required major oper-
ations may today need just a simple procedure, or can be 
treated with medication alone. It is important to stay 
ahead of new medical developments and to have an 
organization that can take medical achievements on 
board quickly, while still maintaining quality standards.

Good information
A well-informed patient is a confident patient who will 
make a faster recovery. Correct information on diagnosis, 
treatment and progress is very important. It is just as vital 
to show patients how they can facilitate and speed up 
their own recovery, once treatment has been completed.

Kind treatment
We all wish to be treated kindly. This is particularly true of 
patients who are anxious about their illness and what is 
going to happen to them. It is vital to remember that what 
is routine for us may be new for our patients. We need 
to see things from their perspective and show our com-
passion and care. These are important ingredients in 
the recipe for a sound recovery.

Nice environment and 
adequate equipment
Our core ambitions are reflected in our external envir on-
ment. Nice, modern and inviting premises create a posi-
tive environment and help to reduce treatment times. 
Research has shown that a comfortable environment 
makes people feel better, both physically and mentally. In 
step with medical progress, healthcare’s “machine park” 
in terms of equipment and IT systems must also be 
renewed and further developed.
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The practice

People make the difference

The knowledge of both each individual and the overall team is 
essential to uncompromising quality. Professionalism, too, has 
a key role to play, and requires an envir onment and culture that 
allow both the team and its members to take responsibility, 
exercise authority and use resources. This is why our organiza-
tion is built around our patients, and the teams that take care of 
them. The rest of the organization is simply an additional struc-
ture dedicated to giving the team and its members the support 
they need to take care of our patients.

Our organization is thus built on a sound foundation of decen-
tralized responsibility whereby the staff who work with patients 
drive our ongoing development. This enables us to continu-
ously refine our healthcare processes, thereby enhancing the 
quality of life of our patients. Our way of organizing healthcare is 
summarized in the chart above.

Quality 
drives 

productivity

4

1

3

2

Create an 
organization for 
continuous initiatives 
and improvementsContinuous 

development builds 
medical excellence

Mirror operations 
in simple and 

clear reportingTraining and internal 
recruitment build 

expertise and 
continuity

With the Capio model, we wish to contribute to the renewal of healthcare and to giving more patients 
access to healthcare of higher quality. 
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2   
  Mirror operations in simple and clear  
reporting of quality and economy

We want to create a culture of continuous quality improve-
ment in each care unit. This requires a sound overview of 
how much care we are expected to provide in a given 
period of time. This is what we refer to as our production. 
The number of outpatients, the number of hospital admis-
sions, and the number of surgical procedures, are all 
examples of key figures. 

By productivity we mean how well we provide healthcare, 
so that our patients recover more quickly, allowing us to give 
the same good care to more patients. Average length of stay 
(AVLOS), ward utilization, theatre utilization and number of 
outpatients per place, are all key figures used to measure 
productivity. We must also have the right number of beds, 
operating theatres, staff and skills. We use these key figures 
to map our resources, which are also our costs.

Our internal income statement and our systematic qual-
ity measurements are important steering instruments for 
managers at all levels within the organization. Together 
with the key figures, they are used to analyze and steer  
the organization in the right direction, both medically and 
 financially. This frees up funds and resources to make  
further investments in productive healthcare to an even 
higher quality standard. For information on systematic 
quality measurements see pages 18 – 21.

1     
Create an organization for continuous  
initiatives and improvements

Everything we do is patient-driven. This is why our organi-
zation is built from the bottom up. Focusing on our patients 
means that we do not wait for orders, but take the initiative. 
Our  culture entails that our front-line staff take the initiative 
and the responsibility for implementing improvements. This 
staff consists of the doctors, nurses and all other staff that 
meet the patients in our close to 600 care units. They know 
best which improvements should be made in their particu-
lar units.

Each care unit is headed by a manager who has clear 
authority and responsibility for achieving the objectives that 
have been set. This allows us to utilize the knowledge of 
our unit managers in the best possible way, while giving 
staff the opportunity to grow and see how their own know-
ledge and initiative can make a difference. This increases 
both quality and productivity. In this way we become even 
better at curing, relieving and comforting more patients.

We know that the Capio model works when staff feel 
empowered and are convinced that they can influence 
their own work situation and create more value for patients 
on a systematic basis. 

3   
 
 
 Training and internal recruitment  
build expertise and continuity 

We believe in people, and we wish to see each other grow 
in a decentralized organization where individuals can gain 
new insights and opportunities to influence the healthcare 
they  provide, as well as their own personal development. 
This builds expertise and continuity. 

We attach great weight to training in new medical treat-
ment methods and improving our personal interaction with 
patients even further, and set targets for each area.

The close to 350 managers in our healthcare organiza-
tion are all an important part of this process. All managers, 
at all levels, must receive the support and training they 
need to enable both themselves and their teams to grow. 
Most of our recruitment takes place within the organiza-
tion, and most of our managers are nurses or doctors.  
The majority of man agers are recruited from within our own 
organization. 

We share useful knowledge, as this increases quality 
and benefits our patients. It is natural for the staff of a 
department to pool their knowledge, but we take this  
further by sharing knowledge between different units and 
countries. In this way we can rapidly implement effective 
new medical treatment methods at additional locations 
and in more contexts.

4   
 Continuous development  
builds medical excellence

Our organization, which is based on the delegation of 
responsibility and authority to staff in the front line, key  
figures that are easy to understand and which mirror our 
operations, and deliberate focus on internal training and 
internal career paths, is gradually building a more and more 
detailed knowledge base. This knowledge is driving the 
organization towards even greater specialization and the 
introduction of new treatment methods that match the 
general medical development. 

We are also developing methods and programs of  
our own in order to enhance the quality of our care. This 
requires the courage to question traditional healthcare 
practices. One example is the abolition of the traditional 
ward rounds. Our constant aim is to pass on specialist 
skills throughout the organization, so that more patients 
can benefit from them. 

The design of our properties and premises has a great 
impact on the quality of our care. Our equipment must be 
the most suitable choice for every initiative. Many of the 
surgical procedures that previously required patients to 
remain in hospital for several days can now be carried out 
far more quickly, thanks to modern processes, methods 
and equipment, and patients can sometimes go home just 
a few hours later.
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Measuring and assessing quality
As a patient, we always assume that we get the best possible 
treatment when we need healthcare, which we do, in the sense 
that every healthcare facility strives to do the best it can. The 
requirement for simple and open comparison of healthcare 
results already exists in Europe, to varying degrees, and will be 
expanded in the future. This positive development is in the 
interest of the patients and can in itself lead to better healthcare 
quality. Quality must be reported on a systematic basis in order 
to be worthwhile. For each treatment, the most relevant out-
comes should be pinpointed, in order to assess the value of the 
treatment for the patient. Capio divides the outcomes into three 
main groups: the clinical reported outcome (CROM), the patient 

reported outcome (PROM), and the patient reported experi-
ence (PREM), see the figure below. Examples of clinical 
reported outcomes are the frequency of complications, the 
time to recover after the procedure and the measurable control 
of the disease, while improvements in function and quality of life 
after treatment are examples of patient reported outcomes. 
How care is experienced ultimately depends on the medical 
outcome and how much pain, discomfort and tiredness the 
treatment causes, but is also to a great extent affected by how 
we provide information and our kind treatment. The care envi-
ronment also has an impact. It must be possible to measure 
each of the three main groups of outcomes. These measure-
ments are called Quality Performance Indicators (QPIs).

Quality work –  
the engine driving Capio

1 CROM = Clinical Reported Outcome Measurements. 
2 PROM = Patient Reported Outcome Measurements. 
3 PREM = Patient Reported Experience Measurements. 
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Continuous quality work leads to improvements
Our results do not improve automatically. Improvements 
require determined, systematic initiatives. Our continuous 
improvement work entails developing our care processes so  
as to improve results. By understanding the care process and 
its significance to the results, we can focus on the most urgent 
needs for improvement. It is also important to set up measur-
able goals, process targets, for the day-to-day work, in order  
to follow up on whether the care processes are developing in 
accordance with our targets. This is all summarized in a quality 
plan, or quality budget. A quality plan includes concrete activi-
ties to improve working methods that we consider significant 
for the quality indicators we wish to influence. These activities 
must be measurable, with allocated resources, and for each 
activity there must be a person responsible for achieving the 
improvement within a stated time. 

Quality based on four cornerstones
Quality has many aspects. Capio focuses on four areas that we 
believe are most important for the patients – Modern Medicine, 
Good information, Kind treatment and a Nice environment and 
adequate equipment. We call these the four cornerstones of 
quality. They may seem to be obvious – everyone practices 
modern medicine, keeps patients well-informed, treats every-
one kindly and has good premises and the right equipment. 
However, a closer study reveals many areas that can be 
improved. Capio is active in several countries with different 
medical traditions, cultures and regulations, yet they all share  
in common that there is scope for improvement within all four 
quality cornerstones, in all countries and activities. This applies 
regardless of how far the unit in question has progressed with 
its quality work. Quality is not a final destination, but a journey 
towards the goal of continuous improvement for the patients. 

Systematic quality work increases effectiveness 
Plans are necessary, but will not make a difference unless they 
are implemented. Regular follow-up on the quality plan is there-
fore part of the normal business follow-up routines. Once the 
plan is successfully implemented, we expect the quality indica-
tors to show that our quality has also improved. This is mea-
sured by regular Quality Performance Indicators (QPIs). 

This method of working is thus a cyclical process that takes 
place on a continuous basis. Quality work is the engine that 
drives Capio, ensuring that our patients receive the right, safe 
care, make a speedy recovery after treatment and experience 
security and expertise whenever they are in contact with us. In 
turn, this ensures that our work is effective, and also ensures 
confidence in us as a healthcare provider. 

As a rule, our undertakings to the authorities include quality tar-
gets, usually formulated as process targets, which are targets 
for patients’ treatment, time frames, and so on. This is naturally 
worthwhile, yet we now wish to move forward and perform 
quality work more systematically, with even better treatment 
outcomes for patients. We call this working instrumentally with 
quality.

This implies systematic quality work that is focused on con-
tinuous improvement in results, in terms of fewer complications 
and faster recovery after treatment. Fewer complications and 
faster recovery naturally also ensure increased effectiveness. 
We measure our effectiveness by Key Performance Indicators 
(KPIs). We have KPIs for how much care we produce and the 
resources we require to provide care. The ratio between these, 
i.e. our productivity, or utilization of resources, is fundamentally 
determined by the quality of care. 

Quality as an element of our corporate culture
Systematic quality work, as described here, is becoming part  
of Capio’s corporate culture and is continuously integrated into 
our normal working processes. The entire line organization 
must be engaged in and represent our quality culture. A com-
mon language and measurement methods merely provide the 
underlying structure. Filling out this structure with the right con-
tent and having the dedication to achieve change requires 
competent and motivated employees at all levels. These condi-
tions are determined by the second half of the Capio model, 
which is how we organize and manage our units. 
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Surgical interventions have a temporarily negative 
impact on us. Our bodies respond to the trauma with 
inflammation causing pain, fever and fatigue. Treating 
pain with morphine often adds side effects such as dizzi-
ness, or even confusion, and often nausea. Postponed 
nutrition, either because the protocol says so or due to 
the problems listed above, adds weakness and slow 
healing of wounds. As a result of all of these factors, 
mobilization after surgery is delayed which per se 
increases the risk of complications such as thrombosis. 
Add anxiety to this and you have a traditional slow post-
operative recovery. Does it really have to be like this?1

Quality work according to the Capio model
In Capio France a systematic quality work according to the 
Capio model has been implemented with the aim to improve 
recovery of patients after surgical interventions. The clinical 
reported outcome measurement (CROM) is used for assessing 
the recovery after surgery. This is as well reflected in the average 
length of stay (AVLOS), for patients after a specific intervention.

A quality plan was created based on published medical evi-
dence but also factors such as information/training of patients 
and their relatives. The entire plan consists of approximately 45 
parameters along the patient journey, covering both clinical 
techniques and organizational processes prior to admission 
and up to postop follow-up after discharge. Preparing the 
patient, giving full insight into the treatment and postoperative 
course of the patient is very important. So is the implementa-
tion of Modern Medicine techniques to prevent any undesired 

response to the surgical trauma such as inflammation with 
pain, etc. Avoiding unnecessary catheters and drains also facil-
itates early mobilization.

Capio RRAC label
The medical team around the patient is responsible for the 
implementation of the quality plan while the management fol-
lows up of the plan via an audit as an integrated part of the 
budget process and a follow-up measurement takes place 
every three months. Each parameter of the plan is evaluated as 
not yet implemented, partly or fully implemented and new tar-
gets are then set for the coming year. The extent of the imple-
mentation can be presented as percentage of full implementa-
tion. The teams are rewarded with a Capio RRAC label (RRAC 
is Recuperation Rapide Apres Chirurgie in French meaning 
rapid recovery after surgery) on achieving 80 percent of full 
implementation of the quality plan.

Capio Clinique Sainte Odile, Haguenau 
Since 2010, 14 teams have been awarded a RRAC label. 
Another four teams have started the implementation. The first 
team to be awarded was the orthopedic team of Capio  Clinique 
Sainte Odile in Haguenau for their total knee replacement (TKR) 
quality plan. The outcome for patients has improved signifi-
cantly over time, as illustrated in the figure below. Their quality 
plan was formulated in 2011 and the team was awarded RRAC 
label 2012. Since then the protocols have been fine-tuned and 
the quality still continues to improve.

Systematic quality work  
in Capio France
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At Capio Clinique Sainte Odile the average length of stay after total knee replace-
ment surgery was reduced from 6.8 days in 2010 to 2.9 days in H2 2014. In  
parallel the number of surgeries performed as outpatient surgery has gone from 
zero percent in 2010 to 33 percent in H2 2014.

Outcome of improvement of Total Knee Replacement 
(TKR) in Capio Clinique Sainte Odile

1  A Danish surgeon, Professor Henrik Kehlet (Head of Section of Surgical Pathophysiology at Rigshospitalet Copenhagen) thought otherwise. He, among others, has made major 
contributions to the understanding of factors behind the response to surgical trauma and how to reduce the negative consequences and enhance recovery. 
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How are the teams formed and the roles of the quality 
work distributed? 
– There are two teams involved in the process; the medical 
team takes care of the patient and registers the data. The other 
team works at the headquarters and is evaluating the data at a 
group level. These two teams work together very closely. The 
medical team consists of 5–20 staff depending on the the area 
of specialization. The team is multidisciplinary and the mem-
bers are doctors, nurses, surgeons, anesthesiologists and 
physiotherapists. At every clinic there is a local support and 
expert, called a referent who is coordinating each team. The 
referent meets the teams regularly to measure the daily work 
and what can be improved ahead. The referent role is often 
held by a nurse.  

There is a network for all local referents covering each area 
of specialization. They work closely together and meet each 
other as often as possible. They are provided training and sup-
port at the headquarters.

How has this way of working been received by the 
employees?
– They are very fond of it. The selected teams have a positive 
mindset and they like to work according to protocol and contin-
uous development, in other word Modern Medicine! At the 
beginning it was a real challenge because they all wanted to 
work the way they always had done. Now however, working 
according to protocols is very welcomed and also, the level  
of high quality that this way of working generates make it very 
appreciated. The patients are very satisfied and the staff are 
proud of their work. 

Is there a specific element of the working process that 
has been more difficult for the teams to adjust to? 
 Specific challenges? 
– Technically there is no problem. The challenges were and still 
are psychological. There are always those who not welcome 
new ways of working. They may have been working in their 
own way for many years, whether they are doctors or nurses. 
When doctors and anesthesiologists are self- employed we 
cannot demand, only seek to convince that this is the right way 
of working with modern medicine. We do this by showing them 
the data. Depending on their mindset we show hard data, ”the 
what”, or soft data “the how”.

Do you work on refining the process in any way?
– It is a continuous process. Our quality plan consists of 
approximately 45 parameters that each team will implement. 
When new science within the area is presented, new parame-
ters are added to the quality plan. The addition of new parame-
ters is preceded by a discussion with the referents. 

The quality plan is updated regularly but not too often. Each 
version must be implemented before the update and it is impor-
tant to find the right frequency. The plan is used as a compass 
to lead the development forward and is seen as a translation of 
the Capio model. It is also used as a work tool on a weekly 
basis for the teams to prioritize action plans. 

How do you work on spreading the results and the way  
of working between clinics? 
– We are working on spreading the results both internally, 
within the clinic but also nationally within Capio. We try to meet 
as often as possible to compare results. These meetings are 
really inspirational and of benefit to the entire organization. 

We also use the results during recruitment. Many young 
healthcare professionals are attracted to this kind of working 
method. We work with Modern Medicine! This is quite unusual 
in the healthcare labor market today. So we use our advantage 
as a communication tool. 

Can you give an example of what the other teams with 
the RRAC label (except Sainte Odile) have done?
– All of our areas of specialization are involved. In addition to 
knee and hip replacement, there are also teams within diges-
tive, backbone, gynecology, bariatric and urology working with 
this method. This year numerous teams await the RRAC label.  

Francois Demesmay, Medical Director of business area Capio France and  
in charge of the team who follow up on the quality project.
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Clear and transparent financial 
follow-up and control, to ensure 
the best possible healthcare  

Capio’s financial model helps to create an under- 
standing of good healthcare and high quality
Capio’s financial model is based on the relationship between 
quality, productivity and financial results. Focused quality work 
is part of Capio’s corporate culture and is integrated into its 
normal day-to-day working processes. Focusing on high qual-
ity also generates improved productivity. 

The starting point of the financial model is that with a certain 
known production of care, which determines the sales, and 
with a targeted productivity the need for resources can be 
determined. The required resources in turn leads to the direct 
costs of the care produced.

A commonly used productivity measurement in inpatient 
care is AVLOS (average length of stay). By introducing new 
methods such as arthroscopy in healthcare (an example of less 
invasive methods of surgery) the length of the hospital stay can 
be shortened and in most cases the arthroscopy can be per-
formed as a day surgery. Shorter AVLOS generates increased 
productivity, as more patients can be treated with the same 
amount of resources. Thus good healthcare with high quality 
can be provided to more patients.

Capio’s internal financial reports provide information on the 
healthcare produced by each unit, and the resources used to 
achieve this. Combined, production and productivity relate to 
the resources used in the production of healthcare. Thus, pro-
ductivity is also a measure of how efficiently both human and 
physical resources are used in the production of healthcare. 
The financial model’s non-financial key figures, or KPIs (Key 
Performance Indicators), are used to measure production, 
resources and productivity. 

Capio’s income statement is functionally based and reflects 
the organization’s direct and indirect costs (for more informa-
tion see page 46). The financial model, accordingly, measures 
financial results as well as contributes to increased insights of 
how the operating factors impact the financial result. Thereby 
the model contributes to a deeper understanding of the finan-

Capio’s financial model is based on the interaction between quality, productivity and financial 
results, and helps to create an understanding of the basis for good healthcare and high quality. 
Accurate, relevant and timely financial reporting provides more time for analysis, decisions and 
actions. This enables Capio to continuously refine its healthcare processes, enabling improved 
quality for more patients and an efficient use of resources.

Olof Bengtsson, CFO, Capio.

“With a clear and simple model we can 
understand the reasons behind the 
development in the operation and the 
measures that need to be taken to 
achieve improvements that can ensure 
the best possible care for each patient.”
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Capio’s financial model
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Capio’s financial model is based on the interaction between 
quality, productivity and financial results, and creates an 
understanding of the basis for good healthcare and high quality. 
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cial results and to a greater understanding of how good health-
care and quality are created. The model is therefore key to 
 Capio’s aim of continuous quality improvement, in order to offer 
the best possible healthcare. For example, the financial model 
supports the work of implementing Modern Medicine in the 
Group’s operations.

The reporting reflects responsibility and activities,  
and enables quality improvements 
Capio’s organization is decentralized and built on the patient’s 
needs, up through the organization. Reporting is built up in the 
same way, in line with the organization, and mirroring responsi-
bility and activities. Through clear and simple internal opera-
tional and financial reporting, starting as close to the patient as 
possible, Capio measures everything that is relevant and for 
which someone is responsible. In this way, Capio’s healthcare 
processes can be improved continuously, in order to improve 
the quality of healthcare for the patient. We also work system-
atically to ensure that managers have direct access to relevant 
reports, using such tools as efficient IT systems, in order to 
leverage development and improvement opportunities. It is 
very important, for example, that managers in the organization 
have access to financial reports concerning their own opera-
tion, so that they can monitor and understand the financial 
development, adopt improvement measures and also compare 
their results with other similar Capio units. 

“Capio’s reporting reflects responsibility and activities  
in the organization and allows for quality improvements  
in our operations.”

Accurate, relevant and timely follow-up facilitates  
good decisions 
The financial model is a key element of the Group’s decentral-
ization of responsibility. Accurate, relevant and timely financial 
reporting provides more time for analysis, decisions and 
actions. A sound basis for decision allows for quality improve-
ments and more efficient use of resources, as well as helping  
to tackle changes on a better basis. 

A sound financial position creates development 
 opportunities
When the finances are in balance, with sound financial results 
and cash flows, Capio can create scope for investments in its 
operations, which in turn, contribute to higher quality and bet-
ter healthcare. For example, since 2010 Capio has invested 
more than MSEK 900 in upgrading and modernizing clinics in 
France. In addition, Capio annually invests approximately 3 per-
cent of its sales in maintenance and expansion investments, 
and in 2014 and 2015 this includes major investments in Capio 
St Göran’s Hospital in Stockholm. 

“Through a sound financial position Capio creates devel-
opment opportunities that allow for investments in Mod-
ern Medicine and in improved and expanded healthcare, 
for the benefit of our patients.”

Capio’s financial model
Capio’s income statement is function-based and divides our 
production operations into sales and direct (directly related to 
the production of healthcare and to a large extent variable) 
costs, which together give a gross result and a gross margin. 

From this gross result we deduct our overhead costs, to 
obtain an operating profit and operating margin. Sales corre-
spond to the compensation received for the healthcare pro-
vided within each unit. Direct costs reflect the use of direct 
resources in our operations, such as salaries to doctors and 
other clinical personnel, materials, X-rays and the cost of prem-
ises. Overhead costs reflect the infrastructure we need to run 
our operations, but are not linked directly to the provision of 
patient care. Salaries for care unit managers, IT infrastructure 
costs and HR costs are all examples of overhead costs. Since 
overhead costs are generally fixed, an increase in business  
volume has a direct positive impact on the financial results.

 

CAPIO HOLDING AB ANNUAL REPORT 201424

Capio's financial model 



       

Financial reports
Financial reports within Capio support managers at all levels of 
the organization. To mirror the various areas of responsibility 
within the organization, the reports are divided into different 
sections, for which the respective areas of responsibility are 
illustrated by specific colors. Managers in the front line only 
receive and focus on the key operational figures, while the 
responsibility for financing, income taxes and group adjust-
ments rests with the Group and business area management.

An important aspect of providing healthcare services is to 
provide a purpose-built and pleasant environment. Capio owns 

and operates many hospital properties. The real estate busi-
ness are related to the operational healthcare business, but set 
different requirements in terms of leadership skills, financing 
and follow-up compared to the operational healthcare busi-
ness. As a consequence, the real estate business are 
accounted for and followed up separately in the financial 
reports. In order to ensure financial reports that can be com-
pared between the various operating units, each care unit is 
charged a market rent. See further details of the color coding 
on page 47. 
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All activities within healthcare must be based on understanding patients’ medical 
and non-medical needs in order to provide the correct diagnosis and perform the 
right treatment with the right quality actions and outcomes. To understand the 
medical outcomes, quality actions have to be mirrored and measured in specific 
quality performance indicators (QPI) as a process of systematic quality work at all 
care-delivering units. These measurements are used to drive continuous improve-
ments in medical quality and patient satisfaction supported by an empowered 

organization with a clear reporting structure. The set of QPIs should correctly 
impact the key performance indicators (KPIs) that are selected and used to create 
incentives for efficient use of the resources deployed. As a final step the KPIs 
should correctly impact the financial development of all activities performed. This 
link enables Capio to drive quality and productivity to achieve the best value for 
the patient and for society at large.

The link between patient needs  
and a sound financial development
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A pan-European footprint 
With a pan-European presence, scale and experience across 
each level of care delivery, Capio is well-positioned to drive 
quality and productivity across Western Europe by harmonizing 
best practices and disseminating Modern Medicine across its 
markets. Capio is a leading private provider in its core markets 
(by revenue, number one in Sweden, number two in Norway, 
number five in France and in the top 15 in Germany in 2013)2 
with broad experience from implementing Modern Medicine, 
enabling Rapid Recovery of patients and maintaining an offer-
ing tailored to the needs of patients and funders in each area. 

Capio leverages its broad experience across the different 
levels of healthcare delivery in the system in order to consoli-
date care networks and build patient pathways to integrated 
care. Patient pathways encourage different care providers to 
collaborate so as to ensure that the patient transitions smoothly 
across different healthcare and care services. Two examples of 
this include the collaboration across the different levels of 
healthcare delivery in Sweden, and the consolidation of care 
networks in France. 

In Sweden, Capio has successfully built patient pathways, 
whereby patients are offered a more consistent care through 
the cooperation between different healthcare providers and 
healthcare units. This is, for example, taking place within geriat-
ric care in Stockholm via the adoption of LEON (lowest efficient 
care level), and as the collaboration between Capio Psychiatry 
and Capio Proximity Care in caring for multi-morbid patients 
with both somatic and psychiatric  disease. 

Capio France has successfully consolidated certain care 
networks and invested in regional centers of excellence, so 

called star networks. A star network is a network of one main 
care unit that is supported by several smaller centers of excel-
lence.

The Group’s operations are primarily organized per business area which also is the basis for classification of 
segments. Capio has three1 operational segments; Capio Nordic (Sweden and Norway), Capio France and  
Capio Germany. Each of Capio’s operational segments provides a wide range of healthcare services and is  
structured to facilitate the provision of healthcare at the most efficient care level for each patient.

 Capio Nordic, 54%
 Capio France, 37%
 Capio Germany, 9%

 Capio Nordic, 37%
 Capio France, 56%
 Capio Germany, 7%

 Capio Nordic, 33%
 Capio France, 61%
 Capio Germany, 6%

Net sales
Group MSEK 13,200

Operating result (EBITDA)
Group MSEK 1,102 

Capital expenditure
Group MSEK –433  

Business overview

Segment overview, share of total in %, all segments 2014

1  In addition, there is the segment Other, which includes the UK business up until divestment in July 2014 (consolidated in the Group’s accounts through 
June 30, 2014) as well as holding companies.

2 Annual reports, Odin, Proff.no.
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 Public, 89%
 Private, 11%

 Tariff, 87%
 Capitation, 13%

  Free healthcare choice/
    authorization, 74%

 Contract, 26%

Share of publicly- and  
privately-financed healthcare

Remuneration form Agreement structure

Capio’s 2014 remuneration and agreement model

Publicly and privately financed healthcare 
Capio operates under different remuneration systems across 
its segments. In 2014, 89 percent of the Group’s net sales were 
publicly financed, with the remaining 11 percent being financed 
under private insurance schemes or privately financed by the 
patients themselves and were primarily related to activities in 
Norway and France. In France, most privately financed remu-
neration is attributable to non-medical services, including sin-
gle-room supplements. In Sweden, the proportion of privately 
financed activities was negligible.

The largest share of Capio’s remuneration, 87 percent, is 
based on payment per treatment (tariffs). Capitation is another 
remuneration form that, with regard to Capio, is applied in large 
areas of the primary care activities in Sweden. This entails that 
a fixed annual amount is received per patient listed at the pri-
mary care center. 13 percent of Capio’s remuneration was 
related to capitation based remuneration models in 2014. 

The basis for business operations may be a licence/authori-
zation whereby a healthcare facility has gained approval from 
the healthcare authorities to provide certain types of healthcare, 
and to receive remuneration according to a specific price list. 
The care provision agreement is not subject to any time limit 
and applies until further notice. Examples are Capio’s activities 
in France and Germany, as well as within primary and specialist 
healthcare in Sweden. In Sweden free healthcare choice 
schemes have been introduced for a number of different treat-
ments in recent years. A trend in Europe is for the form of 
agreement to focus on a free choice of healthcare, whereby the 
patient chooses the healthcare provider. Healthcare agree-

ments (contracts) also occur, entailing that the care provider is 
required to produce a certain volume of healthcare, for a maxi-
mum price, during the term of the agreement. If this cap is 
exceeded, the remuneration for production above the fixed cap 
will be reduced. 

Capio has extensive activities at all care levels, except within university hospi-
tals. Operations in all countries are united in the Capio model with its system-
atic approach to drive quality and productivity. Capio leverage the transfer of 
know-how within the concepts of Modern Medicine and Rapid Recovery, thus 
improving healthcare services across Europe. 

Complexity

Volume

University
hospital

Emergency
hospital

Local
hospital

Specialist
clinic

Primary care 
unit

Nordic

Sweden Norway France Germany

Capio’s care level presence
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Capio Nordic

Capio Nordic was the Group’s largest segment by  
net sales and number of patient visits in 2014 and 
comprised the Group’s operations in Sweden and 
Norway.

Sweden
Healthcare organizational structure
The Swedish healthcare system is organized into three levels, 
with responsibility divided between three different authorities: 
National (state), Regional (county councils) and Local (munici-
palities). The Swedish Ministry of Health and Social Affairs is 
responsible for overall healthcare policy and eight government 
agencies are directly involved in health, medical care and public 
health. The Swedish Health and Medical Service Act assigns 
responsibility for healthcare services to county councils and 
municipalities. The 21 county councils are responsible for the 
funding and provision of healthcare services and the 290 
municipalities are legally obliged to meet the care and housing 
needs of older and disabled people. Stockholm, Västra Göta-
land and Skåne accounted for approximately 50 percent of 
total national healthcare expenditures in 2012.

Business areas
In Sweden, Capio operates one emergency hospital, two local 
hospitals, centers for specialist care at 27 locations, centers for 
psychiatric care at 23 locations and centers for primary care at 
77 locations, organized across the following business areas: 
Capio St Göran’s Hospital, Capio Specialist Clinics, Capio Psy-
chiatry and Capio Proximity Care. Capio Proximity Care is the 
largest of these business areas followed by Capio St Göran’s 
Hospital and Capio Specialist Clinics, with Capio Psychiatry 
representing the smallest proportion of net sales in 2014. 

Key figures

Jan–Dec

 2014 2013 2012

Production, kNumber

Number of outpatients 3,719.4 3,463.5 2,069.9

Number of inpatients 49.9 48.7 42.9

Number of patients 3,769.3 3,512.2 2,112.8

Resources, Number

Number of employees (FTE) 5,722 5,432 3,673

In % of Group 46 45 35

Net sales, MSEK

Net sales1 7,128 6,716 4,777

In % of Group 54 54 46

1 Carema Healthcare consolidated as of December 31, 2012. 

Key events 2014

• Organic sales growth increased to 5.1 percent (2.7).

• Capio St Göran’s Hospital improved performance in line 
with plans and delivered high quality outcomes in both 
county- and national measurements.

• Capio Proximity Care continued to expand in south of 
Sweden.

• Expansion within free healthcare choice in specialist 
care and psychiatry in Sweden. 

• Continued expansion in Volvat, Oslo, in Norway.
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Capio St Göran’s Hospital
Situated in central Stockholm, Capio St Göran’s Hospital is one 
of Sweden’s larger emergency hospitals in terms of patient vol-
umes and offers healthcare to patients through basic emer-
gency care via its accident and emergency, medical, orthope-
dic, surgical, radiology, anesthesia, pain and clinical physiology 
clinics, as well as offering leading expertise in areas such as 
shoulder surgery and breast surgery.

The only privately-run emergency hospital  
in the Nordic region
Capio St Göran’s Hospital is the only privately-run emergency 
hospital in the Nordic region. In 2014 it was the fourth largest 
emergency hospital in Stockholm by volume, with an estimated 
15 percent market share in comparable segments according to 
Capio estimates based on Stockholm County Council (SLL) 
data in 2014. The hospital serves a population of 430 thousand, 
has 308 beds and is serviced by approximately 1.5 thousand 
full time employees. 

In 2014, approximately 80 thousand emergency visits were 
made to the hospital, 23.2 thousand of which were by ambu-
lance, and the hospital also received 25.2 thousand emergency 
inpatients. According to SLL data, 78 percent of these patients 
were able to be seen at the emergency room within four hours 
in 2014. In addition to emergency room visits, there were 127 
thousand planned visits to the hospital, of which 111 thousand 
were follow-up visits and 16 thousand, were initial visits, and 
9.3 thousand surgeries were performed, of which 2.9 thousand 
were acute surgeries. 

In 2014, Capio St Göran’s Hospital was the first emergency 
hospital in Stockholm to treat all planned care patients within 
the waiting time set by the SLL. In total, Capio St Göran’s Hos-
pital received 30.7 thousand inpatients and 181.1 thousand 
outpatients in 2014. 

Capio St Göran’s Hospital is operated under a contract with 
SLL, which also owns the hospital buildings through its real 
estate company. The remuneration from SLL consists of a vari-
able element according to the DRG (Diagnosis Related Groups) 
system, based on the healthcare provided, as well as remuner-
ation for participation in other endeavors, such as environmen-
tal, quality, and research and development and training activi-
ties. These activities constitute a percentage of the total con-
tract sum and remuneration is paid based on the achievement 
of specific targets or indicators. 

Strategy to provide leading quality  
with the best value for patients
Continued improvements are the basis for Capio St Göran’s 
way to manage and operate the hospital. These improvements 
include working methods to achieve higher quality, cooperation 
across care units, strong involvement of patients in the care 
process and employee engagement. This is supported by a 
decentralized organization with clear responsibilities and allo-
cation of resources close to the patient. 

At Capio St Göran’s Hospital, the introduction of Modern 
Medicine and optimization of patient flows have led to an aver-
age annual AVLOS reduction of 4 percent between 2010 and 
2014 (on a comparable case mix basis). Among Stockholm 
emergency hospitals it also had the highest employee satisfac-
tion rate in 2014, according to SLL emergency hospitals annual 
reports, as per an independent, standardized employee satis-
faction survey, and high patient satisfaction compared to other 
emergency hospitals according to a 2014 patient survey. 
These quality and productivity improvements have enabled 
Capio St Göran’s Hospital to provide quality healthcare at the 
lowest cost to the system (reimbursement per DRG point). 

Focus areas going forward

• Continuing to improve quality and reducing AVLOS to  
manage growing patient volumes estimated to more than  
40 percent over the coming years.

• Improving availability and managing capacity by expanding 
the hospital’s accident and emergency and bed capacity. 

• Establishing a new breast center and shifting less special-
ized elective care to other care providers.

• Continuing to refine the procurement strategy and leverage 
IT investments to support growing patient volumes. 
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Fulfilment of healthcare guarantee – TreatmentFulfilment of healthcare guarantee – Appointment
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Source: Summary HSF/Stockholm County Council Source: Waiting times at hospital emergency clinics, The Swedish 
National Board of Health and Welfare, December 2014. 

Share of healthcare-related infections (VRI) (%)
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VRI contracted during care
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* All healthcare-related infections including infections not contracted
  at Capio St Göran’s Hospital.
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Capio St Göran’s – Quality data 

Sweden is in the forefront to measure and follow up medical 
quality through national quality registers as well as regional reg-
isters reporting requirements for healthcare providers. Patient 
satisfaction and employee data is also covered in yearly mea-
surements. This long tradition of quality measurements has led 

to extensive data on medical treatment results and process 
measurements. Treatment methods can be evaluated and data 
allow for comparison between methods and care units on both 
a national and a regional level. Process measurements support 
the development of accessibility to the healthcare system. 

 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

Capio S:t Görans Hospital 95 96 99 98 96

Other Stockholm hospitals

97 95 94 90 90

88 92 92 87 88

88 90 91 92 94

93 93 93 97 94

88 95 93 96 97
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Internship ranking 2014

Number of overcrowding* per 100 available beds  
(somatic care), 2014

Number of outsourced* patients per 100 available beds 
(somatic care), 2014

Patient-perceived quality, outpatient care, PPQ,  
spring 2014

Patient-perceived quality, inpatient care, PPQ,  
spring 2014

Quality of education for interns, 2014 
(SYLF, Swedish Junior Doctors’ Association),
(Summarised grading)

Other 
Stockholm

hospitals

6.0 max

Capio 
St Göran’s 

Hospital 2

1

4

3

5

4.72

4.74

4.48

4.14

4.10

Capio St Göran’s

Kind
 tr

ea
tm

en
t

Part
ici

pa
tio

n

Inf
or

mati
on

Ava
ila

bil
ity

Tru
st

Perc
eiv

ed
 be

ne
fit

Ove
ral

l im
pr

es
sio

n

Rec
om

men
d

Patientupplevd kvalitet inom öppenvården, PUK, våren 2014

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

SCC SwedenCapio St Göran’s

Kind
 tr

ea
tm

en
t

Part
ici

pa
tio

n

Inf
or

mati
on

Ava
ila

bil
ity

Tru
st

Perc
eiv

ed
 be

ne
fit

Ove
ral

l im
pr

es
sio

n

Rec
om

men
d

Patientupplevd kvalitet inom slutenvården, PUK, våren 2014

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

SCC Sweden

Sweden

Antal överbeläggningar per 100 disponibla vårdplatser

* Overcrowding is defined as an event when an admitted patient is cared for without
  the requirements for available beds being met.
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* An outsourced patient is defined as a patient being admitted and cared for at a different 
  care unit than the care unit holding specialist expertise and responsibility for the patient

Source: Swedish Association of Local Authorities and Regions (SKL) 2015

Source: Swedish Junior Doctors’ Association’s internship gradingSource: Data from the respective hospitals, 2014.

Source: Swedish Institute for Quality Indicators (Institutet för kvalitetsindikatorer)Source: Swedish Institute for Quality Indicators (Institutet för kvalitetsindikatorer)

Source: Swedish Association of Local Authorities and Regions (SKL) 2015

Employee index and days of sick leave, 2014

The Stockholm County Council (SCC) has a well-developed 
quality approach and measures a wide span of quality indica-
tors for acute hospitals in the county. 

Capio St Göran participates in all required and relevant reg-
isters which together with its own quality control helps the hos-

pital to develop its quality and accessibility. The data below 
show some vital quality results for Capio St Göran’s in compari-
son with other hospitals in the Stockholm County and national 
data.
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Capio specialist operations
Capio’s specialist operations in Sweden comprise the business 
areas Capio Specialist Clinics and Capio Psychiatry. 

Capio Specialist Clinics 
Capio Specialist Clinics operates specialist clinics at 27 loca-
tions. These clinics operate either under tendered contracts  
or care authorizations from eleven county councils, including 
Stockholm, Västra Götaland and Skåne. The healthcare offered 
by Capio Specialist Clinics includes geriatric care and special-
ized home healthcare (ASIH), orthopedic surgery and rehabilita-
tion, and single episode care, for example ear nose throat 
(ENT), gynecology, ophthalmology and general  surgery.

Business area Capio Specialist Clinics also includes two 
local hospitals in Gothenburg and Örebro, offering a wide range 
of specialist healthcare. The Capio Simrishamn hospital oper-
ated by Capio since the Carema Healthcare acquisition was 
handed over to another care provider following a procurement 
decision prior to the acquisition. In addition to the DRG-based 
reimbursement and fees for service, as set by the tendered 
contracts, Capio Specialist Clinics also receive additional reve-
nue based on agreements with insurance companies.

Capio Psychiatry
Capio Psychiatry, one of the largest private psychiatric special-
ists in Sweden, operates at 23 locations across six county 
councils via care contracts and free healthcare choice accredi-
tations. Capio Psychiatry treats patients within the fields of gen-
eral psychiatry, addiction medicine and eating disorders.

Market dynamics
The most important market dynamic for Capio’s specialist 
operations is the healthcare system’s continued adoption of 
LEON (lowest efficient care level) and as a result, considerable 
shifts of patient volumes from emergency hospitals to specialist 
clinics. The adoption of LEON is significant, particularly in the 
large Stockholm region. Free healthcare choice is increasingly 
being adopted as the model for shifting volumes to other care 
levels, increasing patient choice and reducing the dependency 
on tendered contracts.

Strategy to provide quality healthcare with high accessibility, 
through “centers of excellence” and local hospitals
Capio specialist operations’ strategy is to provide specialized 
quality healthcare with high productivity, offering good accessi-
bility through established centers of excellence and local hospi-
tals. Capio seeks to develop by winning tendered contracts, 
and by expanding volumes from free healthcare choice imple-
mentation. In addition, the continued implementation of the 
LEON principle in Stockholm can provide further opportunities 
to develop specialist healthcare services of high quality to the 
county council.

Focus areas going forward

• Continuing to drive the adoption of Modern Medicine across 
care units, for example with regard to knee and hip surgery 
and geriatric care, and in psychiatry, such as the adoption of 
LARO (medically-assisted rehabilitation of opiate addicts).

• Strengthening current centers of excellence and establish-
ing new ones, for example, by further consolidation of the 
specialist area.

• Increasing collaboration and communication across units to 
improve the coordination of patients’ healthcare contacts, 
for example within orthopedics and for multi-morbid 
patients, especially elderly patients or patients with  
psychiatric and somatic illness.

• Leveraging scale to ensure efficient use of resources and 
fixed costs to deliver on patient promise and retain flexibility.
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Capio Proximity Care 
Business area Capio Proximity Care offers primary care ser-
vices at 77 locations across 12 county councils. Capio Proximity 
Care provides a wide range of primary care and affiliated ser-
vices, including pediatric and maternity care, occupational 
 therapy and physiotherapy. These services provide a foundation 
for cohesive care chains with close collaboration with specialist 
care, such as psychiatry, gynecology and general surgery.

Two important industry dynamics have affected the primary 
care market in Sweden: the implementation of free healthcare 
choice in primary care in all county councils between 2007  
and 2010; and continued LEON adoption, increasingly shifting  
volumes from emergency hospitals and specialist clinics to  
primary care centers. 

Strategy to leverage a leading position whilst driving 
productivity through improved quality
Capio Proximity Care’s strategy is to attract new, and retain 
currently listed, patients by being a full service polyclinic, offer-
ing high availability, continuity and patient satisfaction. Capio 
Proximity Care has a demonstrated track-record of driving pro-
ductivity through improved quality, including the shift of patient 
volumes internally to the right level of care, increasing the share 
of consultations performed by relevant clinical staff from 46 per-
cent in 2010 to 53 percent in 2014. Capio Proximity Care has 
also focused on improving patient segmentation, which is the 
classification of patients according to their healthcare needs,  
in order to best meet the needs of different patient groups. By 
doing this, Capio Proximity Care has managed to drive produc-

tivity in a capitation reimbursement environment, while patients 
have benefited from more personalized service. Capio believes 
that at the same time increased patient segmentation at Capio 
Proximity Care has improved the value proposition to patients 
and helped Capio to successfully outgrow the market by 
organically increasing the number of listed patients at a  
3 percent CAGR (Compound Annual Growth Rate), versus 
population growth at a 0.9 percent CAGR from 2010 to 2014.

Focus areas going forward

• Providing a full polyclinic offering with high availability,  
kind treatment and continuity of care.

• Developing care programs adapted to the different medical 
and non-medical needs of patients.

• Improving patient flows and shifting volumes to the right 
internal level of care by further increasing the share of  
consultations performed by relevant clinical staff.

• Consolidating the primary care market and strengthening the 
current network through small add-on acquisitions.

• Leveraging existing infrastructure and investments, and hence 
the ability to increase the number of patients served with limited 
additional resources needed.

Healthcare dynamics – Sweden 
The total private primary care and specialist care market in 
which Capio operates in Sweden was worth approximately 
SEK 24.0 billion (EUR 2.7 billion)1 in 2013.2 Private provid-
ers still represent a small part of the overall market, approxi-
mately 13 percent of the addressable market in 2012.3 

• Total spending in Capio’s relevant market has grown at  
4 percent CAGR between 2007 and 2012.4

• Healthcare expenditure in percent of GDP was 9.6  
percent in 2012 compared to the OECD average of  
9.2 percent5 – Stockholm, Västra Götaland and Skåne 
account for approximately 50 percent6 of total national 
healthcare expenditures. 

1 SEK/EUR foreign exchange rate used: 0.1156 (Feb, 2015). 
2 Swedish Association of Local Authorities and Regions (SKL).
3 Swedish Association of Local Authorities and Regions (SKL), Capio market studies.

4  Swedish Association of Local Authorities and Regions (SKL), Insurance Sweden 
(Svensk Försäkring). 

5 OECD Health Statistics.
6 Swedish Association of Local Authorities and Regions (SKL).
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Norway
Healthcare organizational structure 
The Norwegian healthcare system is semi-decentralized and is 
governed by the Norwegian Ministry of Health and Care Ser-
vices. The Ministry sets national health policy and prepares 
major reforms and proposals for legislation in parliament. 
Healthcare is overseen by three different sub-specialized 
authorities: regional health authorities, counties and municipali-
ties. The regional health authorities are responsible for all spe-
cialist care, as well as other related medical services such as 
laboratory, radiology and specialist care for people with drug 
and alcohol addictions. The counties are responsible for the 
provision of dental care. The municipalities are responsible for 
the provision and funding of primary care, including rehabilita-
tion, physiotherapy, nursing and after-hours emergency ser-
vices.1 

The healthcare provided by Capio Norway is predominantly 
privately funded care that is financed via insurance companies, 
corporate entities or individuals. This market has grown due to 
relatively long waiting times to receive healthcare in the public 
system. The publicly financed privately provided healthcare 
segment is still isolated to tendered contracts, although, there 
has been a recent government pledge for patient reforms. 
Based on market intelligence, Capio expects free healthcare 
choice to be introduced in psychiatry and addiction medicine in 
2015 to 2016 and in somatic specialist care in 2017.

Operations
Capio Norway operates six medical centers offering preventa-
tive and general healthcare services under the Volvat brand, 
and two specialist clinics that offer treatment for eating disor-
ders and physiotherapy. 

Volvat was founded in Oslo in 1985 and today has medical 
centers located in Oslo, Bergen, Fredrikstad and Hamar, of 
which Volvat Hospital in Oslo is the largest. 

At the end of 2012, Ulriksdal Hospital in Bergen, the largest pri-
vate hospital in Vestlandet, was acquired. This acquisition has 
led to expanded capacity and access to modern premises and 
makes it possible to expand Volvat’s range of medical and sur-
gical care offered to the people of Vestlandet.

The business area also includes Capio Anorexia Centre in 
Fredrikstad and the Mensendieck clinic, a physiotherapy clinic 
in Oslo. 

For several years, Volvat’s hospital in Fredrikstad has 
achieved high growth, based on consistent quality initiatives. In 
autumn 2013, the hospital moved to shared premises with the 
municipality’s modern local hospital in central Fredrikstad. The 
two hospitals complement each other as local healthcare pro-
viders. Together they provide a Healthcare Center. Capio 
Anorexia Centre, which is part of Capio Norway as from 2014, is 
also located at Fredrikstad Healthcare Center. Capio Anorexia 
Centre offers treatment of all types of eating disorders. At the 
beginning of 2014, Volvat Sentrum opened as a clinic in central 
Oslo that offers a wide range of daycare treatment. 

Focus areas going forward

• Widening care and service offerings, specifically focusing on 
the core private-pay patient segment. 

• Strengthening its footprint by expanding in existing and new 
locations, supported by strategic add-ons and structural 
acquisitions.

• Improving productivity and utilization of existing facilities by 
leveraging available capacity from expansion investments  
in Oslo, Bergen and Fredrikstad.

• Proactively driving and preparing the business for expected 
free healthcare choice reform in the publicly funded health-
care sector.

1 Helsedirektoratet.
2 NOK/EUR foreign exchange rate used: 0.1283 (February, 2015). 
3 Helsedirektoratet, Finans Norge. 
4 Helsedirektoratet, Finans Norge, Capio market studies.
5 OECD Health Statistics.

6  PPP adjusted: Purchasing power parity (rate of currency conversion that equalize the 
purchasing power of currencies by eliminating the differences in price levels), OECD 
Health Statistics 2013.

7 Helsedirektoratet, Finans Norge, WHO Health systems in transitions.
8 Helsedirektoratet.

Healthcare dynamics – Norway
The total private specialist care market in which Capio operates 
in Norway was worth approximately NOK 7.0 billion (EUR 0.9 
billion)2 in 2013.3 Private providers still represent a small part of 
the overall specialist market, approximately 6 percent in 2012.4 

Healthcare expenditure in  percent of GDP was 9.3 percent 
in 2012, in line with the OECD average of 9.2 percent.5 

• Norway ranks second in an OECD ranking in terms of health-
care expenditures per capita, 70 percent higher than OECD 
average.6 

• From a funding perspective, Norway’s healthcare system is 
funded mainly by public sources (85 percent).7  
– The largest regional healthcare authority is Sör-Ost (Oslo 
area), which accounts for more than 50 percent of the total 
healthcare expenditure on specialist care.8  
– Private contributions consists of private health insurance, 
co-payments, and fully private payments. 

• From a provider perspective, Norway’s healthcare system is 
divided into primary and specialist care  
– Primary care is financed by the municipalities and provided 
by stand-alone private physicians. 
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Capio France

Healthcare organizational structure 
The French healthcare system is organized into three levels: 
National (Ministry of Health and public health insurance), 
regional (regional health agencies) and local (providers). At the 
national level, the French Ministry of Health defines public 
health policies, decides funds allocation and tariffs within a 
yearly public healtcare budget. 

At the regional level, 26 regional health agencies implement 
the national healthcare policy in the regions. Their main roles 
are to grant activity authorizations, decide on public hospital 
investments and lead controls regarding adherence to regula-
tions by providers. In France, specialist doctors working out-
side state hospitals do so as self-employed professionals, 
offering a private service that is paid for by the Social Security 
scheme, with complementary payment from the patient or a 
private insurance company. Capio, as well as the doctor, is typ-
ically reimbursed by the public health insurance for the health-
care provided. In addition, doctors may also be reimbursed by 
patients’ own private health insurance companies.

Operations
In France, Capio operates 8 emergency hospitals, 12 local hos-
pitals and 3 specialist clinics for rehabilitation and psychiatry. 
Capio France organizes its operations by regions, with the larg-
est regions being centered on the cities of Toulouse, Lyon and 
Bayonne. Capio France performs a wide variety of medical 
treatments, including orthopedic, gastrointestinal, urological, 
gynecological and lung treatment as well as neurological, heart 
and bariatric surgery. 

Implementation of the Capio strategy in France
In 2014, Capio France had 5,187 employees, not including the 
1,400 doctors (individuals) that Capio France cooperates with 
who are self-employed professionals under the French health-
care system. As most doctors who work at private clinics are 
self-employed professionals, this requires good relationships 
and close cooperation with the doctors, as the doctors are free 
to receive and treat patients at any hospital. Capio expects to 
benefit from recent and on-going investments to upgrade its 
French operations, by attracting highly-skilled doctors to new, 
modern facilities with advanced equipment.

The Group’s operations in France, Capio France,  
were the Group’s second-largest segment by net sales  
and number of patient visits in 2014.

Key figures

Jan–Dec

 2014 2013 2012

Production, kNumber

Number of outpatients 526.7 502.9 479.5

Number of inpatients 137.8 142.4 148.3

Number of patients 664.5 645.3 627.8

Resources, Number

Number of employees (FTE)1 5,187 5,268 5,318

In % of Group 42 43 51

Net sales, MSEK

Net sales 4,869 4,552 4,515

In % of Group 37 37 43

1  Excluding approximately 1,400 doctors (individuals) that are self-employed 
 professionals.

Key events 2014

• Organic sales growth improved to 2.4 percent (1.9).

• Reimbursement was positively impacted by the 
removal of “borne basse” supporting the ongoing shift 
to outpatient care.

• The concepts of Modern Medicine and Rapid Recovery 
continued to be implemented at French clinics resulting 
in lower AVLOS and increased productivity.
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Capio France has improved its healthcare services by pioneer-
ing the implementation of Rapid Recovery, reducing AVLOS for 
inpatient care and driving the shift from inpatients to outpa-
tients, as the number of treatments that can be performed in 
outpatient care has increased due in part to the implementation 
of Modern Medicine. Capio France has increased the percent-
age of outpatient surgery in its patient mix from 50 percent to 
64 percent from 2009 to 2014 in terms of total numbers of sur-
geries. This development has now also been supported by the 
French healthcare system, as it recently (March 2014) removed 
several of the so called borne basse thresholds, which previ-
ously discouraged quality improvements by reducing reim-
bursement to the healthcare provider if inpatient visits were 
shorter than minimum limits.

Inpatient care – from traditional hospitalization 
to Rapid Recovery
By implementing Modern Medicine in inpatient care, and lead-
ing the shift from traditional hospitalization to Rapid Recovery, 
Capio France has managed to reduce the average length of 
stay (AVLOS) by an average of 3.9 percent annually between 
2012 and 2014 (adjusted for changes in case mix). In uncom-
plicated hip and knee replacement surgeries in France, for 
example, Capio has reduced AVLOS by 33 percent between 

2010 and 2014 (while the market, starting from a higher 
AVLOS, only reduced AVLOS by 17 percent). Additionally, 
Capio France has increased the share of patients discharged 
within four days of surgery from 3 percent in 2010 to over 34 
percent 2014, while maintaining a high level of patient satisfac-
tion. For example, Capio Clinique Sainte Odile received a 98 
per cent patient satisfaction rate in a survey conducted in 2014. 
The implementation of Modern Medicine has generated an 
increase in both the number of procedures performed and the 
ability to attract new patients, with volumes of hip and knee 
replacement surgeries increasing from approximately 3,300 
in 2010 to approximately 4,300 in 2014.

Modern Medicine allows optimization  
of flows and consolidation of units 
By driving the implementation of Rapid Recovery, Capio has 
created capacity to further develop the concept of Modern 
Medicine. This has been further underpinned by the creation of 
integrated regional hubs structured to allow for efficient man-
agement of patient flows and consolidation of care units. Capio 
France has successfully consolidated its care  networks and 
invested in regional centers of excellence, so called star net-
works. A star network is a network of one main care unit that is 
supported by several smaller centers of excellence. Capio has 

Healthcare dynamics – France

It is estimated that the privately provided hospital care market1 
was worth approximately EUR 20 billion in 2013,2 with the total 
hospital care market within which public and private providers, 
including Capio, provide care estimated to amount to approxi-
mately EUR 87 billion.3 Private providers still represent a small 
part of the overall market, approximately 24 percent of the 
addressable market in France in 2012.4

• France ranks third among the OECD countries in terms of 
healthcare expenditures in percentage of GDP, 11.6 percent 
in 2012, compared to the OECD average of 9.2 percent, 
and eight in expenditures per capita.5 

• From a funding perspective, the French healthcare system is 
built on a social security scheme which procures 82 percent 
of its funding, only 18 percent being privately funded.6 

• Government and parliament decide on healthcare rules and 
funds allocation, with yearly public healthcare budget target. 

• Regional health authorities are in charge of executing the 
regulatory policy, i.e. to “manage the healthcare map” – 
granting authorizations, checking compliance and providing 
complementary resources, etc. 

• French healthcare expenditure is growing, yet the growth 
rate is decelerating (3.0 percent p.a. 2007–2012),7 due to 
the healthcare reforms undertaken by the government, 
using both volume and price levers. 

• Including GPs and specialists, private providers represent 
51 percent of total healthcare expenditure.8 

1  Includes medicine, surgery and obstetrics (MSO) and rehabilitation,  
post-acute care and psychiatry.

2  DREES, Capio market studies.
3 Comptes de la santé 2013, DREES.
4  Comptes de la santé, DREES, Capio market studies.

5 OECD Health Statistics.
6 Comptes de la Santé 2013, DREES, OECD.
7 Comptes de la Santé 2013, DREES, OECD.
8 Comptes de la Santé, DREES.
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over the past years invested in infrastructure in several regions 
in order to support the star network strategy, for example, in 
clinics such as Capio Clinique Claude Bernard, Sauvegarde, 
Sainte Odile and in Bayonne. The investments in the infrastruc-
ture of these clinics have enabled the implementation of Mod-
ern Medicine and improved internal processes and patient 
flows.  Major ongoing projects include the Bayonne project, 
which will consolidate three clinics into one, and the Orange 
project, consolidating two clinics into one. Clinics that have 
implemented Rapid Recovery and invested in upgraded facili-
ties are already achieving organic growth significantly above 
market growth and enhancing the market position of Capio 
France. In addition, the modern facilities have improved the 
ability to attract highly-skilled doctors and clinical personnel. 

Focus areas going forward

• Accelerated implementation of Modern Medicine to improve 
quality, reduce AVLOS and proactively drive the shift from 
inpatient to outpatient care.

• Attracting and retaining top medical talent in upgraded facili-
ties.

• Developing a network of cooperation around key units to 
serve local patient needs, for example through the creation 
of star networks.

• Leveraging the capacity and flexibility created by Modern 
Medicine and recent investments in facilities.

• Seeking add-on acquisitions to further consolidate, special-
ize and strengthen the clinical network to drive productivity 
and finances.
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Capio Germany

The Group’s operations in Germany, Capio Germany,  
were the Group’s smallest segment by net sales and  
number of patient visits in 2014. 

Key figures

Jan–Dec

 2014 2013 2012

Production, kNumber

Number of outpatients 164.0 152.4 143.1

Number of inpatients 40.6 40.2 39.2

Number of patients 204.6 192.6 182.3

Resources, Number

Number of employees (FTE) 1,320 1,292 1,266

In % of Group 11 11 12

Net sales, MSEK

Net sales 1,123 1,031 1,000

In % of Group 9 8 10

Healthcare organizational structure 
The German healthcare system is a self-regulated healthcare 
system, with statutory social insurance (“SHI”) companies 
(approximately 145 in total in 2012) covering approximately 90 
percent of the population.1 Decision-making powers are shared 
between the states, the federal government and various health-
care associations, with the government traditionally delegating 
the delivery and financing of healthcare to payor and provider 
organizations. Membership of statutory health insurance is 
compulsory and contributions are based on income. Employers’ 
contributions are fixed at 7.3 percent while employees’ share  
is 8.2 percent.2 Employees with an annual income above a 
 certain threshold (EUR 53,550)3 and the self-employed can opt 
out of the statutory system and insure themselves privately. 
The legal framework separates the provision of inpatient and 
outpatient care, although since 2004 new regulation has 
allowed hospital groups to own outpatient medical care centers 
(“MCCs”) and provide certain specialized outpatient care.

Operations
In Germany, Capio operates five general hospitals offering a 
wide-range of medical care, four specialist clinics focused on 
vein surgery, two hospitals specializing in rehabilitation and 
nursing care and seven medical care centers (MCCs), which 
are outpatient facilities with medical specialists. Capio Germa-
ny’s operations are spread across the country, with facilities  
in Otterndorf, Dannenberg, Büdingen, Bad Brückenau, 
Aschaffenburg, Hilden, Laufen, Bad Kötzting, Weissenburg, 
Blaustein and Bad Bertrich.

Strong position in specialist clinics, especially for  
vein surgery
Capio Germany’s five general hospitals offer a wide range of 
medical care, including internal medicine, surgery, elective 
orthopedics, psychiatry, urology, obstetrics and gynecology, as 
well as ear, nose and throat (ENT). In addition, Capio Germany 
is the market leader for inpatient vein surgery in Germany, with 
a market share of approximately 15 percent4 in 2014. 

1  GKV-Spitzenverband.
2  GKV-Spitzenverband. 
3  Federal Ministry of Labour and Social Affairs.
4 Capio estimate.

Key events 2014

• Organic sales growth increased to 3.5 percent (2.4).

• General hospitals increased patient volumes driven by 
new medical specialities and additional doctors 
capacity.

• Restructuring of some general hospitals improved 
performance in these hospitals compared to 2013.
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New market reform opens up for implementation  
of Modern Medicine
Germany has, in a Western-European context, been a late 
adopter of DRG-based reimbursement (introduced in 
2003/2004). The new government (from 2013) has set a clear 
agenda to transition from a per diem based reimbursement 
system to one that links reimbursement of publicly financed 
care to quality performance. A decision has been taken to 
establish a new authority to define a set of metrics upon which 
reimbursement can be based. This reform will present a signifi-
cant medium term opportunity for Capio to implement Modern 
Medicine in a similar manner to Sweden and France and a long 
term opportunity to generate volume growth.

Strategy to drive implementation of best  
practice in Capio
Capio’s strategy is to transfer best practice in Modern Medicine 
from other Capio jurisdictions and to lead the adoption of Mod-
ern Medicine and Rapid Recovery in Germany with reduced 
AVLOS and shift to outpatient care as the main areas of 
improvement. 

Focus areas going forward

• Accelerated implementation of Modern Medicine to improve 
quality, reduce AVLOS, drive the shift from inpatient to out-
patient care, and release capacity for new elective volumes 
– primarily in general hospitals.

• Improving medical care center offerings to capture an 
increasing share of outpatients and referring inpatients to 
the hospitals.

• Driving consolidation and strengthening networks through 
add-on acquisitions.

• Further strengthening of market position in vein surgery 
(15 percent1 market share in 2014).

• Widening treatment areas into closely related specialties.

Healthcare dynamics – Germany

Capio estimates that the total private market in which it operates 
was worth approximately EUR 15 billion in 2013.2 Private pro-
viders still represent a small part of the overall market, approxi-
mately 15 percent of the addressable market in Germany.3

• Healthcare expenditure in percent of GDP was 11.3 percent 
in Germany in 2012, compared to the OECD average of 9.2 
percent.4 

• Between 1991 and 2011, governmental subsidies for hospi-
tal financing decreased by 27 percent.5 The lack of subsidies 
led to a backlog of hospital investments. As a result, there 
was significant consolidation in the market and the privatiza-
tion of a number of public facilities.

• Private for-profit hospital chains have continuously increased 
their market share in the last decades.6 
–  Many small hospitals that faced substantial economic 

problems were sold to private hospital chains with the 
objective of restructuring them into profitable enterprises.7

• The German hospital market remains highly fragmented.
• Capio is the market leader in vein surgery, with  approxi-

mately 15 percent8 market share in 2014, and has a niche 
position in the broader hospital market.

• Prior to the healthcare reform of 2004, the outpatient sector 
was separated from the inpatient sector and hospitals only 
provided limited outpatient services. In order to overcome 
the sector separation, new regulations and legal forms were 
subsequently introduced. 

1 Capio estimate.
2 Destatis (Federal Bureau of Statistics of Germany), Krankenhaus Rating Report. 
3  Destatis (Federal Bureau of Statistics of Germany), Hospital Rating Report Germany, 

Capio market studies.
4 OECD Health Statistics.

5 Working groups of the hospital association, Stat BA, EIU.
6  Destatis (Federal Bureau of Statistics of Germany), German Association of Hospitals, 

company websites.
7  Destatis (Federal Bureau of Statistics of Germany), German Association of Hospitals, 

company websites.
8 Capio estimate.
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Our employees  
– the link to quality

Our vision is to offer every patient the best achievable 
quality of life. In practice, our employees constitute 
Capio, and make a difference for our patients. On the 
basis of the Capio model, we therefore work to create an 
organization in which employees are given authority and 
take responsibility for their tasks, and also drive continu-
ous improvements. Good relations with our employees 
based on mutual trust and respect are thus of the very 
greatest importance to us. 

Strong local organization
To support our important work with patients, we are structured 
according to a decentralized model that delegates responsibil-
ity, authority and resources to the team, as well as to individu-
als. In this way, we ensure that decisions are taken as close to 
the patients as possible, and that we fulfil the local require-
ments for each operation. With strong local leadership whereby 
operational managers are given the appropriate mandate and 
responsibility, supported by overall Group policies, the right 
conditions are created for the development of the local care 
units on the best possible basis.

The Capio Group’s activities are operated via our main units, 
units and care units. Actual healthcare is provided at the last-
mentioned organizational level. In most cases, the organiza-

tional level main unit is a hospital or clinic, while a unit can, for 
example, be a primary care center or another group of care 
units under the same management. A care unit is equivalent to, 
for example, one or more wards or operating theatres. In the 
case of smaller units, such as a small primary care center, a 
care unit is often the same as a unit. At the end of 2014 Capio’s 
organization and reporting consisted of close to 600 care units, 
summing up to approximately 370 units and 67 main units, 
respectively.

Capio’s employees
In 2014, Capio’s average number of full-time employees was 
12,357 of whom approximately 10 percent were doctors, 44 
percent were nurses, and 17 percent were other medical staff. 
The remaining employees provided direct or indirect support 
for Capio’s healthcare activities. The above numbers do not 
include the approximately 1,400 doctors (individuals) in France 
with whom Capio cooperates, but who are self-employed pro-
fessionals and therefore not included in Capio’s employees.

On average, 97 percent of Capio’s medical staff were 
employed directly by Capio in 2014. For nurses and other medi-
cal staff, the ratios of employed personnel were 99 percent and 
99 percent, respectively. The ratio of employed doctors was 91 
percent. Capio’s objective is to have a high ratio of permanent 
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employees, since continuity of healthcare contact creates secu-
rity for patients, while personnel continuity ensures better condi-
tions for sound healthcare development. The challenges in 
recruiting specific expertise is a factor affecting the ratios of 
employed staff. Primarily, we encounter this difficulty in certain 
medical specialization areas. In Sweden, there is a shortage of 
general practitioners and psychiatrists, among other areas, 
which is a national challenge. 

Development opportunities are a key success factor
The knowledge held by Capio is built up and managed by dedi-
cated, skilled employees. It is therefore crucial to the compa-
ny’s success that we can attract, retain and develop the right 
employees. We work actively to be seen as the first choice of 
employer, and employee development and good leadership are 
key aspects for us. As our employees are engaged in activities 
that make high demands of knowledge, flexibility and readiness 
for change, our ambition is to continuously offer both career 
and training and development opportunities. 

One means of retaining and developing our competent 
employees is to encourage internal mobility. Creating opportu-
nities for employees to take on a new area of responsibility or a 
new role, or to move to a new unit, contributes to competence 
development, increased commitment and a holistic approach. 

Capio has close to 350 managers in charge of close to 600 
care units, and most of our managers are nurses or doctors. 
We offer development programs for managers and key person-
nel at various levels, and the largest share of recruitment takes 
place internally, with the majority of managers having come 
from within the organization. 

Capio European Works Council
Capio seeks to ensure good relationships with labor organiza-
tions. We are one of only a few private healthcare providers to 
establish a European Works Council, with representatives from 
the professional organizations as well as managerial represen-
tatives from the company. More information is available on 
page 43. 

Profession

Doctors, 10%
Nurses, 44%
Other medical staff, 17%
Other staff, 29%

Age

18–29 years, 9%
30–39 years, 27%
40–49 years, 29%
50–59 years, 28%
60– years, 7%

Gender

Women, 82%
Men, 18%Women, 82%

Men, 18%

Employee data

Doctors, 10%
Nurses, 44%
Other medical staff, 17%
Other staff, 29%

18–29 years, 9%
30–39 years, 27%
40–49 years, 29%
50–59 years, 28%
60– years, 7%
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Capio’s Code of Conduct

Capio’s Code of Conduct guides the principles for the 
decisions taken by the Group, its Board of Directors and 
employees within the framework of its activities and in 
the interaction with its patients, employees, clients, 
 business partners, shareholders and society in general. 

The Code of Conduct is built upon the cornerstones of honesty 
and integrity to enable Capio’s values to be part of day-to-day 
activities.  

Capio’s employees must adhere to the Code of Conduct, 
and each manager is responsible for ensuring that employees 
and business partners are informed of its content. Employees 
are required to report any deviations from the Code of Conduct 
to their managers for investigation and possible corrective 
action. Compliance is monitored continuously as an integral 
element of business management. Each manager is responsi-
ble for local follow-up and reporting of any relevant issues. 
Repeated and serious deviations lead to corrective measures.

In connection with the updating of Capio’s Code of Conduct 
in 2013, new policies were also implemented in order to detect 
and deter cases of bribery or other corruption. The policies are 
complemented by specific guidelines for each of the countries 
in which Capio is active. Any suspected breach of these poli-
cies is to be investigated and any necessary measures are to 
be taken. All employees within the Capio Group have received 
detailed information about company policies for transparency 
as well as about the routines and procedures that apply to 
upholding these standards. The information initiative was 
undertaken in cooperation with the European Works Council 
(EWC) and is followed up at local level. The information can be 
found at www.capio.com.

During 2013, a whistleblower function was established 
whereby Capio encourages employees and other persons in 
contact with Capio’s activities to report any serious wrongdoing 
they may have encountered, including any illegal actions, con-
flicts of interest, dubious reporting principle or abuses of power 
or authority. The function serves as a supplement to the inter-
nal reporting system that is, the manager responsible or the 
human resources department. Any serious wrongdoing by 
management or other key personnel within Capio may be 
reported on an anonymous basis. Capio’s whistleblower func-
tion is handled by an independent law firm in Sweden, and all 
notifications are to be investigated.

In 2011, Capio signed a collective agreement with Swedish 
trade unions that guarantees all Capio staff in Sweden the free-
dom to disclose information. Any Capio employee is entitled to 
contact and personally comment or give information to the 
media, either anonymously or in his or her own name. Capio’s 
management and managers will not investigate the source of 
information published in the media. Employees that comment 
to the media may not be discriminated against as a conse-
quence. 

The freedom to disclose information was already in practice 
within Capio and this collective agreement formalized and fur-
ther clarified the employees’ rights. The agreement gives Cap-
io’s staff in Sweden the same right to disclose information as 
public-sector employees, in accordance with the Swedish 
Public Access to Information and Secrecy Act, with the excep-
tion of information that is protected by a duty of confidentiality 
or the Swedish Act on the Protection of Trade Secrets.
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Capio’s European 
Works Council

Capio seeks to ensure good relationships with labor 
organizations. The Group is one of only a few private 
healthcare providers to establish a European Works 
Council (EWC), with representatives from the profes-
sional organizations as well as managerial representa-
tives from the company.

During 2014, two ordinary meetings between Capio and its 
European Works Council were held in Frankfurt, Germany,  
and Stockholm, Sweden, respectively. 

In addition to discussions concerning Capio’s operational 
development, special focus in 2014 has been paid to:

The initiative to further enhance the improvements  
of quality in healthcare
Capio has undertaken a more systematic approach to measur-
ing quality in healthcare by introducing a new set of targets for 
medical quality and patient satisfaction. The new measurement 
is called QPI (Quality Performance Indicators). This is now 
being implemented in the four countries in which Capio pro-
vides healthcare. The main objective is to improve quality and 
patient satisfaction via constant updates and information con-
cerning the quality of healthcare produced by Capio. 

The climate of cooperation between Capio and local 
union representatives
The quality of the information and consultation process 
between local management and union representatives in Capio 
was evaluated during the year via a questionnaire and the 
results were presented at the eleventh EWC meeting. The 
results provide an important starting point for future work, and 
several areas of improvement were identified. Both Capio and 
the Council’s union representatives stress the importance of a 
good dialogue and an open climate of cooperation. Local 
action plans are being drawn up to further reinforce coopera-
tion, after which new follow-ups will take place. The Council’s 
representatives pointed out that the high degree of openness 
that exists in Capio’s EWC should also be ensured in all local 
operations with regard to information and consultation.

During the year, Kevin Thompson was re-elected Employee 
Chairman of EWC and Michèle Goya was elected Vice 
Employee Chairman. To the select committee the following rep-
resentatives were re-elected: Michèle Goya, France, Johannes 
Heuer, Germany, and Kevin Thompson, Sweden. All positions 
were elected unanimously by the members of the EWC.

Facts about  
European Works Council

The EU Directive on European Works Councils applies to 
companies with at least 1,000 employees within the EU, 
and at least 150 employees in each of two EU member 
states. Capio is one of the few European healthcare com-
panies to have taken the initiative to form a European 
Works Council. The European Works Council was formed 
in 2006 by Capio and professional organizations in the 
countries in which Capio operates.

President and CEO Thomas Berglund with Kevin Thompson, Employee 
 Chairman of Capio’s European Works Council, at one of the European Works 
Council meetings.

CAPIO HOLDING AB ANNUAL REPORT 2014 43

 European Works Council



CAPIO HOLDING AB ANNUAL REPORT 201444

Financial Reports

Contents Financial 
reports

Administrative report 45
Disposition of earnings 53
Consolidated statement of comprehensive income 54
Consolidated balance sheet 56
Consolidated statement of cash flow 58
Consolidated statement of changes in shareholders’ equity 60
Accounting principles 61
Notes 69
Parent Company income statement 91
Parent Company statement of comprehensive income 91
Parent Company statement of balance sheet 92
Parent Company statement of cash flow 93
Parent Company change in shareholders’ equity 94
Accounting principles 95
Notes 96
Auditor’s report 100
Definitions 101
Group Management 102
Board of Directors 104
History 106
Contact 106



CAPIO HOLDING AB ANNUAL REPORT 2014 45

Group | Administrative report

Administrative report for Capio Holding AB

The Board of Directors and the Chief Executive Officer 
(CEO) hereby presents the annual report and consoli-
dated financial statements for Capio Holding AB, 
556706-4448, for the financial year January 1 to  
December 31, 2014.

Capio Holding AB, 556706-4448, with its registered office in Gothen-
burg, Sweden, conducts operations in healthcare services through its 
subsidiaries in the Capio Group. The operations are conducted on 
commissions from and in cooperation with public healthcare authori-
ties, insurance companies, other organizations and private individuals.

Capio’s mission, vision and values
Capio has one mission: to cure, relieve and comfort anyone seeking 
medical care from Capio. 

The aim of all healthcare work is to ensure the best achievable qual-
ity of life for each and every patient. Many make a full recovery, while 
others have the chance of a more normal life. 

A patient’s self-esteem and dignity shall also be respected and rein-
forced even as his or her life draws to a close. Our values are quality, 
compassion and care.

Capio’s organization
The Group’s organization is built from the bottom up and is organized 
around patient needs. This creates a culture of continuous improve-
ment, for the benefit of our patients.

Our organizational structure is based on the care units where our 
patients are treated, for example operating theatres, wards, primary 
care units and specialist clinics consisting of between 3 and 300 
employees.

In total we have close to 600 care units at Capio. Most of these are 
part of a unit consisting of two or more care units, which in turn form 
part of a main unit, often a hospital. For small units the organizational 
level care unit and unit could be the same.

Each care unit is headed by a manager who has clear authority, 
resources and responsibility for achieving the objectives that have 
been set. This allows us to utilize the knowledge of our unit managers 
in the best possible way, while giving our staff the opportunity to grow 
and see how their own knowledge and initiative can make a difference.

The Group’s operations are divided into four segments (Capio Nor-
dic, Capio France, Capio Germany and Other) based on the Group’s 
management structure and geography. The segment Other includes 
the UK business up until divestment in July 2014 (consolidated in the 
Group’s accounts through June 30, 2014) as well as holding compa-
nies. The organization is structured to facilitate provision of healthcare 
on the most relevant care level for each patient. 

Capio’s Corporate Governance – Clear goals, authority 
and responsibilities 
Owners

The Capio Group is owned by Ygeia TopHolding AB, owned by Cidra 
S.A.R.L which in turn is owned jointly by funds advised or managed by 
Apax Partners Worldwide LLP (45%), Nordic Capital (44%) and Apax 
Partners SA (11%). The owners appoint a Board of Directors and has 
established a nomination committee to propose Directors for election 
and fees to the elected Board members.

Work of the Board of Directors

The Board of Directors is responsible for appointing a CEO who is 

responsible for developing the business strategy and for implementing 
the strategy on the basis of the Capio model. It is also the responsibility 
of the Board of Directors to appoint the members who participate and 
lead the work of the medical quality committee, the remuneration com-
mittee and the finance and audit committee. The Group has a 
well-structured process for proposing auditors for election via the 
finance and audit committee. The Board of Directors manages matters 
and areas that have a significant impact on the Group’s financial posi-
tion and reputation, in accordance with the rules of procedure for the 
Board of Directors. During 2014, Capio’s Board of Directors held five 
scheduled meetings and, in accordance with normal practice, consid-
ered issues concerning medical quality, the financial and operational 
budget for 2015 and the Group’s financing, as well as completed 
acquisitions, divestment of the UK operations, sale and leaseback of 
seven French hospital properties (French SLB transaction) and signifi-
cant investments.  

Internal control

The Group works actively with the development and assessment of 
the effectiveness of the internal control over financial reporting. The 
Group’s internal control structure is based on the COSO framework.  
A fundamental part of the framework for internal control is the control 
environment in the form of rules of procedures between the Board of 
Directors and Group Management. Based on the overall control envi-
ronment, detailed guidelines and instructions are developed for the 
financial reporting within the Group. These guidelines and instructions 
are verified in a regular self-assessment process in which the external 
auditors participate.   

Medical governance

Medical governance is based on Capio’s corporate governance model 
and the organization structure established for this purpose. Medical 
quality management is an integrated part of the operational organiza-
tion. This is a prerequisite to achieve the high medical quality objec-
tives set by the Group. 

The members of Capio’s Medical Quality Committee are appointed 
by the Board of Directors. The committee consists of a chairman, rep-
resentatives of the owners, the CEO and the Chief Medical Officer 
(CMO). The medical quality committee discusses overall principles for 
Capio’s quality work, based on the current status, as well as proposals 
for future development. The proposals that are considered are mainly 
presented from Capio’s business areas, which also provide a sound 
foundation for good results. This is because the business areas oper-
ate under different requirements (differences in quality reporting 
requirements countries in between as well as based on the type of 
business) and also because Capio seeks to identify and create its own 
working processes and measurement methods, based on medical 
best practice.

The Capio model has a key role in the Group

The Group Management, which is appointed by the CEO, holds the 
overall responsibility for the operations of the Group through its busi-
ness areas in line with the strategy and long-term objectives adopted 
by the Board of Directors based on the Capio model. The Group CFO’s 
responsibilities include the Group’s financial and operational reporting, 
business management support, risk management, auditing, internal 
control, financing, and support in connection with mergers, acquisi-
tions and potential divestments. Capio’s CMO holds ultimate responsi-
bility to the Group CEO for all medical governance. 
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The business area managers are responsible for running the activi-
ties of the respective business areas in line with the guidelines and 
instructions laid down by the CEO and Group Management, as well as 
applicable laws and regulations. They are also responsible for over-
sight of medical quality and efficiency. The business area managers, of 
whom the majority has a medical background, report directly to the 
CEO (business area managers in Sweden reports to the country man-
ager who in turn reports to the CEO). 

The management of each care unit, unit and main unit, together 
with business area managers and the Group Management, are import-
ant elements of the Group’s corporate governance. The finance func-
tion also plays an important governance role, with the ambition of mir-
roring and supporting the management of operations with accurate, 
relevant and timely financial and operational reporting and follow-up. 

Decentralized organization

The managers of the Group’s main units, for example hospitals, are 
responsible for business operations in line with the guidelines set by 
the Group Management via the business area managers, as well as 
applicable laws and regulations. Day-to-day operations are managed 
with the help of clear and measurable delegation of areas of responsi-
bility, which are followed up on the basis of key performance indicators 
(KPIs), income statements, balance sheets and cash flow statements, 
and by measuring the quality of medical care.

The organization is decentralized, which means that important 
decisions should be made as close to patients as possible, in order to 
meet the unique requirements and conditions of the respective health-
care units in the best possible way. 

The Group Management sets out clear objectives and guidelines, 
and delegates the appropriate authority and responsibility to ensure 
that the managers can develop their respective hospitals and clinics as 
efficiently as possible. It is on this organizational level the main contact 

with patients, commissioners and authorities take place and where the 
operations can be influenced the most. 

Improved comparability

In order to improve the comparability of the different operations, the 
Group has divided segments into an operational part and a real estate 
part which includes all real estate within each segment. The real estate 
part charge all operational businesses a market rent for the utilization 
of the real estate. The charge of a market rent improves the compara-
bility of the financial performance between the main units irrespectively 
if the real estate is owned or leased. 

Capio’s financial model 
To mirror activities and responsibility in a simple and clear way, in line 
with the Capio model (refer to page 12), the Group’s operational and 
financial reporting is mirroring the Group’s organization and takes its 
starting point as close to the patients as possible. The Group’s organi-
zation includes close to 600 reporting care units where care is pro-
vided to patients. Reports with KPIs and financial information are pre-
sented to all care units as the reporting structure mirrors the opera-
tional as well as the legal organization.

In order to support the Group’s strategies and managers on all lev-
els, Capio has developed a financial model that links relevant KPIs with 
their corresponding financial impact. As the model is based on the 
relation between quality, productivity and financial statements, the 
financial model supports the Group’s understanding of what creates 
good healthcare and improved quality.

The financial model that supports managers in the front line is pre-
sented below.

Production

Communication

Management

Resources
Productivity

Revenue

Direct costs:
staff, materials, other

Gross pro�t

Overhead costs

Operating result

Quality
drives

productivity
Reputation

EfficiencyKPI
KPI

KPI

Capio's financial model
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Quality drives productivity and growth

Focused quality work is part of Capio’s corporate culture and is inte-
grated into the normal working processes. In order to measure and 
evaluate how quality evolves over time, Capio has introduced a com-
mon language and measurement methods that provide the underlying 
structure and enable a systematic quality approach. Quality perfor-
mance indicators (QPI) are used to measure quality performance and 
quality reporting is an important tool used in assessing the quality of 
healthcare provided to patients, refer to page 18 for further informa-
tion. The regular use of QPIs enables continuous improvements of 
medical quality, which in turn positively impact production and produc-
tivity in the healthcare delivery.

Production, productivity and resources linked to the income 
statement 

Capio’s financial model is based on two operational metrics: produc-
tion and productivity. Production is the Group’s measure of how much 
healthcare is provided in a given period of time. Productivity is the 
Group’s measure of how well healthcare is provided, quality wise, as 
quality healthcare enables faster patient recovery times and, therefore, 
good healthcare can be provided to more patients. For example, by 
providing patients with good information and practicing modern medi-
cine with quicker recovery after surgery, average length of stay can be 
reduced. Reduced AVLOS leads to increased productivity, as more 
patients can be treated with the same amount of resources. Com-
bined, production and productivity relate to the resources used in the 
production of healthcare. Thus, productivity is also a measure of how 
efficiently both human and physical resources are used in the produc-
tion of healthcare. Capio’s financial model, accordingly, measures 
financial results, as well as serving as a way of understanding the 
underlying operating factors impacting financial results. The Group 
uses KPIs to measure production, productivity and resources gener-
ated and used in healthcare activities, and these non-financial key fig-
ures provide important information to Capio’s local managers in their 
daily operations.

The Group’s income statement is functional and divided into clear 
profit and cost centers. Production is Capio’s key operational measure 
linked to net sales, as net sales represent remuneration received as 
compensation for healthcare services provided to Capio’s patients. 
The change in net sales between periods is driven partly by organic 
sales growth, which is split between price and volume growth, and 
partly by structural changes, such as acquisitions and divestments. To 
financially measure productivity, direct costs (to a large extent variable) 
and administrative expenses (overhead costs, to a large extent fixed) 
are subtracted from net sales in order to obtain the Group’s gross 
result (gross margin) and operating result (operating margin) respec-
tively. Direct costs reflect the use of direct resources in the operations. 
Key operational figures for resources are employees, purchased mate-
rial and services, infrastructure in the form of number of beds, wards 
and theatres and medical equipment. The direct costs reflect the sala-
ries to doctors and other clinical staff, consumption of material, costs 
for x-rays and laboratory tests, and cost for real estate. As the majority 
of these costs are directly linked to the level of production their relation 
to net sales as a percentage is a key figure (Gross Margin) in the report-
ing. Gross margin is the Group’s key measure for productivity, indicat-
ing whether the Group performs healthcare operations efficiently (med-
ical quality drives productivity). 

 Overhead costs reflect the infrastructure needed to run operations, 
but are not linked directly to the provision of patient care. Salaries for 
care unit managers, IT infrastructure and HR costs are all examples of 
overhead costs. Since overhead costs are generally fixed, an increase 
in business volume has a direct positive impact on the financial results. 
Hence, operating result and operating margin provides information as 
to whether the Group’s operating structure is efficient.

The income statement is an important steering and control instru-
ment for managers at all levels within the organization. The income 
statement, together with QPIs and KPIs, helps our managers to ana-
lyze and steer the organization in the right direction, both medically 
and financially. This improves cash flows and frees up resources to 
make further investments in productive healthcare.

The link between the income statement and the cash flow and 
balance sheet

The operating result that comes from the care units will over time equal 
the cash flow that is generated. Cash flow is however impacted by 
capital expenditures in the form of equipment and real estate as well as 
from changes in working capital. The operating cash flow is a key fig-
ure in the reporting. Free cash flow after financial items represent oper-
ating cash flow less paid income taxes and paid finance net. Net cash 
flow represents free cash flow less completed acquisitions or other 
one off payments. In the internal reporting the balance sheet is pre-
sented in the form of capital employed and how capital employed is 
funded through equity and net debt. 

Financial reports

Financial reports within Capio are a support for managers at all levels in 
the organization. To mirror the responsibilities within the organization 
the different sections of the financial reports have separate colors as 
shown in the picture below. Managers in the front line only receive and 
focus on the key operational figures while the responsibility for financ-
ing, income taxes and group adjustments rest with the Group and 
business area management.

An important part of providing healthcare is to provide an environ-
ment that is purpose built and attractive to be in. Capio owns and runs 
many hospitals. The real estate business is related to the operational 
healthcare business but requires other leadership skills, financing and 
follow-up in comparison to the operational healthcare business. In 
order to make financial reports comparable, care units in between 
each care unit is charged with a market rent. 

To show Capio’s financial model, reports prepared in line with the 
model are presented as supplementary information to the legal finan-
cial statements in the annual report.   

Blue   The operational part where the responsibility  
lies within the business

Green  The operational part with addition for real estate  
– responsibility on business area level

Yellow  Non-operational part, e.g. legal responsibilities either on group  
or business area level

Red  Financial part (net debt) with responsibility either on Group  
(Treasury) or business area level
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Financial development in the Group
Net Sales

Net sales during 2014 amounted to MSEK 13,200 (2013: 12,420; 
2012: 10,417). The organic sales growth was 4.0% (2013: 2.3; 2012: 
2.5) and total sales growth was 6.3% (2013: 19.2; 2012: 5.7). The 
organic sales growth was positive in all segments and was mainly 
related to volume as price increases were limited. Volume growth 
during 2014 was positively impacted by expansion and refurbishment 
projects (Nordic and France). Total sales growth was also impacted by 
differences in exchange rates and the divestment of the UK business 
(consolidated through June 2014). Total sales growth in 2013 was 
driven by the acquisition of Carema Healthcare (Nordic) completed in 
late 2012 whilst the organic sales growth in 2013 were impacted by 
the new care contract for St Göran (started from 1 January 2013) 
which included a substantial price reduction. 

Operating result (EBITA)1  

The operating result (EBITA) was MSEK 645 (2013: 608; 2012: 545) 
with an operating margin of 4.9% (2013: 4.9; 2012 5.2). At compara-
ble exchange rates and adjusted for the sale and leaseback transac-
tion (SLB) in France operating result (EBITA) increased with MSEK 68 
(10.9%) and EBITDA with MSEK 61 (5.5%). The improvement in oper-
ating result and margin was mainly a result of higher volumes com-
bined with improved productivity. Improved productivity was mainly 
realized through shorter lengths of stay (AVLOS), more efficient utiliza-
tion of resources (the number of employees (FTEs) increased by 1.3% 
while total patient visits increased by 6.4%) and a shift from in- to out-
patient treatments mainly in France. The operating result and margin 
were negatively impacted with MSEK -38 from new start-ups and 
expansion projects combined with investments in support for driving 
modern medicine in the Nordics. These costs were compensated by 
lower pension costs and a refund of labor market insurance costs in 
the Nordics from prior periods.

Amortization on group surplus values, restructuring and other 
non-recurring items and acquisition related costs 

The operating result (EBIT) was MSEK 407 (2013: 532; 2012:182) and 
included amortizations on group surplus values, restructuring and 
other non-recurring items and acquisition related costs of MSEK -238 
(2013: -76; 2012: -363). When acquisitions of new businesses are 
completed all acquired assets and liabilities are subject to a fair value 
assessment. For some assets, predominantly real estate, care con-
tracts and patient lists, the assessed fair value is above the book value 
why a group surplus value is recognized. The group surplus value 
related to these assets is amortized over the useful life of each individ-
ual asset. Amortization on group surplus values was MSEK -106 
(2013: -91; 2012: -106) and acquisition related costs and effects from 
restructuring and other non-recurring items were MSEK -132 (2013: 
15; 2012:-257). Restructuring and other non-recurring items were 
mainly related to the French SLB transaction, sale of Capio UK, group 
divestment project costs, impairments and restructuring projects in all 
segments. These restructuring initiatives are estimated to have a posi-
tive impact on the business development in 2015 and onwards. 

Finance net

Net interest was MSEK -248 (2013: -320; 2012: -289) and relates to 
net interest expenses for the Group’s total funding. Net interest in 2014 
was lower than in 2013, positively impacted by the lower debt level fol-
lowing the French SLB transaction and from lower interest rates. Other 
financial items in 2014 were impacted by a write-off of capitalized bor-
rowing cost related to the loans that were amortized after the comple-
tion of the French SLB transaction.  

Income Taxes

Current income tax was MSEK -468 (2013: -116; 2012: -92), mainly 
related to capital gains tax on the French SLB transaction. All Group 
companies pay their income tax in accordance with the applicable tax 
laws in the countries in which they are active. In addition to income tax 
the Group also pays substantial amounts in form of other taxes and 
fees as for example social security charges and value added tax. 
Deferred income tax was MSEK 380 (2013: 19; 2012: 102), mainly 
related to the French SLB transaction (deferred income taxes previ-
ously recognized as part of a sale and leaseback transaction made in 
2010 and related to group surplus values recognized in conjunction 
with acquiring the respective businesses). Deferred income tax was 
also related to amortization of group surplus values and effects from 
impairment charges and other timing effects. 

Profit/loss for the period

The loss for the period was MSEK -7 (2013: profit 55; 2012: loss -170). 
The underlying operating result improved compared to 2013 but fol-
lowing effects from the structural changes made in 2014, the Group 
reported a loss in 2014.  

Capital employed and financing

The Group’s capital employed was MSEK 7,620 (9,517 as of Decem-
ber 31, 2013 and 8,890 as of December 31, 2012). The reduction in 
capital employed was mainly a result of the French SLB transaction, 
the divestment of Capio UK and impairment of fixed assets in Capio 
Germany and Capio Nordic. Total capital employed was negatively 
impacted by exchange rate differences, as the Swedish krona weak-
ened compared to the Euro. The return on capital employed was 8.5% 
(6.4 as of December 31, 2013 and 6.1 as of December 31, 2012).

The Group’s net debt as of December 31, 2014 was MSEK 3,440 
(5,402 as of December 31, 2013 and 5,181 as of December 31, 2012) 
which corresponds to a financial leverage of 3.1x (5.0x as of Decem-
ber 31, 2013 and 5.2x as of December 31, 2012). The decrease in net 
debt was mainly related to the French SLB transaction which impacted 
net debt positively with MSEK 2,343 (MEUR 246; MSEK 2,343 at year-
end 2014 exchange rate) before income tax. The transaction also 
resulted in income tax charges of MSEK 418 (MEUR 44; MSEK 418 at 
year-end 2014 exchange rate), whereof MSEK 33 (MEUR 4; MSEK 33 
at average 2014 exchange rate) was paid during the fourth quarter 
2014 and the remaining part MSEK 383 (MEUR 40; MSEK 383 at year-
end 2014 exchange rate) is payable in the second quarter 2015. On a 
pro forma basis (refer to Note 33) financial leverage was 3,5x as of 
December 31, 2014.

1  Operating result (EBITA) Operating result before amortizations of group surplus values, restructuring and other non-recurring items and acquisition related costs.
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Cash flow

Cash flow from operating activities was MSEK 443 (2013: 256; 2012: 
517). The higher cash flow in 2014 compared with 2013 was mainly 
related to positive changes in working capital which compensated for 
the lower operating result (EBIT) in 2014. Working capital changes in 
2013 were negatively impacted by new contract terms in Capio 
 Nordic.

Financial development by segment
The Group’s operations are divided into four segments (Capio Nordic, 
Capio France, Capio Germany and Other) based on the Group’s man-
agement structure and geography. The segment Other includes the 
Capio UK business (divested during 2014) as well as holding compa-
nies. The Group's operations are primarily controlled by business area, 
which is also the basis for classification of segments. 

Capio Nordic

Net sales for Capio Nordic were MSEK 7,128 in 2014 (2013: 6,716; 
2012: 4,777). The organic sales growth was 5.1% (2013: 2.7; 2012: 
5.0) and total sales growth was 6.1% (2013: 40.6; 2012: 10.5). 
Organic sales growth during 2014 was mainly related to volume 
growth from expansion projects in Norway, the free healthcare choice 
business in Sweden and from the contract business in Sweden (mainly 
geriatric and emergency care in Stockholm). Total sales growth was 
also impacted by the acquisition of a primary care business during 
2014 and in 2013 total sales growth was impacted by the acquisition 
of Carema Healthcare in late 2012.

The operating result (EBITA) was MSEK 286 (2013: 261; 2012: 242) 
with an operating margin of 4.0% (2013: 3.9; 2012: 5.1). The operating 
result and margin were positively impacted by higher volumes and pro-
ductivity improvements in the free healthcare choice business in Swe-
den. The operating result and margin were negatively impacted with 
MSEK -38 from new start-ups and expansion projects combined with 
investments in support for driving modern medicine. These costs were 
compensated by lower pension costs and a refund of labor market 
insurance costs from prior periods. Important restructuring projects 
were initiated within the free healthcare choice business in Sweden 
and in Norway in 2014. These initiatives are estimated to have a posi-
tive impact on the business development in 2015 and onwards. 

Capital expenditures were MSEK -141 (2013: -136; 2012: -178) 
mainly impacted by new investments in the free healthcare choice 
business in Sweden and expansion projects in Norway.

Capio France

Net sales for Capio France were MSEK 4,869 in 2014 (2013: 4,552; 
2012: 4,515). The organic sales growth was 2.4% (2013: 1.9; 2012: 
-0.3) and total sales growth was 7.0% (2013: 0.8; 2012: 2.1). Organic 
sales growth during 2014 was mainly related to volumes, positively 
impacted by completed expansion projects and from additional doc-

tors. The price development improved from March 2014 as prices 
were positively impacted by the removal of “Borne basse”2 for some 
treatments combined with a higher price increase for outpatients. 
Acquisitions and divestments contributed negatively to the total sales 
growth on a net basis while differences in exchange rates impacted 
positively. At comparable exchange rates total sales growth was 1.7% 
(2013: 1.5; 2012: 6.0).

The operating result (EBITA) was MSEK 380 (2013: 377; 2012: 323) 
with an operating margin of 7.8% (2013: 8.3; 2012: 7.2). At compara-
ble exchange rates and adjusted for the SLB transaction (see Note 33) 
and acquisitions and divestments operating result (EBITA) increased 
with MSEK 42 (11.1%) and operating result (EBITDA) with MSEK 23 
(3.2%). The improvement in operating result and margin was mainly a 
result of higher volumes combined with productivity improvements 
(1.5% less employees (FTEs), mainly in the inpatient care through 
lower AVLOS and less inpatients). The productivity improvements 
combined with lower social security charges on wages more than off-
set cost inflation. 

Capital expenditures in 2014 were MSEK -253 (2013: -303; 2012: 
-543). The investments in 2014 were mainly related to maintenance 
projects while previous years were impacted by investments in infra-
structure to support modern medicine.

Capio Germany

Net sales for Capio Germany were MSEK 1,123 in 2014 (2013: 1,031; 
2012: 1,000). The organic sales growth was 3.5% (2013: 2.4; 2012: 
3.2) and total sales growth was 8.9% (2013: 3.1; 2012: 0.6). Organic 
sales growth was a combination of increased volumes and somewhat 
higher prices. Increased volumes were mainly related to the general 
hospitals as new specialties and doctors were introduced in some of 
the hospitals. Total sales growth was positively impacted by differ-
ences in exchange rates. At comparable exchange rates total sales 
growth was 3.5% (2013: 3.8; 2012: 4.4).

The operating result (EBITA) was MSEK 55 (2013: 52; 2012: 57) 
with an operating margin of 4.9% (2013: 5.0; 2012: 5.7). At compara-
ble exchange rates operating result in 2014 was in line with 2013. 
Some of the general hospitals are under restructuring with main activi-
ties being improved patient flows, reduced cost structure and the 
introduction of new medical specialties. The performance in these hos-
pitals was overall positive in 2014 compared to 2013. However, the 
improvements in the general hospitals were offset by a temporary vol-
ume reduction in part of the specialist hospitals which impacted results 
negatively in 2014.

Capital expenditures in 2014 were MSEK -27 (2013: -21; 2012: 
-65). The investments during 2014 were mainly related to maintenance 
projects.

2  Borne basse refers to the minimum length of stay and implies a reduction of reimbursement per DRG in case the average length of stay is below a predetermined minimum.
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Significant events during the year
Acquisitions and new care contracts 

During 2014 Capio France acquired the Jean le Bon hospital located in 
the Pays Basque region of France. The hospital provides outpatient 
and inpatient care and the acquisition strengthened Capio’s position in 
the Pays Basque area and will increase the catchment area for Capio’s 
new Bayonne clinic. Also, during 2014 the primary care centers Gen-
eral Practitioners Skrea and Söderbro in Falkenberg, with an affiliated 
unit in Glommen and a children’s healthcare center in the city center of 
Falkenberg, as well as a specialist heart clinic in Varberg were acquired 
and are now part of Capio Nordic. The acquisition strengthened Cap-
io’s presence in Region Halland in Sweden. During 2014 the total 
acquisition related cash out-flow was MSEK 53 (2013: 42; 2012: 861).

Capio was awarded a number of minor care contracts in 2014 for 
eye surgery, orthopedics and rheumathology.

Divestment of seven hospital properties in France and repay-
ment of loan facilities

During 2014 seven of Capio’s French hospital properties were divested 
to Icade Santé in a sale and leaseback transaction (French SLB trans-
action). The transaction increases focus of management resources on 
the healthcare operations, strengthens Capio’s balance sheet and 
increases the diversification of long-term sources of financing. The 
transaction closed in July 2014 and impacts operating result (EBITA) 
with higher rents and lower depreciation going forward. During 2014 
the impact from the sale and leaseback transaction on operating result 
(EBITA) was MSEK -42 (EBITDA MSEK -71). Refer to Note 33 for pro 
forma financial statements for 2014.

The divestment of the seven hospital properties in France resulted 
in a net debt reduction of MSEK 2,343 (MEUR 246; MSEK 2,343 at 
year-end 2014 exchange rate) before tax. The transaction also resulted 

in income tax charges of MSEK 418 (MEUR 44; MSEK 418 at year-end 
2014 exchange rate), whereof MSEK 33 (MEUR 4; MSEK 33 at aver-
age 2014 exchange rate) was paid in the fourth quarter 2014. The 
remaining part MSEK 383 (MEUR 40; MSEK 383 at year-end 2014 
exchange rate) is payable in the second quarter 2015. 

Net proceeds from the transaction were used to prepay debt under 
the Group’s syndicated loan facilities of MSEK 1,386 (MEUR 151) and 
financial leases with a total value of MSEK 453 (MEUR 49) were trans-
ferred to the new lessors as part of the divestment. A capital gain of 
MSEK 177 (MEUR 19.4) was recognized in the Group’s consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income as a restructuring item. In addi-
tion, as part of the repayment of outstanding loans earlier capitalized 
borrowing costs related to the repaid loans were charged to the 
Group’s consolidated statement of comprehensive income under 
other financial items with MSEK -21 in 2014.

Divestment of Capio UK

During 2014 the Group divested the remainder of its UK business 
through the sale of its private mental health hospital in central London 
(Capio Nightingale Hospital). Capio UK was included in the Group’s 
accounts through June 30, 2014 and contributed to the Group with 
net sales of MSEK 80 (MGBP 7), an operating result (EBITDA) of MSEK 
13 (MGBP 1.2) and an operating result (EBITA) of MSEK 11 (MGBP 1). 
During 2013 Capio UK had net sales of MSEK 120 and contributed to 
Capio Group’s operating result (EBITDA) with MSEK 10 (contribution to 
operating result (EBITA) was MSEK 8). The divestment of Capio UK 
resulted in a capital gain of MSEK 77 which was recognized in the 
Group’s consolidated statement of comprehensive income as a 
restructuring item. The total positive cash flow impact from the trans-
action was MSEK 111. Refer to Note 33 for pro forma financial state-
ment for 2014.

Financial development 2014–2011

MSEK 2014 2013 2012 2011

Net sales 13,200 12,420 10,417 9,855

Organic sales growth, % 4.0 2.3 2.5 4.5

Operating result (EBITA) 645 608 545 543

Margin, % 4.9 4.9 5.2 5.5

Operating result (EBITDA) 1,102 1,084 988 962

Margin, % 8.3 8.7 9.5 9.8

Capital Employed 7,620 9,517 8,890 8,305

Return on capital employed, % 8.5 6.4 6.1 6.5

Net debt 3,440 5,402 5,181 4,636

Financial leverage 3.1 5.0 5.2 4.8

Capital expenditure -433 -498 -790 -573

In % of net sales 3.3 4.0 7.6 5.8

Operating cash flow 551 481 144 379

In % of EBITA 85.4 79.1 26.5 69.8
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Impairment and provision in a Nordic contract business

In Capio Nordic a separate analysis and assessment of one of the con-
tract businesses was made during 2014. The analysis resulted in an 
impairment charge combined with a need to provide for future esti-
mated capital expenditure needs and losses of in total MSEK 67, rec-
ognized in the Group’s consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income as a non-recurring item. This is expected to have a positive 
impact on reported results from 2015 an onwards. 

Handover of a contract business in Capio Nordic 

Due to a procurement decision prior to Capio’s acquisition of Carema 
Healthcare a contract business was handed over to another health-
care service provider as from December 1, 2014. In 2014 the contract 
contributed to the Group with net sales of MSEK 160, an operating 
result (EBITDA) of MSEK 25 and an operating result (EBITA) of MSEK 
24. Refer to Note 33 for pro forma financial statement for 2014.

Impairment of fixed assets in Capio Germany

Based on the current performance one of the general hospitals in 
Capio Germany was subject to an impairment test during 2014. The 
impairment test performed concluded that the future estimated dis-
counted cash flows from the hospital’s activities were not sufficient to 
support the carrying value of the fixed assets of the hospital. As a con-
sequence a non-cash impairment charge of MSEK -59 (MEUR -6.5) 
was recognized as a non-recurring item in the Group’s consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income in 2014. The impairment also 
impacted deferred income tax with MSEK 10.

Investing in our infrastructure

The Group’s strengthened financial position provides sound conditions 
for strategic investments. Investments are made through training, 
equipment and properties in order to support the development and 
implementation of modern medicine as well as to improve the working 
environment for the employees. During 2012 and 2013 the Group 
completed the property extensions combined with refurbishments of 
old parts of some of the clinics in both Paris and Lyon. These invest-
ments allowed two of our clinics in Lyon to merge their activity into one 
clinic during the second half of 2012. The extensions in Paris and Lyon 
were started in 2010. Completed investments in 2014 amounted to 
MSEK 41 (2013: 96; 2012: 287) with a total investment of MSEK 902 
MSEK since 2010. In Bayonne and Orange purpose built clinics to 
facilitate modern medicine are currently being constructed (investment 
decisions made in 2012). In Bayonne the new clinic will enable the 
Group to concentrate the activity of three clinics into one as from late 
2015 and in Orange the new clinic will enable the Group to bring the 
current activity in two clinics into the new clinic from 2015. In total, 
these projects require investments of approximately 80 MEUR and are 
being financed through operating lease agreements with an external 
party. Additional investments needs exist and projects are evaluated in 
line with the development of improved healthcare processes.  

Structure and taxes

The Group is based in Sweden with the Parent Company Capio Hold-
ing AB. The Group has operations in a number of countries through 
separate legal entities.  

The Group’s management and financing are managed through the 
Parent Company and the subsidiary Capio AB. Transactions between 
the Parent Company and its subsidiaries are made on market terms 

and are mainly related to compensation for management and financing 
services.  

Personnel  
The average number of employees was 12,357 (2013: 12,193; 2012: 
10,453), of whom 81.8% (2013: 82.2; 2012: 82.0) were women. The 
average number of employees in Sweden was 5,394 (2013: 5,094; 
2012: 3,385), of whom 79.3% (2013: 80.0; 2012: 78.9) were women. 
The main change in Sweden relate to the inclusion of the Carema 
Healthcare business in 2013. 

Research and development
Investments in research and development are focused on patient-
related clinical research and healthcare research as well as scientific 
training and clinical development of new research results. 

Within a number of specialties, cooperation involving medicinal tri-
als and joint research projects with other healthcare providers takes 
place. Research and development costs account for a small portion of 
the operating costs.

Environment
Capio’s approach to environmental work is summarized in the Group’s 
Code of Conduct, which supports long-term sustainable develop-
ment. The Group seeks to make efficient use of energy and natural 
resources, promote systems for the recycling and reuse of materials, 
and works to prevent and minimize pollution. The environmental initia-
tives in each segment and business area must be adapted to the type 
of activity and its environmental impacts. The Group’s environmental 
work focuses especially on procurement, transport, energy consump-
tion, chemical products and waste management. Over time, Capio’s 
ambition is to reduce the environmental impacts of our activities, and 
compliance with existing environmental laws and regulations in the 
countries in which activities are conducted is considered a minimum 
requirement. 

The Group pursues operations requiring permits pursuant to the 
Swedish Environmental Code through some of its Swedish subsidiar-
ies. Impact upon the external environment primarily involves environ-
mentally hazardous chemicals used in the production of services, for 
example film and chemicals used to develop film as part of radiological 
operations. 

Risks 
The Group is exposed, through its international operations, to a variety 
of risks that may give rise to fluctuation in income, other comprehen-
sive income and cash flow.

Key areas of risk encompass political, operational and financial 
risks. Various policies and instruments govern the management of key 
risks. The following is an overall description of areas of risk, and refers 
to relevant notes to the financial statements.

Political risks 

The single greatest risk for the Group involves political decisions that 
change market conditions. For the Group as a whole this risk is miti-
gated by the fact that the Group operates in a variety of countries and 
within different care levels. 

Operational risks

The Group is active in areas involving extensive regulation and the 



CAPIO HOLDING AB ANNUAL REPORT 201452

Group | Administrative report

treatment of patients entailing the risk of complications. By standardiz-
ing materials, equipment and processes and applying the Capio 
model, the Group increases quality, improves efficiency, and enhances 
patient safety in order to manage the operational requirements 
imposed on healthcare companies. 

Financial risks  

One main task of each business area’s finance function is to support 
operating activities and to identify and optimally limit the Group’s finan-
cial risks in accordance with the financial policy established by the 
Board of Directors. Financial activities are centralized to capitalize on 
economies of scale, improve internal control and facilitate risk reviews.

Financial operations at the various business areas aim to improve 
cash flow through focusing on profitability and minimizing operating 
capital employed. For countries with a number of subsidiaries, sur-
pluses and deficits are matched via a group account (cash pool).

Credit risks/counterparty risks  

Credit risks can arise through counterparty’s failure to fulfill its commit-
ments in accordance with signed agreements.

The risk that a counterparty fails to fulfill its obligations in accor-
dance with financial contracts is limited by choosing credit worthy 
counterparties and by limiting the level of involvement of each counter-
party.

Exchange rate risks 

Exchange rate fluctuations impact the Group’s earnings and share-
holders’ equity in different ways. Transaction risk involves commercial 
flows in foreign currencies that expose earnings to the risk of being 
impacted by exchange rate fluctuations. Transaction risks are deemed 
less significant as the majority of transactions within each segment and 
business area are made in the same currency and as there are very 
limited flows of foreign currencies in the Group. Translation of foreign 
subsidiaries’ income statements and net assets into SEK involves the 
risk that exchange rate fluctuations impact the Group’s profit, other 
comprehensive income, net assets and ability to service its debt. The 
Group aims to hedge this exposure through matching cash flows per 
currency with the corresponding same proportion of borrowings per 
currency.

Interest rate risks

Changes in market interest rates affect the Group’s net interest 
income. The speed of the impact of any change in interest rates on net 
interest income depends on the fixed interest terms of the loan portfo-
lio. Financial instruments, primarily swap agreements, are used to 
reduce interest rate risk and to obtain the desired balance of fixed 
interest periods in the loan portfolio.

Liquidity risks 

The Group ensures a favorable level of financial preparedness by 
always keeping a certain portion of sales in cash equivalents and 
undrawn credit lines. 

An appropriate balance between short and long-term borrowing 
and contingency borrowing arrangements in the form of credit facilities 
are used to ensure long-term financing needs. The main source of 
financing is a senior facilities agreement (SFA), syndicated to an inter-
national group of banks and institutions. The SFA was agreed in con-
nection with the current owners’ acquisition of Capio Group in Novem-

ber 2006. The Group has in conjunction with the SFA committed to 
uphold certain financial key ratios. The most important key financial 
ratios are net debt in relation to operating result (EBITDA) and operat-
ing cash flow excluding financial payments in relation to debt service. 
All financial key ratios were met as of year-end 2014. 

Further information about financial risks can be found in Note 16. 

Legal disputes
The Group’s operations are involved in a number of minor disputes, 
which are considered a customary element of the operations. 

Events after the balance sheet date
Political development in Sweden concerning the welfare sector

On October 6, 2014 the new Swedish Government announced an 
agreement with the Left Party to initiate one or several inquiries to 
strengthen the orderliness in the Swedish welfare sector. The inquiries 
are aimed to analyze possible amendments of the current regulatory 
framework for welfare services such as healthcare, elderly care and 
education, including private operators. The Ministry of Finance is 
responsible for such inquiries under the Minister for Public Administra-
tion. The Government launched the Committee directives for the 
inquiry on March 5, 2015. Findings and suggestions are expected to 
be reported November 1, 2015 and November 1, 2016. 

In December 2014 the Government passed a bill to The Committee 
on Health and Welfare concerning the removal of the mandatory obli-
gation to allow for free right to establish operations within the primary 
care sector. The bill did not gain any majority support in the Committee 
and the Government reversed the bill. Hence the bill did not reach the 
Parliament in December 2014 as planned.

On December 27 the Government and four opposition parties 
announced the so called “December-agreement”. The agreement is 
aimed at securing a minority Government to pass state budget pro-
posals in the Parliament. Capio believes that the December-agreement 
has no material effects on The Government agreement with the Left 
Party mentioned above and consequently no impact on the 
announced inquiry, also mentioned above.

Capio continues to monitor the political development in Sweden.

Changes in the Swedish organization

From January 2015 the CMO of the Group (Sveneric Svensson) was 
appointed to also take over the responsibility of the Swedish business 
from the CEO. In connection with this change Martin Engström left the 
Group Management and his other assignments within the Group.

Future outlook
The Group has a pan-European strategy with the ambition to take a 
leading role in the development of healthcare in Europe. By continually 
increasing patient demand the European healthcare market continues 
to expand. Demography, higher patient expectations as well as new 
treatment methods and new techniques are key drivers of this growth. 
The Group’s ambition is to grow organically and through strategic 
acquisitions as well as being awarded new care contracts on the mar-
kets where the Group is present. 

The work to develop and change care processes in line with mod-
ern medicine continues. 
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Parent Company
Net sales, operating result and profit/loss  
for the year
Net sales for the Parent Company were MSEK 2 (2013: 0; 2012: 0), 
operating profit/loss was MSEK -23 (2013: -3; 2012: -4) and the profit/
loss for the period was MSEK -23 (2013: -3; 2012: -2).     

Capital expenditures and financial position
Capital expenditures in tangible fixed assets for the Parent Company 
were MSEK 0 (2013: 0; 2012: 0). Equity to debt ratio was 99.3% 
(2013: 99.9; 2012: 95.5).  

Dispositions of earnings
The following profits are at the disposal of the Annual General Meeting 
(MSEK): 

Premium reserve 3,687

Retained earnings 189

Profit/loss for the year -23

Total 3,853

The Board proposes that the remaining earnings amounting to 3,853 
MSEK at the disposal of the meeting be appropriated as follows:

To be carried forward 3,853

Total 3,853

Disposition of earnings
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Consolidated statement  
of comprehensive income

MSEK Notes 2014 2013 2012

Net sales 1, 34 13,200 12,420 10,417

Direct costs 4, 5, 10, 11, 12 -10,944 -10,268 -8,535

Gross result 2,256 2,152 1,882

Administrative expenses 4, 5, 10, 11, 12, 22 -1,611 -1,554 -1,349

Other operating income 2 — 10 12

Operating result (EBITA) 34 645 608 545

Amortization on surplus values 9, 10, 11, 12 -106 -91 -106

Restructuring and other non-recurring items 3 -128 20 -241

Acquisition related costs -4 -5 -16

Operating result (EBIT) 34 407 532 182

Interest income 6, 16 22 31 30

Interest expenses 6, 16 -270 -351 -319

Other financial items 6, 16 -78 -60 -73

Profit/loss after financial items 81 152 -180

Current income tax 7 -468 -116 -92

Deferred income tax 7 380 19 102

Profit/loss for the period -7 55 -170

Operating result (EBITDA) 1,102 1,084 988

Earnings per share, SEK 26 -2,108 -1,560 -3,008

Adjusted earnings per share, SEK 26 337 -856 -1,028

Other comprehensive income that will be reclassified  
into profit/loss:

Hedge effect in foreign investment 0 -10 4

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations 16 158 116 -96

Revaluation reserve, cash flow hedging 16 -2 59 46

Income taxes related to other comprehensive income 7 0 -17 -13

Other comprehensive income that will be reclassified into 
profit/loss, net of income tax 156 148 -59

Other comprehensive income that will not be reclassified into 
profit/loss:

Revaluation of defined benefit plans 5 -118 53 -25

Income taxes related to other comprehensive income 7 29 -17 -9

Other comprehensive income that will not be reclassified into 
profit/loss, net of income tax -89 36 -34

Total comprehensive income for the period, net of income tax 60 239 -263

Profit attributable to: 

Parent Company shareholders -5 53 -171

Non-controlling interest 8 -2 2 1

-7 55 -170

Total comprehensive income attributable to: 

Parent Company shareholders 62 237 -264

Non-controlling interest 8 -2 2 1

60 239 -263
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Supplementary information

Report format is according to Capio’s financial model – Income statement1 

MSEK 2014 % 2013 % 2012 %

Total net sales 13,200 12,420 10,417

Organic sales growth, % 4.0 2.3 2.5

Total direct cost -11,181 84.7 -10,571 85.1 -8,823 84.7

Gross result 2,019 1,849 1,594

Gross margin, % 15.3 14.9 15.3

Total overhead -1,567 11.9 -1,456 11.7 -1,270 12.2

Operating result (EBITA 1) 452 393 324

Operating margin, % 3.4 3.2 3.1

Real estate result 193 215 221

Operating result (EBITA) 645 608 545

EBITA margin, % 4.9 4.9 5.2

Amortization of surplus values -106 0.8 -91 0.7 -106 1.0

Restructuring and other non-recurring items -128 1.0 20 -0.2 -241 2.3

Acquisition related cost -4 0.0 -5 0.0 -16 0.2

Operating result (EBIT) 407 3.1 532 4.3 182 1.7

Net interest -248 -320 -289

Other net financial items -78 -60 -73

Income before tax 81 152 -180

Current income tax for the year -468 -116 -92

Deferred income tax for the year 380 19 102

Profit/loss for the period -7 55 -170
1 Capio’s financial model is described in the Administrative report, see page 46.   
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Consolidated balance sheet

MSEK Notes 2014 2013 2012

Goodwill 9 5,375 5,147 4,993

Other intangible assets 10 1,589 1,566 1,636

Intangible assets 6,964 6,713 6,629

Buildings and land 12, 23 1,435 3,544 3,483

Equipment, tools, fixtures and fittings 11, 23 900 900 875

Tangible fixed assets 2,335 4,444 4,358

Financial fixed assets, interest-bearing 13, 16 30 2 2

Financial fixed assets, non-interest-bearing 13, 16 140 132 102

Deferred income tax assets 7 443 399 424

Financial fixed assets 613 533 528

Total fixed assets 9,912 11,690 11,515

Inventories 31 210 187 169

Accounts receivables – trade 14 680 677 610

Other receivables 14 253 254 290

Other receivables from group companies 2 1 1

Current income tax assets 7 82 51 4

Prepaid expenses and accrued income 14, 17 800 656 595

Short-term investments and interest-bearing receivables 16 22 2 2

Cash and cash equivalents 16 561 207 95

Total current assets 2,610 2,035 1,766

Total assets 12,522 13,725 13,281

Equity attributable to parent company shareholders 25 4,160 4,091 3,686

Equity attributable to non-controlling interest 8 20 24 23

Total equity 4,180 4,115 3,709

Provisions for employee benefits 5 378 290 331

Provisions, non-interest-bearing 17, 18 172 171 166

Deferred income tax liabilities 7, 17 653 996 991

Long-term liabilities, interest-bearing 15, 16 3,966 5,544 4,825

Long-term liabilities, non-interest-bearing 17 20 23 39

Total long-term liabilities and provisions 5,189 7,024 6,352

Current liabilities, interest-bearing 15, 16 68 69 456

Short-term liabilities to group companies — — 172

Advance payments from customers 56 68 56

Accounts payable - trade 625 551 614

Other current liabilities 544 539 620

Current income tax liabilities 7 360 34 47

Accrued expenses and prepaid income 17 1,500 1,325 1,255

Total current liabilities 3,153 2,586 3,220

Total liabilities, provisions and shareholders’ equity 12,522 13,725 13,281

Pledged assets 19 11,598 11,801 10,867

Contingent liabilities 20 7 3 4
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Supplementary information

Report format is according to Capio’s financial model – Capital employed and financing1 

MSEK 2014 2013 2012

Operating capital employed 1

Operating fixed assets (excl. real estate) 1,062 1,075 1,072

Net customer receivables 1,169 1,074 984

DSO 2, 3 32 31 30

Other operating assets 711 627 619

Other operating liabilities -2,594 -2,454 -2,657

Operating capital employed 1 348 322 18

In % of sales 2.6 2.6 0.2

Operating capital employed 2

Operating real estate 1,055 2,347 2,313

Operating capital employed 2 1,403 2,669 2,331

In % of sales 10.6 21.5 22.4

Other capital employed

Real estate – land and buildings, surplus values 309 1,098 1,093

Goodwill and other acquisition, surplus values 6,872 6,636 6,510

Tax assets and liabilities -488 -580 -610

Other non-operating assets, liabilities and provisions -476 -306 -434

Other capital employed 6,217 6,848 6,559

Capital employed 7,620 9,517 8,890

Return on capital employed, % 8.5 6.4 6.1

Net debt

Cash and cash equivalents (incl. neg. cash pool) 561 207 95

External loans -4,033 -5,614 -5,270

Other interest-bearing assets, liabilities and provisions 32 5 -6

Total net debt -3,440 -5,402 -5,181

Equity

Total equity -4,180 -4,115 -3,709

Total financing -7,620 -9,517 -8,890
1 Capio’s financial model is described in the Administrative report, see page 46. 
2 DSO, Days sales outstanding, average number of days outstanding on net sales, at balance sheet date. 
3 Adjusted for values related to the acquisition of Carema Healthcare in 2012.
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Consolidated statement of cash flow

MSEK Notes 2014 2013 2012

Operating result (EBIT) 407 532 182

Reversal of depreciations/amortizations and impairments 692 567 734

Items not affecting cash flow1 -254 — 0

Interest received 4 19 24

Interest paid -262 -409 -338

Taxes paid -126 -130 0

Cash flow from operating activities before changes in working 
capital 461 579 602

Change in accounts receivable - trade -64 -71 8

Change in other current receivables -93 23 40

Change in accounts payable - trade 72 -111 64

Change in other current liabilities 67 -164 -197

Change in net working capital -18 -323 -85

Cash flow from operating activities 443 256 517

Divestment of companies 24 109 190 7

Acquisition of companies 24 -53 -42 -861

Payment to non-controlling interest -4 -2 —

Investments in tangible and intangible fixed assets -433 -498 -790

Divestments of tangible fixed assets 2,210 116 64

Cash flow from investment activities 1,829 -236 -1,580

Increase in external loans 39 372 1,005

Amortization of external loans -2,000 -306 -274

Amortization of employee benefits -27 -15 -15

Change in liabilities group companies — — 173

Capital contribution 9 — —

Cash flow from financing activities -1,979 51 889

Cash flow from operations 293 71 -174

Currency differences in cash and cash equivalents 61 41 -46

Change in cash and cash equivalents 354 112 -220

Opening balance, cash and cash equivalents 207 95 315

Closing balance, cash and cash equivalents 561 207 95
1 Related to capital gains in 2014.
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Report format is according to Capio’s financial model – Cash flow1 
      
MSEK 2014 % 2013 % 2012 %

Net debt opening -5,402 -5,181 -4,636

Operating result (EBITA) 645 4.9 608 4.9 545 5.2

Capital expenditure -433 -3.3 -498 -4.0 -790 -7.6

Divestments of fixed assets 4 0.0 116 0.9 64 0.6

Add-back depreciation 457 3.5 476 3.8 443 4.3

Net investments 28 0.2 94 0.8 -283 -2.7

Change in net customer receivables -76 -0.6 -55 -0.4 -163 -1.6

Other changes in operating capital employed -46 -0.3 -166 -1.3 45 0.4

Operating cash flow 551 4.2 481 3.9 144 1.4

Cash conversion, %3 85.4 79.1 26.5

Income taxes paid -126 -130 0

Free cash flow before financial items 425 351 144

Cash conversion, %3 65.9 57.7 26.5

Net financial items paid -258 -332 -314

Free cash flow after financial items 167 19 -170

Cash conversion, %3 25.9 3.1 -31.2

Acquisitions/divestments of companies (net debt impact) 51 148 -861

Paid costs acquisitions -4 -3 -14

Received/paid restructuring and other non-recurring items 2,029 -100 -42

Capital contribution 9 — —

Dividend paid -4 -2 —

Net cash flow2 2,248 62 -1,087

Cash conversion, %3 348.5 10.2 -199.3

Finance lease debt -54 -115 -32

Currency effects -172 -118 110

Other items affecting net debt4 -60 -50 464

Net debt closing -3,440 -5,402 -5,181
1 Capio’s financial model is described in the Administrative report, see page 46.   
2 Net cash flow is defined as change in net loan debt and cash and cash equivalents. 
3 Cash conversion in % are defined as the flow related to operating result (EBITA). 
4 Includes repayment of an intercompany balance from the Swedish Parent Company in 2012 with MSEK 308.

Supplementary information
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Consolidated statement of changes  
in shareholders’ equity

MSEK
Share 

 capital

Other 
 contributed 

capital
Other 

 reserves
Translation 

reserve
Retained 
 earnings

Non-  
controlling 

interest

Share- 
holders’ 

equity

Opening balance at  
1 January 2012 34 0 -146 164 3,596 21 3,669

Profit/loss for the year -171 1 -170

Other comprehensive income -2 -91 -93

Total comprehensive income 0 0 -2 -91 -171 1 -263

New share issue 4 302 306

Dividend to non-controlling interest -2 -2

Change in non-controlling interest -2 1 -1

Total transactions with 
 shareholders 4 0 0 0 298 1 303

Closing balance at  
31 December 2012 38 0 -148 73 3,723 23 3,709

MSEK
Share 

 capital

Other 
 contributed 

capital
Other 

 reserves
Translation 

reserve
Retained 
 earnings

Non-  
controlling 

interest

Share- 
holders’ 

equity

Opening balance at  
1 January 2013 38 0 -148 73 3,723 23 3,709

Profit/loss for the year 53 2 55

Other comprehensive income 77 107 184

Total comprehensive income 0 0 77 107 53 2 239

New share issue 1 171 172

Dividend to non-controlling interest -4 -4

Change in non-controlling interest -1 -1

Total transactions with 
 shareholders 1 0 0 0 167 -1 167

Closing balance at  
31 December 2013 39 0 -71 180 3,943 24 4,115

MSEK
Share 

 capital

Other 
 contributed 

capital
Other 

 reserves
Translation 

reserve
Retained 
 earnings

Non-  
controlling 

interest

Share- 
holders’ 

equity

Opening balance at  
1 January 2014 39 0 -71 180 3,943 24 4,115

Profit/loss for the year -5 -2 -7

Other comprehensive income -91 158 67

Total comprehensive income 0 0 -91 158 -5 -2 60

Capital contribution 9 9

Dividend to non-controlling interest -2 -2

Change in non-controlling interest -2 -2

Total transactions with 
 shareholders 0 0 0 0 7 -2 5

Closing balance at  
31 December 2014 39 0 -162 338 3,945 20 4,180
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Accounting principles

General information
All amounts are stated in millions of Swedish kronor (MSEK) if not else 

stated and amounts within parentheses refer to the comparative period 

2013 and 2012.

Capio Holding AB, the parent company of the Capio Group, is a limited 
liability company with its registered office in Gothenburg, Sweden. The 
company’s address is provided in Note 29. The company’s operations 
are described in the Administrative report on page 45.

The consolidated accounts for Capio Holding AB and its subsidiar-
ies for January to December 2014 were prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the 
European Union. The Group also applies the Swedish Financial Report-
ing Board’s Recommendation (RFR 1) “Supplementary Accounting 
Rules for Groups”, which specifies the disclosure requirements attribut-
able to the Swedish Annual Accounts Act.

The consolidated accounts have been prepared in accordance with 
the cost method, except with regard to the revaluation of financial 
instruments, which are continuously valued at fair value. Unless other-
wise specified, the consolidated accounts pertain to the period from 
January to December 2014, in regard to consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income items (the period from January to December 
2013 for comparative period 2013 and the period January to Decem-
ber 2012 for comparative period 2012), and to the amount on 31 
December 2014 regarding balance sheet items (on 31 December 2013 
for comparative period 2013 and on 31 December 2012 for compara-
tive period 2012).

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with IFRS as 
adopted by the EU necessitates the use of a number of accounting 
estimates. In addition, it requires management to make certain esti-
mates when applying the company’s accounting policies. Those areas 
that contain a high degree of accounting estimates, that are complex or 
that are areas including assumptions and estimates are of key impor-
tance to the consolidated accounts are described separately below. 

Consolidated financial statements
The consolidated financial statements include, in addition to the parent 
company, Capio Holding AB, all companies in which the parent com-
pany directly or indirectly held a controlling interest at year-end. A con-
trolling interest means that the parent company owns participations 
corresponding to more than 50 percent of the voting rights, or is con-
sidered to control the company in some other way. The consolidated 
financial statements are prepared in accordance with the purchase 
method. As a result, only that portion of the shareholders’ equity of 
subsidiaries that has been added after the acquisition is included in 
consolidated shareholders’ equity. Subsidiaries are included in the 
consolidated accounts as of the date when the controlling interest is 
transferred to the Group, which normally corresponds to the date of 
acquisition. Subsidiaries divested during the year are included in the 
consolidated accounts until the date when the controlling interest 
ceases.

Historical cost is used for the reporting of the Group’s acquisition of 
subsidiaries. Acquisition cost for an acquisition consists of the fair 
value of the assets submitted as payment, equity instruments issued 
and liabilities arising or assumed on the transfer date. Identifiable 
acquired assets and assumed liabilities and any contingent liabilities in 
a company acquisition are valued initially at fair value on the date of 
acquisition, irrespective of the extent of any non-controlling interest. 

The surplus value that consists of the difference between acquisition 
cost and the fair value of the Group’s portion of identifiable acquired 
net assets is reported as goodwill. If the acquisition cost is lower than 
the fair value of the acquired subsidiary’s net assets, the difference is 
reported directly in the consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income.

All transactions with between Group companies are conducted at 
market terms. Intercompany transactions, balance sheet items and 
unrealized gains on transactions between Group companies are elimi-
nated. Unrealized losses are also eliminated, unless the transaction 
constitutes proof that an impairment requirement exists for the trans-
ferred asset. Where appropriate, the accounting principles for subsid-
iaries have been changed in order to guarantee the consistent applica-
tion of the Group’s accounting principles. 

Associated companies are companies in which the Group has a 
significant but not controlling interest, which as a rule  corresponds to a 
holding of between 20 and 50 percent of the voting rights. Holdings in 
associated companies are reported in accordance with the equity 
method and are initially valued at acquisition cost. The Group’s carry-
ing amount of holdings in associated companies includes goodwill (net 
after any accumulated impairment losses) identified at the time of 
acquisition.

The Group’s share in the results of an associated company after 
acquisition is reported in the consolidated statement of comprehen-
sive income. Accumulated changes following the acquisition are 
reported as changes in the carrying amount of the holding. When the 
Group’s share in the losses of an associated company amount to, or 
exceed, the Group’s holding in the associated company, including any 
unsecured receivables, the Group does not report further losses 
unless it has undertaken commitments or made payments on behalf of 
the associated company. 

Segment reporting
The Group’s operations are primarily controlled and followed per busi-
ness unit which is also the basis for classification of segments. The 
Group’s segments consist of Capio Nordic, Capio France and Capio 
Germany. The segments represent the management structure of the 
group and also correspond with the geographical composition of the 
operations. The segments are responsible for the operating profit and 
net assets used in their operations, while net financial item and taxes 
as well as equity are not reported by segment. The operating profit and 
net assets for the segments are consolidated according to the same 
principles as for the Group overall. The allocation of costs and net 
assets is made as needed. Transactions between business areas are 
based on commercial terms at market prices. Other units in this con-
text relate to the parent company Capio Holding AB, a number of hold-
ing companies and Capio UK up until the time of divestment (divested 
in quarter three 2014 and consolidated through June 30, 2014).

Translation of foreign currency
Items included in the financial reporting of the different Group compa-
nies are valued in the currency used in the financial environment in 
which the individual companies are primarily active (functional cur-
rency). In the consolidated accounts, Swedish krona (SEK) is used, 
which is the parent company’s functional and reporting currency. 
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the functional cur-
rency in accordance with the exchange rates applying on the transac-
tion date. Exchange rate gains and losses occurring from the payment 
of such transactions and in the translation of monetary assets and lia-
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bilities in foreign currencies at the closing rate are reported in the con-
solidated statement of comprehensive income. Exceptions are when 
transactions take the form of hedges that meet the conditions for 
hedge accounting of cash flows or of net investments, whereby the 
gains/losses are reported in other comprehensive income.

Group companies

The earnings and financial position of all Group companies (none of 
which have a high-inflation currency) with a functional currency that is 
different to the reporting currency, are translated to the Group’s report-
ing currency in accordance with the following:
i)   assets and liabilities for each of the balance sheets are translated at 

the closing day rate
ii)   income and expenses for both of the consolidated statement of 

comprehensive income and the statement of other comprehensive 
income are translated at the average exchange rate, and

iii)   all exchange rate differences that arise are reported as a separate 
component of other comprehensive income.

At the time of consolidation, exchange rate differences arising as a 
result of the translation of net investments in foreign operations, bor-
rowing and other currency instruments, identified as hedges for such 
investments, are reported as part of other comprehensive income. 
Upon divestment of a foreign operation, such exchange rate differences 
are reported in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income 
as a part of capital gains/losses.

Goodwill and the adjustments of fair value arising in connection with 
the acquisition of foreign operations are treated as assets and liabilities 
in the acquired operation and are translated at the closing day rate.

Exchange rates

Consolidated statements of comprehensive income and balance 
sheets for foreign subsidiaries have been recalculated into SEK in 
accordance with the following exchange rates;
 

Average rate Closing rate

Country Currency 2014 2013 2012 2014 2013 2012

EMU-countries EUR 9.10 8.65 8.71 9.52 8.94 8.62

Norway NOK 1.09 1.11 1.16 1.05 1.06 1.17

UK GBP 11.29 10.19 10.73 12.14 10.73 10.49

Tangible fixed assets
Tangible fixed assets are reported at historic acquisition cost, less 
accumulated depreciation according to plan and accumulated impair-
ments. Acquisition cost includes expenses directly attributable to the 
acquisition of the asset. Depreciation is based on the original acquisi-
tion cost and is allocated straight line over the useful life of the asset 
with consideration to estimated residual value. Additional expenses 
are added to the carrying amount of the asset, or are reported as a 
separate asset, depending on which is appropriate, but only when it is 
probable that the future financial advantages associated with the asset 
will accrue to the Group and the cost of the asset can be assessed in a 
reliable manner. All other forms of repairs and maintenance are 
reported as costs in the consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income during the period in which they arise.

The Group applies component depreciation of tangible fixed 
assets. This means that tangible fixed assets consisting of  different 
components, the cost of which is significant in relation to the total 
acquisition cost of the assets, are depreciated separately. Deprecia-

tion according to plan is applied straight line over the useful life of each 
asset, which is assessed on an annual basis. Generally, the following 
depreciation periods are applied in the Group:
i) Buildings, 30–50 years
ii)  Machinery and equipment, 3–10 years
iii)  Computers and other hardware, 3–5 years
iv)  Land is not depreciated

Machinery and equipment comprises predominantly hospital equip-
ment such as beds, scanners, theatre equipment and similar items.

If the asset’s reported value exceeds its estimated recoverable 
amount, the reported value of an asset is written down to the recoverable 
amount. Gains and losses on divestments are established by comparing 
the proceeds from the sales with carrying amount and the result is then 
reported in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Intangible fixed assets
Intangible fixed assets are reported at cost, less accumulated amorti-
zation according to plan. Intangible fixed assets acquired as a result of 
acquisitions are reported at fair value at the date of acquisition. Apart 
from certain development costs that meet the requirements in IAS 38, 
development costs are not capitalized but are instead expensed as 
they arise. Following acquisition, intangible fixed assets are reported in 
accordance with a limited useful life at original acquisition cost, less 
accumulated amortization according to plan and accumulated impair-
ments. Amortization is based on the original acquisition cost and is 
applied straight-line over the useful life of the asset, which is assessed 
on an annual basis. Intangible fixed assets with an unlimited useful life 
are subject to at least an annual impairment test.

Goodwill consists of the amount by which the acquisition cost 
exceeds the fair value of the Group’s share of identifiable net assets in 
the acquired subsidiary/associated company at the time of acquisition. 
Goodwill on the acquisition of subsidiaries is reported as an intangible 
asset. Goodwill on the acquisition of associated companies is included 
in the value of the holding in the associated company. Goodwill is 
assessed annually to identify potential impairment needs and is 
recorded at acquisition cost less accumulated impairments. Gains or 
losses arising on the disposal of a unit include the remaining carrying 
amount of the goodwill attributable to the divested unit. 

In the testing of potential impairment, goodwill is distributed 
between cash generating units. Each of these cash generating units 
comprises the Group’s investments in each of the business areas in 
which operations are conducted.

Intangible fixed assets in the form of key brand, healthcare con-
tracts, concessions and rights to use premises below the prevailing 
market price have been valued at the fair value established in conjunc-
tion with company acquisitions. During subsequent periods, these 
assets are reported at original acquisition cost, less accumulated 
amortization according to plan and accumulated impairments. Such 
assets are amortized over an estimated useful life of between 5 and 10 
years. The brand is assessed annually to identify potential impairment 
and is reported at acquisition cost less accumulated impairments.

Acquired software licenses are capitalized on the basis of the costs 
arising when the software in question was acquired and put into oper-
ation. These costs are amortized over the estimated useful life, which 
is normally three to five years but strategic licenses can be amortized 
over a longer time period. Costs for the development or maintenance 
of software are expensed as they occur. Costs closely related to the 
production of identifiable and unique software controlled by the Group, 
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which will have probable economic benefits for more than one year 
and which exceed the original cost, are reported as intangible assets. 
Costs closely related to the production of software include personnel 
costs for the development of software and a reasonable portion of 
attributable indirect expenses. Software development costs reported 
as assets are amortized over their assessed useful life, which is nor-
mally three to ten years.

Impairment
Assets with an indefinite useful life, predominantly goodwill and brand, 
are not amortized but tested annually for potential impairments. Depre-
ciated assets are assessed with regard to depletion in value whenever 
events or altered conditions indicate that the carrying amount is not 
recoverable. An impairment is recognized in the amount by which the 
carrying amount of the asset exceeds its recoverable value. The recov-
erable value is the higher of an asset’s fair value, reduced by the sales 
costs, and value in use. When conducting an impairment test, the 
assets are grouped at the lowest levels where separate identifiable 
cash flows (cash generating units) exist. Future amortization is 
adjusted to the written-down value.

Previously reported impairment losses are assessed on a continu-
ous basis to establish if the events that served as a basis for such 
impairment still exist, or if they have changed. 

In the event of significant changes, the recoverable amount is esti-
mated. A reversal is made to an earlier reported impairment only if 
there is a change in the assumption upon which the original impair-
ment was based. Possible reversals are reported in the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income with an amount corresponding to 
the estimated recoverable amount adjusted for amortization as if the 
original impairment had not been reported, except for goodwill, for 
which impairments are not reversed.

Assets held for sale and operations being discontinued
The Group classifies a fixed asset or disposal group as assets held for 
sale if their reported value will largely be recovered through a sale 
rather than from through continuing use. To be classified as an asset 
held for sale, the asset or disposal group must be available for immedi-
ate sale in its current condition. 

It must also be highly probable that a sale will occur.
The classification of operations as discontinued operations is made 

at the time of sale or at an earlier time when the operations fulfill the cri-
teria for classification as an asset held for sale. A disposal group 
planned to be discontinued also fulfills the criteria under certain cir-
cumstances.

Immediately prior to classification as an asset held for sale, the 
reported value of the assets, and all assets and liabilities in a disposal 
group, are determined in accordance with applicable IFRS standards. 
At the time of initial classification as an asset held for sale, fixed assets 
and disposal groups are reported at the lowest of carrying amount less 
selling expenses and fair value. Depreciation/amortization is not 
applied in cases of assets held for sale.

Financial instruments
Financial assets and liabilities are categorized as either: 
Assets
i)  Financial assets held to maturity
ii)  Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss 
iii) Loans and receivables
iv) Available for sale financial investments.

Liabilities
i)  Financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss
ii)  Financial liabilities, loans and borrowings.

Within each category there are different classes of financial instru-
ments. Used classification is evaluated at the end of each financial 
year, and is modified if necessary.

All financial instruments are initially valued at their fair value and 
accounted for at their trade date. Transaction costs are included 
except when the assets and liabilities are categorized as fair value 
through profit and loss. All loans and borrowings are initially recognized 
at fair value less directly attributable transaction costs. Fair values are 
market values if those exist. If there is no market for an asset or liability 
different valuation techniques are used. A financial asset is derecog-
nized when essentially all risks and rewards connected to the asset 
has been transferred to an external party.

Financial assets held to maturity

Financial assets held to maturity are non-derivative financial assets 
with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturities. The Group 
does not possess any financial assets held to maturity.

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss 

A financial asset at fair value through profit and loss is either (1) traded 
with or (2) it has initially been classified at fair value through profit and 
loss according to the fair value option. For an asset to be classified as 
(1), it has to be bought with an intention of selling it within the near 
future. It also has to be a part of a portfolio that is managed as one and 
finally there has to be a pattern of short term realizations. 

Derivatives, including embedded derivatives separated from their 
host contracts, are classified as held for trading. Changes in their fair 
values are accounted for in profit and loss. 

The Group is using interest rate swaps. When they are a part of a 
documented, effective swap hedge accounting is used. Changes in 
the hedging instruments values are accounted for within other com-
prehensive income (other reserves). Besides these assets there are no 
financial assets accounted for at fair value through profit and loss.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivatives financial assets with fixed or 
determinable payments. These assets are not quoted in an active mar-
ket and the company does not trade them. Loans and receivables are 
initially accounted for at their fair value, which is the value the company 
can expect to receive. If the credit time exceeds one year the receiv-
able will be accounted for at its present value. Allowances are made for 
uncertain receivables every year when there are evidence concluding 
the fact that the company will not receive any payments. After initial 
valuation, loans and receivables are carried at amortized cost using the 
effective interest method less any allowance for impairment. Gains and 
losses are recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income when the loans and receivables are derecognized or impaired, 
as well as through the amortization process. Information regarding 
loans and receivables is presented in the Notes 15 and 16. Information 
regarding loans and receivables inherent credit risk is described 
according to IFRS 7. There is no concentration of credit risk.
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Assets available for sale financial investments

This category includes assets that are not categorized as any of the 
other three categories. These assets are initially valued at their fair 
value with changes accounted for in other comprehensive income. 
When the assets are sold, any cumulative valuation effects accounted 
for within equity are recycled through the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income.

Earned and paid interests on these assets are accounted for 
through the consolidated statement of comprehensive income as a 
financial transaction according to the effective interest method. Divi-
dends received on these assets are accounted for in the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income.

Short-term investments are classified as available for sale financial 
investments and changes in their fair values are accounted for in the 
statement of other comprehensive income. Short-term investments 
mainly consist of interest-bearing instruments and are presented in 
Note 16. 

Financial liabilities at fair value through the consolidated  
statement of comprehensive income

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are acquired 
for the purpose of selling in the near future. Derivatives, including sepa-
rated embedded derivatives, are also classified as held for trading 
unless they are part of an effective hedge. Gains or losses on liabilities 
held for trading are recognized in the consolidated statement of com-
prehensive income. 

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings

All loans and borrowings are initially recognized at fair value less 
directly attributable transaction costs, and have not been designated 
at fair value through the consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income. After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings 
are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective inter-
est method.

The Group possesses interest-bearing loans and borrowings. 
These liabilities are disclosed in Note 15 and 16. 

Impairment of financial assets

Impairment testing is performed for individual assets. If this is not pos-
sible assets are grouped into cash generating units and the risk for 
impairment is then assessed collectively. Individually impaired assets 
or assets impaired during earlier periods are not included in the collec-
tive testing. 

Assets valued at amortized cost

If there is evidence that an impairment loss on assets carried at amor-
tized cost has incurred, the loss is measured as the difference between 
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future 
cash flows discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate. The 
loss is recognized in the  consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income. If the circumstances regarding the impairment in subsequent 
periods change, the previously recognized impairment can be 
reversed, if the carrying value of the asset does not exceed its amor-
tized cost at the reversal date.

Assets available for sale financial investments

If an asset available for sale is impaired the difference between its cost 
and its current fair value, less any impairment loss previously recog-
nized in consolidated statement of comprehensive income, is trans-

ferred from equity to consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income. Reversals in respect of equity instruments classified as avail-
able for sale are not recognized in the consolidated statement of com-
prehensive income. Reversals of impairment losses on debt instru-
ment are reversed through the consolidated statement of comprehen-
sive income. 

Hedge accounting

Hedges are either classified as a fair value hedge, a cash flow hedge or 
a hedge of a net investment of a foreign operation.

i)  Fair value hedges are used to hedge exposures to changes in 
assets’ and liabilities’ fair value or against a not recognized firm 
commitment 

ii)  Cash flow hedges are used to hedge an exposure to variability in 
cash flows that is either attributable to a particular risk associated 
with a recognized asset or liability (for instance a loan with variable 
interest) or a highly probable forecast transaction or the foreign cur-
rency risk in an unrecognized firm commitment (foreign currency 
forward). In terms of cash flow hedging the effective part is 
accounted for directly in the statement of other comprehensive 
income and the ineffective part is accounted for in the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income

iii)  Hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation. In translating the 
earnings and net assests of foreign subsidiaries into SEK, a cur-
rency exposure arises that may affect consolidated earnings and 
equity. Changes in exchange rates between EUR and SEK are the 
primary reason for translation differences in consolidated equity. To 
limit currency exposure, the currency mix in the Group’s cash flow 
is matched with the interest-bearing gross debt and thereby creat-
ing a natural hedge. 

In order to use hedge accounting the company has to fulfill certain 
requirements described in IAS 39 regarding documentation of the 
hedge relationship. The hedged position has to be identified and 
described, the purpose of the hedge has to be described and the 
company has to confirm the effectiveness of the hedge. Financial 
instruments used for the purpose of securing future cash flows 
denominated in foreign currency are considered a hedge if the future 
cash flows are highly probable. When a hedging instrument expires, is 
sold or when the hedging requirements are no longer met accumu-
lated gains and losses are recycled to the statement of other compre-
hensive income. 

If the future transaction no longer is expected to be realized accu-
mulated gains and losses are recycled in the same way.

The Group uses financial derivatives such as swaps to hedge inter-
est rate risks. Long-term internal loans from the parent company to 
subsidiaries within the Group have been assessed as being a hedge of 
the net investment of foreign investment. As a consequence, changes 
in foreign exchange rates are reported as a separate part of other com-
prehensive income.

Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of acquisition cost and net realiz-
able value. Cost is calculated according to the first in/first out (FIFO) 
principle. The net realizable value is the estimated value in the opera-
tional activities.
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Accounts receivables – trade
Accounts receivable are valued at fair value less possible provisions for 
reductions in value. A provision for reduction in the value of an account 
receivable is made when there is objective evidence that the Group will 
not be able to secure all amounts maturing in accordance with the 
original conditions of the receivable. The size of the provision com-
prises the difference between the carrying amount of the asset and the 
current value of estimated future cash flows, discounted by the effec-
tive interest rate. The reserved amount is reported in the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash, bank balances and other 
short-term investments with a maturity of less than three months, and 
bank overdraft facilities. The bank overdraft facility is reported in the 
balance sheet as borrowing among interest-bearing current liabilities.

Share capital
Common and preferential shares are classified as shareholders’ equity. 
Transaction costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or 
options are reported net, after tax, in shareholders’ equity as a deduc-
tion from the issue proceeds. The preferential shares have been classi-
fied as shareholders equity due to the fact that there is a possibility not 
to pay dividends to the preferential shareholders, unless the company 
is liquidated. Further, the preferential shares shall not be returned and 
paid to the owners at a certain date and the owners can also not call 
for a return in order to receive payments.

Borrowings
Borrowings are initially reported at fair value, net after transaction costs 
and subsequently at accrued acquisition cost. Any difference between 
the amount received (net after transaction costs) and the amount to be 
repaid is reported in the consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income, distributed across the loan period by applying the effective 
interest method. 

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities, unless the Group has 
an unconditional right to defer payment of the debt for at least 12 
months following the reporting date.

Account payables – trade
Accounts payable are initially reported at nominal values, which are 
assumed to correspond with fair values.

Provisions
Provisions are reported when the Group has a legal or informal obliga-
tion resulting from past events and it is highly probable that an outflow 
of resources will be required to meet the obligation and that the 
amount has been calculated in a reliable manner. The provision for 
restructuring mainly covers one-time costs relating to severance pay. 
No provisions are made for future operating losses.

If a number of similar obligations exist, an assessment is made of 
the probability that these could result in an outflow of resources to 
meet the entire group of obligations. A provision is reported even if the 
probability of an outflow related to a specific item in this group of obli-
gations is negligible.

Employee benefits
Pension obligations

The Group companies have a number of different pension plans. The 
plans are normally financed through payments to insurance compa-
nies or externally managed funds in accordance with periodic actuarial 
computations. The Group has both defined benefit pension plans and 
defined contribution pension plans. A defined benefit plan is a pension 
plan that stipulates the amount of the pension benefit an employee will 
receive after retirement based on such factors as age, period of service 
and salary. A defined contribution pension plan is one according to 
which the Group pays fixed fees to a separate legal entity. The Group 
has no legal or informal obligation to pay additional fees if the fund 
does not have sufficient assets to pay all benefits due to employees in 
connection with their periods of service during the current period or 
earlier periods.

Provisions, with regard to any plan assets for obligations related to 
post-employment benefits, arise when the obligations are defined ben-
efit obligations. In regard to employment during the current period, 
these liabilities and costs are computed on an actuarial basis using the 
Projected Unit Credit Method. 

The computations are made on an annual basis for the Group’s 
largest plans and regularly, but less frequently, for other plans. The 
computations are based on external actuarial assumptions. The 
assumptions used to compute the pension obligation and costs vary in 
accordance with the economic factors reflecting the situation in those 
countries where the defined benefit plans are located.

The Group’s defined benefit plans are either non-funded or funded. 
In the case of non-funded plans, the benefits are paid out of the assets 
from the companies included in the plan. The provision in the balance 
sheet is made up of the present value of the defined benefit obligation. 
In the case of funded pension plans, the assets belonging to the plan 
are held separately from the Group’s assets in externally managed 
funds. Liabilities or assets shown in the balance sheet with regard to 
funded pension plans represent the amount by which the fair value of 
the plan assets exceeds or falls below the present value of the defined 
benefit obligation (including actuarial gains and losses and cost of 
employment service during earlier periods). However, a net asset is 
reported only to the extent that it represents a possible future financial 
benefit for the Group, for example in the form of reduced future fees, or 
the repayment of funds accumulated in the plan. When such surpluses 
are impossible to utilize, they are not reported but are instead 
explained in a note to the financial statements.

Actuarial gains/losses arise principally when changes occur in the 
actuarial assumptions and when differences occur between actuarial 
assumptions and actual outcome. For all defined benefit plans, the 
actuarial costs, which are charged against other comprehensive 
income, consist of the cost of employment service during the current 
period, interest expense, the anticipated return on the plan assets 
(funded plans only) and the costs related to earlier periods of employ-
ment service. The costs of employment service during earlier periods 
and which relate to changed pension conditions are realized when 
these improvements have become vested.

The accounting principles described above for defined benefit pen-
sion plans are applied only in the consolidated accounts. The parent 
company and subsidiaries continue to apply local computations in 
regard to pension provisions and pension costs in their annual 
accounts.
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Certain Group companies have defined contribution pension plans, 
which refer to benefits paid to employees after the completion of ser-
vice, and for which the Group has no obligation to pay benefits after 
premiums have been paid to the third party responsible for the plan. 
Such plans are reported as a cost as premiums are paid. Some of the 
ITP plans in Sweden are financed through insurance premiums paid to 
Alecta, which is a multi-employer plan. At the present time, Alecta is 
unable to provide the information required to report the plans as 
defined-benefit plans. As a result, the ITP plans insured via Alecta are 
reported as defined contribution pension plans.

Compensation if terminated

Compensation is paid if employment is terminated prior to normal pen-
sion age, or when an employee accepts voluntary termination in 
exchange for compensation. The Group reports severance pay when it 
is demonstrably obligated to either terminate employees in accor-
dance with a detailed formal plan, without any possibility of recall, or to 
pay compensation upon termination as a result of an offer made to 
encourage voluntary termination. Benefits that mature after more than 
12 months from the reporting date are discounted to present value.

Revenue recognition
Although the Group applies various compensation models in the mar-
kets in which it is active, they all have a common denominator, namely 
that revenues are recognized at the time the services are performed in 
all markets. The Group applies the percentage-of-completion method, 
which means that revenues from assignments are reported in accor-
dance with the degree of completion on the reporting date. Revenues 
from the sale of services are recognized in the reporting period when 
the work is performed. Only revenues that provide the Group with eco-
nomic benefits are recognized. In the consolidated accounts, inter-
company sales are eliminated.

Depreciation, amortizations and impairments
Depreciations for tangible and intangible fixed assets which are directly 
utilized in the operations are classified as either direct cost or adminis-
trative expenses. Amortization of acquisition related surplus values and 
impairments are classified on a separate line in the consolidated state-
ment of comprehensive income. 

Borrowing costs
Financial items are recognized in the consolidated statement of com-
prehensive income in the period in which they arise. Exceptions 
include the interest arising during the installation period, or similar 
items, which are capitalized, plus costs arising in connection with the 
raising of loans, which are distributed over the duration of the loan. 
Capitalized loan expenses are reported in the balance sheet as a 
reduction of the underlying loan obligation.

Leasing
A lease contract in which the financial risks and rewards associated 
with the ownership of an asset are essentially transferred to the Group 
is defined as a financial lease contract. Financial lease contracts are 
reported as fixed assets initially entered at the discounted present 
value of future leasing fees during the lease period or the fair value, 
whichever is the lower. Assets that are utilized through financial lease 
contracts are reported in the balance sheet as tangible fixed assets 
and are depreciated in accordance with the principles for owned tangi-
ble fixed assets. Related commitments are reported as interest-bear-

ing liabilities. Lease fees are distributed between interest and amortiza-
tion of debt. Interest is distributed over the lease period so that each 
accounting period is charged with an amount corresponding to a fixed 
interest rate on the reported liability in each period. Financial lease con-
tracts are depreciated in accordance with the principles applied for 
owned tangible fixed assets. For other lease contracts, the annual 
leasing cost is reported as an operating expense in the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income.

Taxes
Taxes consist of current income tax based on taxable earnings, 
deferred income tax and other taxes, such as tax on returns, and 
adjustments to current income tax in regard to earlier years for the 
Group’s subsidiaries and associated companies. All Group companies 
calculate their income taxes in accordance with the applicable tax laws 
in the countries in which they are active. Unless attributed to an under-
lying transaction that has been reported directly against shareholders’ 
equity or statement of other comprehensive income, income tax is 
reported directly in the consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income. 

The Group applies the balance sheet method to recognize deferred 
income tax liabilities and assets. The balance sheet method means 
that calculations are based on the tax rate applying on the reporting 
date, which is applied to differences between the booked and income 
tax values of assets and liabilities and to losses carry forward. Losses 
carry forward can be utilized to reduce future taxable income. Deferred 
income tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is probable that 
future taxable income will be available to enable the utilization of such 
benefits. Other taxes relate to taxes that do not have the nature of 
income taxes and these are reported elsewhere in the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income.

Government grants
Government grants are recognized in the statement of comprehensive 
income and the statement of financial position when there is reason-
able assurance that the entity will comply with the conditions attached 
to the grant and that the grant will be received. A grant related to 
assets is accounted for in the statement of financial position as a 
reduction of capitalized value of the related asset acquired or con-
structed. A grant related to income is accounted for in the statement of 
comprehensive income as other income or deducted from the related 
expense.

Divestment of shares to non-controlling interest
The effect from divesting shares to a non-controlling interest, within the 
controlling interest, is accounted for as a change in shareholder’s 
equity.

Key estimates and assessments
In preparing the report, certain accounting methods and accounting 
principles must be used, the application of which may be based on dif-
ficult, complex and subjective judgments on the part of company man-
agement, or on previous experience or assumptions judged in the light 
of circumstances to be reasonable and realistic. The use of such esti-
mates and assumptions influences the reported amounts for assets 
and liabilities as well as disclosures regarding contingent assets and 
liabilities at the reporting date and reported net sales and expenses for 
the period. Actual future outcomes may differ from these assess-
ments. The following is a summary of the accounting principles whose 
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application requires extensive subjective judgments on the part of 
company management with regard to estimates and assumptions that 
by their nature are difficult to assess. The estimates and assumptions 
are reviewed regularly.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from sale of services is recognized using the percentage of 
completion method. Revenue is recognized in the accounting period in 
which the services are provided. When the outcome of a transaction 
involving the provision of services can be estimated reliably, revenue 
associated with the service is recognized by reference to the stage of 
completion of the service at the balance sheet date. 

The outcome of a service can be estimated when the amount of 
revenue can be measured accurately and is probable and the stage of 
completion and associated cost can be measured reliably.

When the outcome of the service provision cannot be estimated 
reliably, revenue is recognized only to the extent of the expenses rec-
ognized that are estimated to be recoverable.

Reductions of income due to a cap in service agreement with the 
customer are reported net of total produced service revenue. If the rev-
enue stream cannot be controlled a provision is made when there is a 
risk for production above the cap of the agreement for which no reve-
nue will be received. 

Services that have been delivered but not yet been invoiced are 
reported and recognized as accrued income in the accounts.

Impairment of assets

Goodwill and other assets with an indefinable useful life are subject to 
impairment tests at least annually. All fixed assets and goodwill are 
subject to impairment test whenever events or changes occur that 
indicate that the reported value of an asset may not be recoverable. 
Impairment losses are made with respect to assets that have declined 
in value, down to their recoverable amount based on the best available 
information. Various bases for judgment have been used depending 
on access to information. Where fair values can be established, they 
have been used and the impairment amount has been reported where 
there is an indication that the reported value for an asset cannot be 
recovered. In certain cases, it has been impossible to establish the 
market value and an estimate of fair value has been made by comput-
ing the present value of cash flow based on expected future out-
comes. Differences in estimates of expected future outcomes and dis-
count rates used may result in discrepancies in the valuation of assets. 
Fixed assets, with the exception of goodwill and intangible assets with 
indefinite useful lives, are depreciated straight-line over their estimated 
useful lives.

Company management performs regular revaluations of the useful 
lives of all assets of key significance. It is the understanding of com-
pany management that reasonable changes in the factors that consti-
tute the basis for estimation of the recoverable value of assets should 
not lead to the reported value exceeding the recoverable value.

Taxes

In preparing the financial reports, the Group calculates the relevant 
income tax for each tax jurisdiction in which the Group operates, as 
well as the deferred income taxes attributable to temporary differ-
ences. Deferred income tax assets that are primarily attributable to tax 
losses carry forward and temporary differences are reported if the 
deferred tax assets can be expected to be recoverable through future 
taxable income. Changes in assumptions about forecast future taxable 

income, as well as changes in tax rates, may result in significant differ-
ences in the valuation of deferred income taxes.

Accounts receivable – trade

Receivables are reported net, after allowing for doubtful receivables. 
The net value reflects amounts expected to be recover able based on 
circumstances known on the reporting date. Changed circumstances, 
for example, an increase in defaulted payments or change in the finan-
cial position of a major customer, may entail significant discrepancies 
in valuation.

Compensation following completion of employment

The Group has defined benefit pension plans for a portion of its 
employees in certain countries. Computation of pension costs is 
based on assumptions regarding the discount interest rate and future 
salary increases. Changed assumptions directly impact costs for work 
performed during the current period, interest expenses and expected 
yield from managed assets. Profit or loss, which arises when the actual 
yield from managed assets deviates from the expected and actuarially 
computed obligations are adjusted on the basis of empirically induced 
changes to assumptions, is recognized when it occurs in other 
compre hensive income.

Legal disputes

The Group is involved in legal disputes in the normal course of busi-
ness operations. Such disputes can prove to be costly and time-con-
suming and can disrupt normal operations. In addition, the outcome of 
complicated disputes is difficult to predict. The possibility cannot be 
excluded that a disadvantageous outcome of a dispute may prove to 
have a significant negative impact on the Group’s profits and financial 
position.

Changes in accounting principles for the Group as of 
January 1, 2014
Accounting principles and calculation methods are unchanged from 
those applied in the Annual Report for 2013, except as stated below. 
Capio is applying the following new and revised standards starting in 
2014, none of which have had any impact on the financial position or 
performance of the Group. 
•  IFRS 10 Consolidated financial statements define what constitutes 

control and hence when entities should be consolidated. EU has 
endorsed the standard for annual periods beginning on 1 January 
2014.

•  IFRS 11 joint arrangements identify two different kinds of joint 
arrangements; joint operation, where the owners have rights and 
obligations with regards to an entity’s assets and liabilities, and joint 
venture, where the owners has rights to the net assets of the spe-
cific entity. As part of a joint operation each partner accounts for 
their respective assets and liabilities, expenses and revenues. A 
joint venture is consolidated using the equity method. The standard 
will be effective as of 1 January 2013. EU has endorsed the stan-
dard for annual periods beginning on 1 January 2014.

•  IFRS 12 Disclosure of interests in other entities includes all disclo-
sure require-ments with regards to subsidiaries, associates, joint 
arrangements and structured entities that are not consolidated.  
EU has endorsed the standard for annual periods beginning on  
1 January 2014.

•  IAS 27 Separate Financial Statements. Accounting and disclosures 
with regards to subsidiaries, “joint arrangements”, associates and 
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“unconsolidated structured entities”. EU has endorsed the stan-
dard for annual periods beginning on 1 January 2014.

•  IAS 28 has been renamed to Investments in Associates and joint 
arrangements and describes the application of the equity method 
and focuses on both associ-ates and joint ventures. EU has 
endorsed the standard for annual periods beginning on 1 January 
2014.

•  Amendments to IAS 32 Financial instruments: Classification 
includes a clarification in Application guidance describing when 
you could net financial assets and liabilities. The standard will be 
effective as of 1 January 2014. 

•  The amendment in IAS 36 ”Recoverable Amount Disclosures for 
Non-Financial Assets” should be applied from 1 January 2014 or 
later. In accordance with the amendment more disclosures need to 
be accounted for with regards to assets whose recovery value has 
been calculated using its fair value less cost to sell. 

•  The amendment in IAS 39 ”Novation of Derivatives and Continua-
tion of Hedge Accounting” should be applied from 1 January 2014. 
The amendment introduces a simplification in terms of hedge 
accounting under certain circumstances.

Standards issued but not effective  
until 1 January 2015 for the Group
Standards and interpretation that are issued, but not yet effective, up 
to the date of issuance of the Group’s financial statements are dis-
closed below. The Group intends to adopt these standards when they 
become effective if EU has not decided another date of adoption. 
•  IFRS 9 Financial Instruments; Classification and measurement. 

IFRS 9 will replace IAS 39 and is divided into several sub projects, 
measurement and classification, impairments and hedge account-
ing. It has not been endorsed by EU and the decision has been 
postponed. 

•  IFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts (not endorsed by EU) shall 
be applied as of 1 January 2016 or later. The standard describes 
the accounting for rate regulated assets and liabilities as part of 
businesses active on price regulated markets. IFRS 14 is only a 
temporary solution and is therefore only applicable for first time 
adopters whose rate regulated assets and liabilities where recog-
nized in accordance to previous GAAP. 

•  IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Costumers (will probably be 
endorsed by EU Q2,2015) shall be implemented as of periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2017. In accordance to IFRS 15 
the accounting for revenue will commence when two parties 
makes a deal where one party delivers goods or services to 
another party. The customer agreement will generate an asset 
(rights, promise of payment) and a liability (an obligation/promise to 
deliver goods or services) in the books of the seller. IFRS 15 is nor-
mally described in a five step model.

 Step 1. Contract identification
 Step 2. Identification of performance obligation. 
 Step 3. Determine transaction price 
 Step 4. Allocate transaction price to performance obligations 
  Step 5. Revenue recognition at the time of fulfillment of perfor-

mance obligations

  IFRS 15 could either be implemented using a full retrospective 
approach or a modified retrospective approach.

•  IFRIC 21, Levies should in accordance with EU be implemented in 
periods beginning on or after 17 June 2014. The interpretation clar-
ifies when levies should be accounted for. Levies are fees or taxes 
that the governments take out from companies in order to for 
instance participate in a certain markets.

•  IFRS 10 Consolidated financial statements and IAS 28 Investments 
in associates and joint ventures – modification (will probably be 
endorsed by EU Q3,2015) shall be applied as of periods beginning 
on or after 1 January 2016. The changes clarify the accounting 
effects of loss of control of a subsidiary, classified as a non-busi-
ness in accordance with IFRS 3, and the shares are sold to an 
associate or joint operation accounted for with equity method.

•  IFRS 11 Joint arrangements – modification (will probably be 
endorsed by EU Q1,2015) and applied on or after periods begin-
ning on or after 1 January 2016. The standard demand that a joint 
operation investing in a joint arrangement defined as a business in 
accordance with IFRS 3 should be accounted for in accordance 
with that standard. Former shares in the particular entity should not 
be revalued as long as long joint control still exits.

•  IAS 16 Property, plant and equipment and IAS 38 Intangible assets 
– modification shall be applied as of periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2016. The standard prohibits revenue based depreciations 
with regards to property, plant and equipment and it is very restric-
tive as well for intangible assets, even though it is not prohibited. 

•  IAS 19 Employee benefits – modification (will probably be endorsed 
by EU Q4,2014) shall be applied as of periods beginning on or after 
period beginning of 1 July 2014 or later. The modifications clarify 
when contributions from employees with regards to defined benefit 
plans should reduce the pension cost. 

•  IAS 27 Separate financial reports – modification (will probably be 
endorsed by EU Q3,2015) will be applied for periods beginning on 
or after 1 January 2016. The modification introduces an opportu-
nity for companies to account for associates and joint ventures in 
accordance with the equity method in the statutory accounts. This 
change will most likely not have any effect on statutory accounts in 
Sweden as a consequence of the legal requirements. 

Capio is currently analyzing the potential effects of implementing the 
above new standards and amendments. 
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Notes

Note 1 Distribution of net sales

2014 2013 2012

Sweden 6,501 6,111 4,209

France 4,869 4,552 4,515

Germany 1,120 1,025 995

Norway 621 604 565

UK1 80 121 124

Other 9 7 9

Total 13,200 12,420 10,417

1 The UK business was divested as of 2014.

Note 2 Other operating income

Other operating income 2014 2013 2012

Sale of fixed assets — 10 12

Total — 10 12

Note 3 Restructuring and other non-recurring items

2014 2013 2012

Divestment of group companies 77 120 —

French hospital property divestment 177 — —

Divestment project costs -105 — —

Impairments1 -118 6 -177

Subsidies — 48 —

Restructuring projects including redundancies2 -140 -157 -26

Provision for lease obligations 6 11 -16

Other -25 -8 -22

Total -128 20 -241

1 Impairments in 2014 are related to all operating segments.
2  Restructuring costs in 2014 are related to all operating segments.

Note 4 Salaries, other compensation and social costs
   

2014

Salaries and 
other 

 compensation

Social 
 security 

expenses
Pension 

costs

Total 4,994 1,701 342

Whereof Parent Company, Sweden 4 1 0

2013

Salaries and 
other 

 compensation

Social 
 security 

expenses
Pension 

costs

Total 4,681 1,591 336

Whereof Parent Company, Sweden 2 0 0

2012

Salaries and 
other 

 compensation

Social 
 security 

expenses
Pension 

costs

Total 3,865 1,428 211

Whereof Parent Company, Sweden 2 0 0

Salaries and other compensation

2014
Board and 
President1

(of which 
bonus)

Other 
employees Total

Sweden 37 8 2,556 2,593

France 39 12 1,407 1,446

Germany 5 1 557 562

Norway 5 0 361 366

UK 1 0 26 27

Total 87 21 4,907 4,994

Whereof Parent 
 Company, Sweden 4 0 0 4

2013
Board and 
President1

(of which 
bonus)

Other 
employees Total

Sweden 23 2 2,392 2,415

France 34 5 1,332 1,366

Germany 5 0 496 501

Norway 5 1 339 344

UK 7 1 48 55

Total 74 9 4,607 4,681

Whereof Parent 
 Company, Sweden 2 0 0 2

2012
Board and 
President1

(of which 
bonus)

Other 
employees Total

Sweden 25 2 1,619 1,644

France 31 2 1,339 1,370

Germany 9 1 465 474

Norway 5 1 317 322

UK 7 1 48 55

Total 77 7 3,788 3,865

Whereof Parent 
 Company, Sweden 2 0 0 2

1 Related to all Board and Presidents (CEO's) in the legal companies per country.

Average number of employees

Per country 2014
Number of 
employees

Of whom 
women

Of whom 
men

Sweden 5,394 4,275 1,119

France 5,187 4,485 702

Germany 1,320 1,006 314

Norway 367 285 82

UK 89 62 27

Total 12,357 10,113 2,244

Whereof Parent Company, Sweden 1 0 1

Per country 2013
Number of 
employees

Of whom 
women

Of whom 
men

Sweden 5,094 4,073 1,021

France 5,268 4,563 705

Germany 1,292 986 306

Norway 372 289 83

UK 167 115 52

Total 12,193 10,026 2,167

Whereof Parent Company, Sweden 0 0 0

Per country 2012
Number of 
employees

Of whom 
women

Of whom 
men

Sweden 3,385 2,670 715

France 5,318 4,534 784

Germany 1,266 965 301

Norway 321 250 71

UK 163 110 53

Total 10,453 8,529 1,924

Whereof Parent Company, Sweden 0 0 0
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2014 2013 2012

Total pension expenses for  
pension plans

Funded  
pension 

plans

Unfunded 
post retire-
ment plans

Contribu-
tion plans Total

Funded  
pension 

plans

Unfunded 
post retire-
ment plans

Contribu-
tion plans Total

Funded  
pension 

plans

Unfunded 
post retire-
ment plans

Contribu-
tion plans Total

Benefits accrued during the 
year 24 13 — 37 29 12 — 41 31 10 — 41

Past service cost -9 — — -9 — — — — — — — —

Interest net 3 6 — 9 4 6 — 10 2 7 — 10

Other costs — — — — 0 0 — 0 0 — — 0

Pensions costs, defined- 
benefit plans 18 19 — 37 33 18 — 51 33 17 — 51

Pension premiums for 
defined-compensation and 
direct pensions — — 315 315 0 — 295 295 0 — 169 169

Total pension costs 18 19 315 352 33 18 295 346 33 17 169 220

Most of the employees within Capio are covered by pension and or post retirement 
bene fit plans. Such plans can be either defined-benefit plans or defined-contribution 
plans. The pensions are normally secured through insurance premiums and primarily 
involve retirement pensions and benefits. The post retirement benefit plans in the Group 
are unfunded. Pension and post retirement benefit commitments are calculated on an 
annual basis, as per the closing date and in accordance with actuarial principles. Plan 
assets for the securing of pension commitments are valued at fair value. Actuarial gains 
or losses on pension commitments and plan assets are recognized in other comprehen-
sive income. In Sweden, most pension commitments are secured through plans that 
comprise a number of employers. The largest of these is the ITP plan administered by 
Alecta.

Pension schemes within the Group follow local market practice and/or collective 
agreements. The Group’s funded defined benefit pension plans are KLP in Norway and 
KAP-KL in Sweden. These plans are managed by independent funds, and premiums are 
paid by the company. The premiums are calculated yearly based on the demographic 
and other actuarial changes in the plans. Surpluses in the fund remain in the fund assets 
but can be utilized in the form of reduced premiums under certain circumstances. In 
France the post-retirement benefit plans are unfunded, the company is legally required 
to pay a lump sum to employees when they retire from service.

Information about reporting in connection with Alecta
For employees in Sweden the ITP-2 defined benefit pension plan is secured through an 
insurance in Alecta. According to a statement from the Financial Reporting Council, 
UFR3 Pension plans secured through insurance in Alecta, is a multi-employer defined 
benefit plan. For the financial year 2014 the company has not had access to information 
required to disclose their proportional share of the plans obligations, plan assets and 
costs and as an effect the plan is not possible to account for as a defined benefit plan. 
The pension plan ITP-2 secured through insurance in Alecta is therefore accounted for 
as a defined contribution plan. The premiums for the defined benefit plan is individually 
calculated and are, among other things, depending on salaries, previously earned pen-
sion and expected remaining time of employment. Expected premiums for the next 
reporting period for ITP2 pensions in Alecta amounts to MSEK 62. The Group’s share of 
the total premiums for the plan amounts to 0.42% (2013: 0.47; 2012: 0.36) and the 
Group’s share of the total number of active members of the plan amounts to 0.44%  
(2013: 0.44; 2012: 0.42).

Alecta’s surplus can be distributed to the policy holders and/or to the insured. At the 
end of 2014, Alecta’s surplus in terms of the collective consolidation rate was 144% 
(2013: 148; 2012: 129). The collective consolidation rate consists of the market value of 
Alecta’s assets expressed as a percentage of insurance commitments calculated in 
accordance with Alecta’s actuarial assumptions.

Note 5 Pensions and post retirement plans

2014 2013 2012

Funded  
pension 

plans

Unfunded 
post 

 retirement 
plans Total

Funded  
pension  

plans

Unfunded 
post 

 retirement 
plans Total

Funded  
pension  

plans

Unfunded 
post 

 retirement 
plans Total

Current value of commitments 653 252 905 528 212 740 509 200 709

Fair value of plan assets -527 0 -527 -450 0 -450 -378 0 -378

Net balance sheet liability 126 252 378 78 212 290 131 200 331

Pension commitments

Opening balance 528 212 740 509 200 709 480 164 644

Liabilities assumed upon company acquisitions — 1 1 7 -3 4 — — 0

Service costs – benefits accrued during the year 24 13 37 29 12 41 31 10 41

Past service cost -9 -1 -10 — — — — — —

Interest expenses 23 6 29 18 6 24 17 7 24

Paid benefits -7 -1 -8 -6 -1 -7 -4 -1 -5

Actuarial gains (-)/losses (+) 97 18 115 -18 -3 -21 -15 34 19

Liabilities extinguished on settlement — -11 -11 — -7 -7 — -7 -7

Other -1 — -1 — 0 0 — — 0

Exchange rate differences -2 15 13 -11 8 -3 0 -7 -7

Closing balance 653 252 905 528 212 740 509 200 709

Plan assets

Opening balance 450 — 450 378 0 378 324 0 324

Assets aquired through company aquisitions — — — 6 — 6 — — 0

Expected return on plan assets 20 — 20 14 — 14 15 — 15

Contributed funds from employer 52 — 52 45 — 45 49 — 49

Paid funds -7 — -7 -6 — -6 -4 — -4

Actuarial gains (+)/losses (-) 15 — 15 22 — 22 -2 — -2

Other -2 — -2 — — 0 -5 — -5

Exchange rate differences -1 — -1 -9 — -9 1 — 1

Closing balance 527 0 527 450 0 450 378 0 378

Net liability 126 252 378 78 212 290 131 200 331
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Note 5: Pensions and post retirement plans cont.

Actuarial assumptions, % 2014 2013 2012

Discount interest rate 2.7 3.8 3.3

Inflation 1.8 2.2 2.3

Expected salary increases 2.4 2.5 2.6

Yield on managed assets 2.7 4.1 4.5

The discount interest rate reflects the interest level at which pension and post retirement 
commitments can be redeemed in full. The discount rate is determined in accordance with 
IAS 19 with reference to prime corporate bonds traded in a functioning corporate bond 
market as per IFRS’s view by referring to the Swedish mortgage bond market. Group man-
agement has thus taken the view that the discount rate applied reflects the time value of 
the money and provides a reasonable present value of Capio’s pension commitments. The 
yield from managed assets reflects expected average yield. This level varies with the type 
of placement and market. Expected salary increases are dependent on inflation, seniority 
and advancement. Assessments are based on historical information.

Sensitivity analysis for pension and post retirement commitments
In the valuation of pension and post retirement commitments the essential assumptions 
for the Group are changes in discount interest rate and expected salary increases. The 
summary below shows the sensitivity of a change in the discount interest rate or 
expected salary increase in the expected value for pension and post retirement commit-
ments.

Sensitivity analysis for pension and 
post retirement commitments

Expected value  
for pension and 
post retirement 

commitment

Sensitivity  
compared to the 

used assumption  
in valuation

Commitment originally used in valuation 905

Discount interest rate +0.5% 829 -76

Discount interest rate -0.5% 992 87

Expected salary increase +1% 973 68

Specification of plan assets  
per investment category 2014 % 2013 % 2012 %

Equities 170 32.3 134 29.8 143 37.8

Bonds 307 58.3 268 59.6 214 56.6

Other 50 9.4 48 10.6 22 5.6

Total 527 100.0 450 100.0 378 100.0

Note 6 Financial items

2014 2013 2012

Interest income 22 31 30

Total 22 31 30

Interest expenses -270 -351 -319

Total -270 -351 -319

   
2014 2013 2012

Dividends 2 1 1

Exchange rate differences — — —

Other financial income — — 8

Total other financial income 2 1 9

Exchange rate differences -6 -11 -37

Other financial expenses1 -74 -50 -45

Total other financial expenses -80 -61 -82

Total other financial items -78 -60 -73

1  Other financial expenses in 2014 include a write off of capitalized borrowing cost rela-
ted to the debt amortization following the French SLB transaction.

Note 7 Income tax

Tax expense for the year divided among 
current and deferred income tax: 2014 2013 2012

Current income tax1 -468 -116 -92

Deferred income tax1 380 19 102

Income tax expenses -88 -97 10

1  Effects from the French SLB transaction significantly impact both current- and defer-
red income tax in 2014 as noted in the Administrative report on page 48 (income tax 
comment). 
Estimated tax on profit for the year in Sweden has been calculated at 22%. Tax for 
other countries has been calculated in accordance with the tax rates in use locally. 
The primary differences between the statutory corporate tax in Sweden and the effec-
tive tax for the Group were:

Origin of reported tax costs 2014 % 2013 % 2012 %

Profit/loss before tax 81 152 -180

Tax calculated at Swedish tax 
rate of 22% -18 22 -34 22 47 26

Difference between tax rate in 
Sweden and abroad -48 59 -40 26 5 3

Adjustment of current tax from 
earlier periods 4 -5 -1 0 -11 -6

Tax related to non-deductible 
items -83 102 -45 30 -43 -24

Non-taxable income 50 -62 39 -26 1 1

Changed valuation of temporary 
differences1 5 -6 -18 12 1 1

Changed tax rate in Sweden2 — — — — 15 8

Other 2 -2 2 -1 -5 -3

Reported tax expenses -88 109 -97 64 10 6

1  Of which MSEK 5 (2013: -18; 2012: -1) relate to income tax losses not  recognized in 
this year and for prior years.

2  The tax rate in Sweden was changed from 26.3% to 22% effective as from 1 January 
2013.

In addition to the tax expense for the year reported in the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income, deferred tax income of MSEK 29 (2013: cost 34; 2012: cost 22) 
were recognized in other comprehensive income for the year. A significant part of the 
deferred tax recognized in other comprehensive income is attributable to revaluation 
reserve, cash flow hedging and revaluation of defined benefit plans.
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Deferred tax assets attributable to the following 
temporary  differences and losses carried forward: 2014 2013 2012

Jan-Dec  
2014

Jan-Dec  
2013

Jan-Dec  
2012

Deferred tax assets attributable to:

Fixed assets 163 171 187 -8 -16 57

Long-term financial liabilities 103 124 116 -21 8 9

Current assets 23 20 20 3 0 4

Deductible differences, provisions 83 55 82 28 -27 -19

Losses carried forward 508 478 499 30 -21 -32

Other deductible differences 20 16 16 4 0 -5

Deferred tax assets, gross 900 864 920 36 -56 14

Valuation allowance -457 -465 -496 8 31 30

Deferred tax assets, net 443 399 424 44 -25 44

      
Deferred tax liabilities attributable to the following 
temporary differences and losses carried forward: 2014 2013 2012

Jan-Dec  
2014

Jan-Dec  
2013

Jan-Dec  
2012

Deferred tax liabilities  attributable to:

Fixed assets1 591 912 915 -321 -3 25

Deductible differences, provisions 3 9 9 -6 0 1

Deferred tax on untaxed reserves 3 4 10 -1 -6 -2

Other deductible differences 31 46 25 -15 21 5

Other taxable differences 25 25 32 0 -7 0

Deferred tax liabilities 653 996 991 -343 5 28

1 Change in 2014 compared to prior years mainly relates to the French SLB transaction.

Maturity structure for deferred tax assets related to  
losses carried forward: 2014 2013 2012

Matures within one – five years — — —

Matures in more than five years 6 — —

No maturity date 502 478 499

Closing balance 508 478 499

Unreported tax assets 2014 2013 2012

Losses carried forward 440 450 483

Other temporary differences 17 15 13

Total 457 465 496

It has been deemed that unreported tax assets will not be utilized within the foreseeable future. Taxable temporary differences exist with regard to shares of subsidiaries. Because there 
is no plan in the foreseeable future to sell the companies, deferred tax has not been reported for these differences.

Note 8 Net profit/loss for the year attributable to non-controlling interest

Non-controlling interest share of net profit after tax amounted to MSEK -2 (2013: 2; 
2012: 1) and of total comprehensive income MSEK -2 (2013: 2; 2012: 1). At year-end, 
the non-controlling interest share of shareholders’ equity amounted to MSEK 20 (2013: 
24; 2012: 23). 

Note 9 Goodwill

The Group tests goodwill for impairment on at least an annual basis, and otherwise 
when changes in events or situations indicate that the carrying amount cannot be recov-
ered. If such a test indicates that the carrying amount is too high, a recoverable amount 
is established for the asset, which is the higher of net realisable value and value in use. 
An impairment loss is calculated based on the difference between the carrying amount 
and the estimated recoverable amount. When calculating the value in use, a number of 
key assumptions and assessments must be made to estimate future cash flows.

Key assumptions and assessments consist primarily of future income, expenses, 
market growth, investments and discount rate. The time period for which future cash 
flows are forecast is the current 4 year plan from 2015 to 2018, after which a growth rate 
of 2.0% (2013: 2.5; 2012: 2.5) is applied. Management establishes the discount rate in 
accordance with a principle, whereby consideration is given to time values and specific 
risks related to each cash-generating unit, the discount rate pre tax has been in range of 
7.2-8.3% (2013: 8.6-9.5; 2012: 8.4-9.0).

The Group’s goodwill is mainly attributable to the Capio AB acquisition made in 
2006. There was no need to recognize an impairment loss on the closing date. Reason-
able changes to assumptions applied in the impairment test did not change the conclu-
sion of the test, for example a 1% increase in risk free interest rate or a decrease of 10% 
of net cash flow.

2014 2013 2012

Opening acquisition value 5,189 5,035 4,547

Acquisitions during the year 34 30 623

Divestments/reclassification 0 15 -28

Translation differences 194 109 -107

Closing accumulated acquisition value 5,417 5,189 5,035

Opening impairment losses -42 -42 —

Impairment during the year — — -42

Divestments/reclassification — — —

Translation differences — — —

Closing accumulated impairment -42 -42 -42

Closing carrying amount, according to plan 5,375 5,147 4,993

Goodwill has been distributed among the various segments.

Consolidated goodwill items 2014 2013 2012

Nordic 2,155 2,121 2,101

France 2,687 2,525 2,414

Germany 533 501 478

Total 5,375 5,147 4,993

Note 7: Income tax cont.
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2014 Brand
Healthcare 

 contracts
Other intangible 

assets 1 Total

Opening acquisition value 1,134 825 322 2,281

Assets in acquired units — — 0 0

Purchases during the year — 31 42 73

Divestments/reclassifications — 6 -9 -3

Translation differences 46 — 15 61

Closing accumulated acquisition values 1,180 862 370 2,412

Opening amortization 0 -514 -201 -715

Assets in acquired units — — 0 0

Amortization for the year — -71 -33 -104

Divestments/reclassifications — -1 7 6

Translation differences — — -10 -10

Closing accumulated amortization 0 -586 -237 -823

Closing carrying amount 1,180 276 133 1,589

1 Other intangible rights primarily consist of capitalized software costs.

Of the net book value a total amount of MSEK 1,446 relate to intangible assets recognized as part of business combinations.

2013 Brand
Healthcare 

 contracts
Other intangible 

assets 1 Total

Opening acquisition value 1,108 825 331 2,264

Assets in acquired units — — 0 0

Purchases during the year — — 31 31

Divestments/reclassifications — — -44 -44

Translation differences 26 — 4 30

Closing accumulated acquisition values 1,134 825 322 2,281

Opening amortization 0 -458 -170 -628

Assets in acquired units — — 0 0

Amortization for the year — -56 -29 -85

Divestments/reclassifications — — 2 2

Translation differences — — -4 -4

Closing accumulated amortization 0 -514 -201 -715

Closing carrying amount 1,134 311 121 1,566

1 Other intangible rights primarily consist of capitalized software costs.

Of the net book value a total amount of MSEK 1,445 relate to intangible assets recognized as part of business combinations.

2012 Brand
Healthcare 

 contracts
Other intangible 

assets 1 Total

Opening acquisition value 1,134 452 302 1,888

Assets in acquired units — — 3 3

Purchases during the year — 373 36 409

Divestments/reclassifications — — -2 -2

Translation differences -26 0 -8 -34

Closing accumulated acquisition values 1,108 825 331 2,264

Opening amortization 0 -394 -146 -540

Assets in acquired units — — -2 -2

Amortization for the year — -64 -28 -92

Divestments/reclassifications — — 2 2

Translation differences — — 4 4

Closing accumulated amortization 0 -458 -170 -628

Closing carrying amount 1,108 367 161 1,636

1 Other intangible rights primarily consist of capitalized software costs.

Of the net book value a total amount of MSEK 1,476 relate to intangible assets recognized as part of business combinations.

Note 10 Other intangible assets
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Note 11 Equipment, tools, fixtures and fittings

2014 2013 2012

Opening acquisition value 3,817 3,545 3,378

Assets in acquired/divested units -73 9 144

Purchases during the year 310 319 278

Sales/disposals for the year -173 -145 -156

Reclassifications 40 5 -6

Translation differences 183 84 -93

Closing accumulated acquisition value 4,104 3,817 3,545

Opening depreciation -2,807 -2,577 -2,358

Depreciation in acquired/divested units 63 -4 -98

Depreciation for the year -299 -289 -278

Sales/disposals for the year 119 126 100

Reclassifications 8 0 -7

Translation differences -138 -63 64

Closing accumulated depreciation -3,054 -2,807 -2,577

Opening impairment -110 -93 -97

Impairment for the year -34 -13 0

Reversal of impairment – – –

Translation differences -6 -4 4

Closing accumulated impairment -150 -110 -93

Closing carrying amount 900 900 875

Note 12 Buildings and land

Buildings 2014 2013 2012

Opening acquisition value 4,630 4,383 3,956

Assets in acquired/divested units -131 3 42

Purchases during the year 134 244 438

Sales for the year1 -2,112 -98 5

Reclassifications -57 -30 73

Translation differences 189 128 -131

Closing accumulated acquisition value 2,653 4,630 4,383

Opening depreciation -1,622 -1,441 -1,218

Depreciation in acquired/divested units 105 0 -26

Depreciation for the year -155 -192 -179

Sales for the year1 465 26 6

Reclassifications 4 22 -62

Translation differences -81 -37 38

Closing accumulated depreciation -1,284 -1,622 -1,441

Opening impairment -93 -107 -110

Impairment in acquired/divested units 10 0 0

Impairment for the year -73 0 -16

Sales for the year1 3 0 16

Reversal of impairment 4 14 0

Reclassifications 0 0 0

Translation differences -7 0 3

Closing accumulated impairment -156 -93 -107

Closing carrying amount 1,213 2,915 2,835

Of the closing residual value according to plan, MSEK 320 (2013: 1,160; 2012: 1,104) is 
attributable to financial leasing contracts.

Land and land improvements 2014 2013 2012

Opening acquisition value 814 839 904

Assets in acquired/divested units -2 0 0

Purchases during the year 0 2 15

Sales for the year1 -429 -55 -50

Reclassifications -2 0 0

Translation differences 38 28 -30

Closing accumulated acquisition value 419 814 839

Opening depreciation -5 -5 -5

Depreciation in acquired/divested units — — —

Depreciation for the year 0 0 0

Sales for the year1 1 — —

Reclassifications — — —

Translation differences 0 0 0

Closing accumulated depreciation -4 -5 -5

Opening impairment -180 -186 -40

Impairment in acquired/divested units 0 0 0

Impairment for the year 0 0 -162

Sales for the year1 -1 0 13

Reversal of impairment 0 12 —

Reclassifications — — —

Translation differences -12 -6 3

Closing accumulated impairment -193 -180 -186

Closing carrying amount 222 629 648

Sum Buildings and land 1,435 3,544 3,483

1 Sales for the year in 2014 mainly relates to the French SLB transaction.
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Note 13 Financial fixed assets

2014 2013 2012

Long-term holdings in securities

Opening acquisition value 33 32 37

Assets in acquired units 0 0 1

Sales for the year -1 — -4

Impairment losses — — -1

Translation differences 3 1 -1

Closing carrying amount 35 33 32

Long-term receivables

Opening acquisition value 101 72 72

Assets in acquired units — — 15

Sales for the year -1 0 -13

Lending during the year 37 6 —

Amortization during the year -5 -14 —

Revaluations during the year -1 — —

Reclassifications — 36 —

Translation differences 4 1 -2

Closing carrying amount 135 101 72

Total financial fixed assets 170 134 104

Whereof interest-bearing 30 2 2

Whereof non-interest-bearing 140 132 102

Note 14 Accounts receivables and other receivables

2014 2013 2012

Accounts receivables 680 677 610

Prepaid expenses and accrued income 800 656 595

Other receivables 253 254 290

Total 1,733 1,587 1,495

Provisions for doubtful receivables relating to accounts receivable amounted to MSEK 
62 (2013: 63; 2012: 46). Reported provisions are based on historical experience and 
individual assessments and were charged against earnings in the respective period. 
Management deems that the carrying amount of accounts receivable, prepaid expenses 
and accrued income, as well as other receivables, corresponds to the fair value. Man-
agement deems that there is no specific credit risk related to outstanding accounts 
receivable. Management bases this assessment on the fact that no individual customer 
accounts for a dominant share of outstanding accounts receivable. The average credit 
period normally amounts to 30–90 days.

2014 2013 2012

Provisions at the opening date 63 46 38

Provisions in acquired/sold units –2 0 6

Provisions for anticipated losses 3 5 3

Actual losses 1 9 9

Recovered claims -6 -6 -9

Other 1 -2 0

Reclassifications — 10 —

Translation differences 2 1 -1

Provisions at the closing date 62 63 46

The year's costs for doubtful receivables amounted to MSEK 2 (2013: 8; 2012: 9). Provi-
sions for doubtful accounts receivable amounted to 8 % (2013: 9; 2012: 5) of total 
accounts receivable at the closing date.

Maturity periods for accounts receivables

Accounts receivables overdue but not 
impaired 2014 2013 2012

Less than 30 days overdue 190 194 233

30 – 90 days overdue 48 48 53

91–120 days overdue 10 12 12

More than 120 days overdue 59 51 36

Total 307 305 334

There were no other overdue receivables at the closing date.
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Note 15 Interest-bearing liabilities and provisions

The Group's external borrowing in MSEK and 
 average  interest (%) paid 2014 % 2013 % 2012 %

Commitments in financial leasing EUR 471 3.2 945 3.1 934 3.9

SEK 37 3.5 22 3.7 9 4.5

NOK 96 4.1 98 4.6 99 5.1

Total 604 3.4 1,065 3.3 1,042 4.0

Bank loans                                        EUR 3,036 4.6 4,005 6.1 2,737 6.2

SEK 321 5.3 435 5.7 1,234 6.1

Total 3,357 4.7 4,440 6.0 3,971 6.2

Other loans                                       EUR 70 106 245

SEK 3 2 15

NOK – – 8

Total 73 108 268

Total MSEK 4,034 5,613 5,281

In local currency, MLOC: 2014 2013 2012

EUR 376 565 454

SEK 361 459 1,258

NOK 91 93 92

Long-term liabilities, interest-bearing 2014 2013 2012

Maturity periods

1–2 years 38 72 2,099

2–3 years 2,935 58 1,453

3–4 years 569 4,237 470

4–5 years 52 457 62

Longer than 5 years 372 720 741

Total 3,966 5,544 4,825

Current liabilities, interest-bearing 68 69 456

Total interest-bearing liabilities 4,034 5,613 5,281
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Note 16 Financial instruments

Financing and financial risk management 
Financing of the Group primarily takes place via bank loans, but also through financial 
and operating leasing. The Group's main financing source is a Senior Facilities Agree-
ment (SFA), syndicated to an international group of banks and institutions. This was 
entered into in conjunction with the acquisition of the Group in November 2006. 

Total utilized amount under the syndicated loan was MSEK 3,418 (2013: 4,547; 
2012: 4,050) as of 31 December 2014 and MSEK 1,366 (2013: 1,355; 2012: 199) unuti-
lized. The unutilized facilities were the Revolver Facility with MSEK 550 (2013: 550; 
2012: 125) and the Acquisition Facility with MSEK 816 (2013: 805; 2012: 74). As per 
June 3 2013 the loan tranches under the SFA have been extended to November 2017 
for the senior facilities, 92% of total SFA and to February 2018 for Second Lien, 8% of 
total SFA. As per July 31 2014 net proceeds from the sale of the seven French hospital 
properties (French SLB transaction) were used to make a mandatory prepayment of the 
SFA tranches (except for 2nd Lien) of in total MSEK 1,392 (MEUR 151). Financial leases 
with a total value of MSEK 478 (MEUR 52) were divested to the new lessors. The Group 
has as part of the credit agreement undertaken to maintain certain financial covenants. 
The most important covenants are consolidated net debt in relation to operating earn-
ings before depreciation and amortizations (EBITDA) and free cash flow excluding finan-
cial payments in relation to financial payments (interest costs and loan amortizations) i.e. 
debt service. As of year-end 2014 all covenants were met.

In addition to the syndicated loan the Group has overdraft credit facilities under short 
term committments of MSEK 428 (2013: 403; 2012: 560) as of 31 December whereof 
MSEK 0 (2013: 28; 2012: 167) was utilized and MSEK 428 (2013: 375; 2012: 393) was 
unutilized at the end of the year. In total the Group had MSEK 978 (2013: 925; 2012: 
549) of unutilized credit lines and short term commitments as of 31 December.

Exchange rate risk
Exchange rate movements affect the Group’s earnings and equity in various ways either as 
transaction risk or translation risk. Transaction risks arise on commercial flows in foreign 
currency that are exchanged into another currency. Business operations normally only 
involve income and costs in local currency, since the Group provides services in local mar-
kets. This means that commercial currency flows are very limited in the Group. Currency 
effects from transaction exposure on operating income of subsidiaries therefore amount to 
small sums. During the financial year currency effects amounted to net expense of MSEK 
5 (expenses: 2013: 11; 2012: 37), (income of MSEK 0 and expenses of MSEK 5).

In translating the earnings and net assests of foreign subsidiaries into SEK, a cur-
rency exposure arises that may affect consolidated earnings and equity. Changes in 
exchange rates between EUR and SEK are the primary reason for translation differences 
in consolidated equity. To limit currency exposure, the currency mix in the Group's cash 
flow is matched with the interest-bearing gross debt and thereby creating a natural 
hedge for servicing the debt.

The consolidated income statement is also affected by translation of earnings in 
subsidiaries. This effect is not hedged.

Interest rate risk
The Group’s income derives primarily from contracts with prices that are normally 
adjusted annually and usually track each country’s inflation and economic trends. Ongo-
ing operations are normally financed using variable or short interest periods (up to 3 
months). Use of longer interest periods are determined case by case based on prevailing 
conditions in order to minimize interest risks. The Group has entered into interest rate 
hedges for 28% of its borrowings under the SFA agreement for the period until October 
2015. In addition to this the Group has also hedged approximately 68% of its long term 
property financing under financial leasing in France for a period up until September 
2025.

In order to reduce interest risk and achieve the desired interest rate periods in the 
debt portfolio, financial instruments are used, primarily in the form of swap agreements. 
Interest derivatives, primarily interest rate swaps, are used in conjunction with the SFA.

Derivates contracts with a nominal value of MSEK 972 (2013: 914; 2012: 4,078) had 
an average fixed interest rate of 0.54% (2013: 2.44; 2012: 3.91) and an average variable 
interest rate of 0.21% (2013: 0.21; 2012: 0.94). The estimated fair value of current inter-
est rate derivatives amounted to MSEK -5 (2013: -3; 2012: -62) on the closing date. This 
amount was based on current market listings. These interest rate derivates satisfy the 
requirements for hedge accounting, meaning that changes in fair value are recognized in 
other comprehensive income. For interest rate derivates that are not deemed to satisfy 
the requirements for hedge accounting, changes in fair value are recognized in the con-
solidated statment of comprehensive income.

Financing and liquidity risk
Financing risk is the risk that costs become higher and that financing options may be 
limited when loans are renewed and that payment obligations cannot be fulfilled due to 
insufficient liquidity or difficulty in raising financing. To minimise the refinancing risk, i.e. 
the risk of not having access to long term financing, not more than half of the committed 
credit facilities of the Group should fall due within two years. The long-term credit facili-
ties should be refinanced no later than 12 months prior to expiration. The liquidity risk is 
minimized by having cash and unused credit lines corresponding to minimum 5% of 
annual Group sales.

Apart from the credit facilities described above, the Group has no short-term credit 
undertakings.

Credit and counterparty risk
Credit risks may arise if a counterparty does not fulfil its obligations according to signed 
agreements. The risk that a counterparty will not fulfill its obligations according to finan-
cial contracts is limited through the selection of credit-worthy counterparties and by lim-
iting the commitment per counterparty. The Group’s cash and cash equivalents are 
placed in bank accounts or deposited with reputable banks or in marketable securities 
issued or secured by governments or reputable banks. 

Financial instruments
Fair value
The fair values of Capio Group's interest-bearing financial assets and liabilities are summarized in the table below:

2014 2013 2012

Book value Fair value Book value Fair value Book value Fair value

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 561 561 207 207 95 95

Financial fixed assets, interest-bearing 30 30 2 2 2 2

Short-term investments and interest-bearing  
receivables 22 22 2 2 2 2

Financial liabilities

Commitments in financial leasing 604 620 1,065 1,106 1,042 1,085

Bank loans 3,357 3,418 4,440 4,547 3,971 4,050

Other loans 73 73 108 108 268 268

Interest rate derivatives 5 5 3 3 62 62

Accounts receivable and accounts payable trade are excluded from the list as the fair 
value represent the booked value. Additional information of accounts receivables, see 
Note 14. 

Bank loans have variable interest rates and thus expose the Group to cash flow risks 
in interest payments. The Group's portfolio of interest rate derivatives had a nominal value 
of MSEK 970 (2013: 914; 2012: 4,078) at 31 December 2014. 

The difference between the book value and the fair value regarding commitments in 
financial leasing and bank loans relate to capitlized borrowing costs. 

The fair value of the interest rate derivatives MSEK -5 (2013: -3; 2012: -62) were val-
ued using the mid point of the yield curve prevailing on the reporting date and represent 
the net present value of the difference between the contracted rate and the valuation rate 
when applied to the projected balances for the period from the reporting date to the con-
tracted expiry dates.
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The fair values of the Group's interest rate derivatives, which consist of interest rate swaps as of 31 December 2014, are summarized below.

Derivative  
2014 Currency Hedged value Hedged value in MSEK Fair value

Interest swaps MEUR 102 970 -5

Total -5

Whereof recognized under other comprehensive income -5

Whereof recognized at fair value in the income statement —

   
Derivative  
2013 Currency Hedged value Hedged value in MSEK Fair value

Interest swaps MEUR 102 914 -3

Total -3

Whereof recognized under other comprehensive income –3

Whereof recognized at fair value in the income statement —

Derivative  
2012 Currency Hedged value Hedged value in MSEK Fair value

Interest swaps MEUR 197 1,701 -55

MSEK 324 324 -6

MNOK 42 49 -1

Basis swaps MEUR 195 1,680 0

MSEK 324 324 0

Total -62

Whereof recognized under other comprehensive income -62

Whereof recognized at fair value in the income statement –

Maturity period

31 December 2014 
Derivative maturity periods Within 1 year 1–2 years 2–3 years 3–4 years 4–5 years >5 years Total

Interest swaps 952 — — — — 18 970

Maturity period

31 December 2013 
Derivative maturity periods Within 1 year 1–2 years 2–3 years 3–4 years 4–5 years >5 years Total

Interest swaps — 895 — — — 19 914

Maturity period

31 December 2012 
Derivative maturity periods Within 1 year 1–2 years 2–3 years 3–4 years 4–5 years >5 years Total

Interest swaps 2,054 — — — — 20 2,074

Basis swaps 2,004 — — — — — 2,004

Sensitivity analysis of interest rate risks
Changes in market interest rates affect the Group’s interest income and expenses. The 
summary below shows the effect of a change in market interest rates in the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income.

Per cent 2014 2013 2012

Market interest rate (+/-) 1 27 44 14

Sensitivity analysis for exchange rate risk
Changes in exchange rates impact the Group’s finances and financial position. The sum-
mary below shows the effect that exchange rate fluctuations have on the Group’s con-
solidated statement of comprehensive income.

The most important currency is EUR for which a change of +10% has the f ollowing 
effect:

2014 2013 2012

Consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income – net profit/loss 8 18 -17

Shareholders’ equity 301 277 247

Interest income and interest expense from financial instruments
The table below shows interest income and interest expense related to all financial 
assets and financial liabilities.

2014 2013 2012

Interest income from financial assets 2 17 14

Interest expense from financial liabilities -240 -325 -290

Total -238 -308 -276

The reason why expenses differ from the reported net interest in net financial items is 
mainly because interest income and expenses attributable to  pensions are excluded.

Net gains/losses for financial instruments reported in the statement  
of comprehensive income
The table below shows gains and losses attributable to:

Net gains/losses 2014 2013 2012

Exchange rate differences -6 -11 -37

Derivatives for which hedge  accounting  
is not applied — — —

Total -6 -11 -37

Note 16: Financial instruments cont.
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Inefficiency in hedge accounting
The table below shows the net gains and losses for the loans and interest swaps 
reported at fair value:

Net gain/loss  
Hedge accounting at fair value 2014 2013 2012

Financial liabilities (hedged item) 2 -59 -46

Interest-related derivatives  
(hedging instruments) -2 59 46

Total (ineffectiveness) 0 0 0

Maturity structure of financial liabilities

2014 2013 2012

<1 month — — —

1–3 months 17 10 14

3–12 months 51 59 443

Total 0–12 months 68 69 457

1–2 years 38 72 2,099

2–3 years 2,935 58 1,453

3–4 years 569 4,237 470

4–5 years 52 457 62

Longer than 5 years 372 720 741

Total 1–5 years 3,966 5,544 4,825

The maturity structure consist exclusively of interest-bearing liabilities.

Categorization 2014

ASSETS (MSEK)

Valued at fair 
value in the con-
solidated state-

ment of compre-
hensive income

Derivative 
identified 

as hedging 
instrument

Investment  
held until  
maturity

Loans and 
receivables

Financial  
assets   

available  
for sale

Other  
financial 

assets

Non- 
financial 

assets TOTAL

Goodwill 5,375 5,375

Other intangible assets 1,589 1,589

Intangible assets 6,964

Buildings and land 1,435 1,435

Equipment, tools, fixtures and fittings 900 900

Tangible assets 2,335

Financial fixed assets,  interest-bearing 30 30

Financial fixed assets,  non-interest-bearing 140 140

Deferred income tax assets 443 443

Financial fixed assets 613

Total fixed assets 9,912

Inventories 210 210

Accounts receivables – trade 680 680

Other receivables 253 253

Other receivables from group companies 2 2

Prepaid expenses and accrued income 800 800

Short-term investments and  
interest-bearing receivables 22 22

Cash and cash equivalents 561 561

Total current assets 2,528

Total assets 1,293 140 11,007 12,440

LIABILITIES (MSEK)

Valued at fair 
value in the con-
solidated state-

ment of compre-
hensive income

Derivative 
 identified as 

hedging 
 instrument

Other   
financial 
 liabilities

Non- 
financial 
 liabilities TOTAL

Provisions for employee benefits 378 378

Provisions, non-interest-bearing 172 172

Deferred income tax liabilities 653 653

Long-term liabilities, interest-bearing 3,966 3,966

Long-term liabilities, non-interest-bearing 2 18 20

Total long-term liabilities and provisions 5,189

Current liabilities, interest-bearing 68 68

Advance payments from customers 56 56

Accounts payable – trade 625 625

Other current liabilities 3 541 544

Accrued expenses and prepaid income 1,500 1,500

Total current liabilities 2,793

Total liabilities and provisions 5 4,733 3,244 7,982

Note 16: Financial instruments cont.
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Categorization 2013

ASSETS (MSEK)

Valued at fair 
value in the con-
solidated state-

ment of compre-
hensive income

Derivative 
identified 

as hedging 
instrument

Investment  
held until  
maturity

Loans and 
receivables

Financial  
assets   

available  
for sale

Other  
financial 

assets

Non- 
financial 

assets TOTAL

Goodwill 5,147 5,147

Other intangible assets 1,566 1,566

Intangible assets 6,713

Buildings and land 3,544 3,544

Equipment, tools, fixtures and fittings 900 900

Tangible assets 4,444

Financial fixed assets,  interest-bearing 2 2

Financial fixed assets,  non-interest-bearing 132 132

Deferred income tax assets 399 399

Financial fixed assets 533

Total fixed assets 11,690

Inventories 187 187

Accounts receivables – trade 677 677

Other receivables 254 254

Other receivables from group companies 1 1

Prepaid expenses and accrued income 656 656

Short-term investments and  
interest-bearing receivables 2 2

Cash and cash equivalents 207 207

Total current assets 1,984

Total assets 888 132 12,654 13,674

LIABILITIES (MSEK)

Valued at fair 
value in the con-
solidated state-

ment of compre-
hensive income

Derivative 
 identified as 

hedging 
 instrument

Other   
financial 
 liabilities

Non- 
financial 
 liabilities TOTAL

Provisions for employee benefits 290 290

Provisions, non-interest-bearing 171 171

Deferred income tax liabilities 996 996

Long-term liabilities, interest-bearing 5,544 5,544

Long-term liabilities, non-interest-bearing 3 20 23

Total long-term liabilities and provisions 7,024

Current liabilities, interest-bearing 69 69

Advance payments from customers 68 68

Accounts payable – trade 551 551

Other current liabilities 7 532 539

Accrued expenses and prepaid income 1,325 1,325

Total current liabilities 2,552

Total liabilities and provisions 10 6,252 3,314 9,576

Note 16: Financial instruments cont.
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Categorization 2012

ASSETS (MSEK)

Valued at fair 
value in the con-
solidated state-

ment of compre-
hensive income

Derivative 
identified 

as hedging 
instrument

Investment  
held until  
maturity

Loans and 
receivables

Financial  
assets   

available  
for sale

Other  
financial 

assets

Non- 
financial 

assets TOTAL

Goodwill 4,993 4,993

Other intangible assets 1,636 1,636

Intangible assets 6,629

Buildings and land 3,483 3,483

Equipment, tools, fixtures and fittings 875 875

Tangible assets 4,358

Financial fixed assets,  interest-bearing 2 2

Financial fixed assets,  non-interest-bearing 102 102

Deferred income tax assets 424 424

Financial fixed assets 528

Total fixed assets 11,515

Inventories 169 169

Accounts receivables – trade 610 610

Other receivables 290 290

Other receivables from group companies 1 1

Prepaid expenses and accrued income 595 595

Short-term investments and  
interest-bearing receivables 2 2

Cash and cash equivalents 95 95

Total current assets 1,762

Total assets 709 102 12,466 13,277

LIABILITIES (MSEK)

Valued at fair 
value in the con-
solidated state-

ment of compre-
hensive income

Derivative 
 identified as 

hedging 
 instrument

Other   
financial 
 liabilities

Non- 
financial 
 liabilities TOTAL

Provisions for employee benefits 331 331

Provisions, non-interest-bearing 166 166

Deferred income tax liabilities 991 991

Long-term liabilities, interest-bearing 4,825 4,825

Long-term liabilities, non-interest-bearing 2 37 39

Total long-term liabilities and provisions 6,352

Current liabilities, interest-bearing 456 456

Short-term liabilities to group companies 172 172

Advance payments from customers 56 56

Accounts payable – trade 614 614

Other current liabilities 61 559 620

Accrued expenses and prepaid income 1,255 1,255

Total current liabilities 3,173

Total liabilities and provisions 63 6,160 3,302 9,525

Note 16: Financial instruments cont.
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Note 17 Other non-interest-bearing items

2014 2013 2012

Prepaid expenses and accrued income

Prepaid rent 156 82 77

Accrued income 564 488 436

Other 80 86 82

Total 800 656 595

Non-interest-bearing provisions

Deferred tax liability 653 996 991

Provision for supplementary  purchase 
 payments 22 16 20

Other 150 155 146

Total 825 1,167 1,157

Long-term interest-free liabilities, external

Maturity periods:

1–2 years 3 3 10

2–3 years 2 2 2

3–4 years 2 2 2

4–5 years 1 2 2

More than 5 years 10 11 21

Total 18 20 37

Fair value of financial instruments 2 3 2

Total 20 23 39

Accrued expenses and prepaid income

Holiday pay liabilities 284 266 252

Other personnel-related expenses 472 385 392

Interest and financial expenses 37 28 29

Prepaid income 85 133 151

Other accrued expenses 622 513 431

Total 1,500 1,325 1,255

Note 18 Provisions

Non-interest-bearing provisions  
(excl. deferred tax liability) 2014 2013 2012

Opening provision value 171 166 231

Provisions in acquired units — 0 0

Reversal of provisions -30 -13 -54

Utilized funds -20 -41 -52

Provisions for the year 45 11 45

Reclassifications 1 45 —

Translation differences 5 3 -4

Total 172 171 166

Note 19 Pledged assets

For own debts and provisions 2014 2013 2012

Shares in subsidiaries1 10,273 10,527 9,618

Cash and cash equivalents 17 17 17

Chattel mortgages — 48 63

Property mortgages 1,270 1,170 1,132

Endowment insurance 38 39 37

Total 11,598 11,801 10,867

1  The main part of the pledged shares, including branding amounting to MSEK 1,180 
(2013: 1,134; 2012: 1,108), relates to long-term liabilities to credit institutions. 

Note 20 Contingent liabilities

2014 2013 2012

Guarantee commitments 7 3 4

Total 7 3 4

Note 21 Shares in subsidiaries

For information regarding subsidiaries, see Note 11 in the Parent Company notes.

Note 22 Audit fees

The following fees were paid to auditing firms for conducting audits and other review 
measures in accordance with prevailing legislation and for advisory services and other 
assistance related to observations from the auditing measures conducted. Fees were 
also paid for independent advisory services conducted by elected auditors and other 
auditing firms within the areas of taxation, financial services and other consulting ser-
vices. Auditors are elected at the Annual General Meeting for a period of four years.

Fees to elected auditors 2014 2013 2012

Fees for audit conducted by elected auditors 
Ernst & Young 13 11 11

Fees for audit in addition to the audit 
 assignment performed by Ernst & Young 5 1 —

Fees for audit-related services performed by 
Ernst & Young 16 — —

Fees for tax-related services performed by 
elected auditors Ernst & Young 2 2 2

Fees for audit conducted by elected auditors, 
other auditing firms 1 1 1

Fees for other consulting services performed 
by Ernst & Young 4 2 4

Total 41 17 18

Audit
Auditing services primarily relate to auditing of the Group companies' accounts, review 
of interim reports, IT systems and other review measures in accordance with prevailing 
regulations performed by elected auditors to provide an auditor’s report for the Group’s 
annual report. The annual audit is subject to approval by the Finance and Audit Commit-
tee. The Finance and Audit Committee monitors the auditor’s work continuously during 
the financial year and has the authority to approve any changes in the terms of the 
annual audit.

Audit-related services
Audit-related services refer to services that are performed in close connection to the 
review of the consolidated accounts and include due diligence assignments, assistance 
in interpretation and application of new accounting policies and assistance in reporting 
requirements relating to internal controls.

Tax-related services
Tax services refer to services related to compliance with rules for tax reporting and other 
advisory services related to taxation.
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Note 23 Rents and leasing fees

Operational leasing
The Group’s operational leasing contracts primarily comprise rented premises in which 
business is conducted, technical medical equipment, computers and other equipment. 
Leasing contracts are reported until such time as they can be terminated. Sub-leasing 
primarily occurs for premises for Group companies.

Leasing fees attributable to: 2014 2013 2012

Properties 568 493 340

Other fixed assets 91 60 50

Total 659 553 390

Of which variable fees 204 89 86

Future minimum operational leasing fees at 31 December 2014 that cannot be prema-
turely terminated and which have terms longer than one year due for payment in:

2015 727

2016 628

2017 570

2018 504

Year 2019 and later 2,514

Total 4,943

Financial leasing
The Group’s financial leasing contracts relate to premises in which business is con-
ducted, as well as technical medical equipment. None of these contracts are sub-
leased.

Leasing fees attributable to: 2014 2013 2012

Properties 72 87 97

Other fixed assets 54 78 62

Total 126 165 159

Of which variable fees 126 148 159

Carrying amounts for financial leasing at closing date amounted to:

2014 2013 2012

Accumulated acquisition value 932 1,835 1,644

Accumulated depreciation/impairment -459 -505 -391

Closing carrying amount 473 1,330 1,253

Depreciation and impairment for the year amounted to MSEK 91 (2013: 110; 2012: 107).

Future minimum financial leasing fees at 31 December 2014 that cannot be prematurely 
terminated and which have terms longer than one year due for payment in:

Actual payment
Estimated present 
value of payments

2015 98 94

2016 82 75

2017 77 68

2018 67 57

Year 2019 and later 278 219

Total 602 513

The actual interest rate is determined on the contract date for all leasing periods. The 
average interest terms in the contracts varies between 1.7 and 7.4%. For more informa-
tion regarding interest rates, see Note 15.

2014 2013 2012

Total minimum future leasing fees 602 1,148 1,110

Interest expense -89 -185 -166

Present value of minimum future   
leasing fees 513 963 944

All leasing contracts are based on commercial terms. Certain contracts contain exten-
sion options with varying time periods.

Note 24 Company acquisitions and divestments

Acquisitions during 2014
During the period from January to December 2014, a number of acquisitions took place 
of which none was significant.

Purchase 
price

Share of 
voting 

rights, %
Share of 

equity, %

Acquisitions 82 100 100

Total 82

All acquired companies are reported in the consolidated accounts in accordance with 
the purchase method, meaning that the purchase price is allocated to acquired assets 
and liabilities based on each item’s fair value. Fair values are established based on valua-
tion by an independent external party with consideration taken to management’s 
assessment of the special character of each asset and liability.

Acquisitions during 2014
Capio Familjeläkarna Falkenberg AB (Sweden)
Capio Hjärthuset i Varberg AB (Sweden)
SCI Chambord (France)
Clinique Jean le Bon (France)

Financial effect
The contribution made by the acquired operations to the Group’s revenues and profit 
before tax was as follows:

Net sales
Result 

after tax

Acquisitions 88 4

Total 88 4

No proforma figures prior to acquisition have been readily available.

Purchase price, goodwill and effect on cash flow

Purchase price Acquisitions

Cash amount 70

Additional acquisition price 12

Total purchase price 82

Less fair value of acquired net assets -48

Goodwill 34

During 2014 a reversal has been made of a liability related to an acquistion made in 2011 
amounting to MSEK 7 (2013: 3; 2012: 54). This has been included in restructuring and 
other non-recurring items, see Note 3.

Cash flow effect related to implemented acquisitions amounted to:

Acquisitions

Purchase price 70

Outstanding purchase price – paid —

Less acquired cash and cash equivalents -17

Cash flow effect of  acquisitions 53

Translation differences —

Total 53
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Note 24: Company acquisitions and divestments cont.

Acquired assets and assumed liabilities
Acquired net assets and goodwill related to implemented acquisitions amounted to:

Carrying amount in 
acquired 

 companies
Fair value 

 adjustments
Total fair  

value

Trademarks, healthcare contracts, leases and other intangible fixed assets — 31 31

Buildings and land 25 25

Machinery and equipment 4 — 4

Accounts receivable and other current assets 7 — 7

Cash and cash equivalents 17 — 17

Total acquired assets 53 31 84

Provisions 4 4

Long-term liabilities 7 — 7

Current liabilities 20 5 25

Total assumed liabilities 31 5 36

Acquired net assets 22 26 48

Goodwill 34 34

Total purchase price 82 82

Outstanding purchase price – paid -12 -12

Less acquired cash and cash equivalents -17 -17

Cash flow effect 53 53

Acquired goodwill is attributable to the underlying profitability of the acquired operations. All significant fair values were based on valuations with consideration taken to the special 
character of each asset.

Pledged assets and contingent liabilities in acquired operations:

Acquisitions

Pledged assets —

Contingent liabilities and guarantees —

Divestments 2014

Capio Nightingale Ltd (UK)

Divested assets and liabilities
Net assets related to divested operations within remaining operations amounted to the 
following:

Divestments Divestments

Buildings and land 34

Other fixed assets 12

Current assets 27

Current liabilities -7

Divested net assets 66

Capital gain/loss from divested units 77

Less cash and cash equivalents in divested companies -6

Received purchase payments  
from previous periods1 4

Translation difference -32

Cash flow effect 109

1 Refers to divestment made in prior years.

Acquisitions during 2013
During the period from January to December 2013, a number of acquisitions took place 
of which none was significant.

Purchase 
price

Share of 
voting 

rights, %
Share of 

equity, %

Acquisitions 46 100 100

Total 46

All acquired companies are reported in the consolidated accounts in accordance with 
the purchase method, meaning that the purchase price is allocated to acquired assets 
and liabilities based on each item’s fair value. Fair values are established based on valua-
tion by an independent external party with consideration taken to management’s 
assessment of the special character of each asset and liability. 

Acquisitions during 2013
Capio Geriatrik Nacka AB (Sweden)
Ulriksdal Sykehus AS (Norway)

Financial effect
The contribution made by the acquired operations to the Group’s revenues and profit 
before tax was as follows:

Net sales Result after tax

Acquisitions 75 -1

Total 75 -1

No proforma figures prior to acquisition have been readily available.

Purchase price, goodwill and effect on cash flow

Purchase price Acquisitions

Cash amount 46

Additional acquisition price —

Total purchase price 46

Less fair value of acquired net assets -16

Goodwill 30

During 2013 a reversal has been made of a liability related to an acquistion made in 2011 
amounting to MSEK 3 (2012: 54; 2011: 0). This has been included in restructuring and 
other non-recurring items, see Note 3.

Cash flow effect related to implemented acquisitions amounted to:

Acquisitions

Purchase price 46

Outstanding purchase price – paid 7

Less acquired cash and cash equivalents -11

Cash flow effect of  acquisitions 42

Translation differences —

Total 42
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Acquired assets and assumed liabilities
Acquired net assets and goodwill related to implemented acquisitions amounted to:

Carrying amount in 
acquired 

 companies
Fair value 

 adjustments
Total fair  

value

Trademarks, healthcare contracts, leases and other intangible fixed assets — 5 5

Machinery and equipment 9 — 9

Deferred tax assets 6 — 6

Accounts receivable and other current assets 17 — 17

Cash and cash equivalents 11 — 11

Total acquired assets 43 5 48

Long-term liabilities 12 — 12

Current liabilities 20 — 20

Total assumed liabilities 32 0 32

Acquired net assets 11 5 16

Goodwill 30 30

Total purchase price 46 46

Outstanding purchase price – paid 7 7

Less acquired cash and cash equivalents -11 -11

Cash flow effect 42 42

Acquired goodwill is attributable to the underlying profitability of the acquired operations. All significant fair values were based on valuations with consideration taken to the special 
character of each asset.

Pledged assets and contingent liabilities in acquired operations:

Acquisitions

Pledged assets —

Contingent liabilities and guarantees —

Divestments 2013

MB Cardio (France)

MB Nephro (France)

Divested assets and liabilities
Net assets related to divested operations within remaining operations amounted to the 
following:

Divestments Divestments

Intangible fixed assets 25

Other fixed assets 44

Current assets 33

Long-term liabilities and provisions -3

Current liabilities -33

Divested net assets 66

Capital gain/loss from divested units 120

Less cash and cash equivalents in 
divested companies —

Outstanding purchase payments  
at closing date —

Received purchase payments1 4

Cash flow effect 190

1 Refers to divestment made in prior years.

Acquisitions during 2012
During the period from January to December 2012, a number of acquisitions took place.

Purchase 
price

Share of  voting 
rights, %

Share of 
equity, %

Carema Healthcare 696 100 100

Other acquisitions 180 100 100

Total 876

All acquired companies are reported in the consolidated accounts in accordance with 
the purchase method, meaning that the purchase price is allocated to acquired assets 
and liabilities based on each item’s fair value. Fair values are established based on valua-
tion by an independent external party with consideration taken to management’s 
assessment of the special character of each asset and liability. 

Acquisitions during 2012

Carema Healthcare (Sweden)

Göingekliniken AB (Sweden)

Stadshusdoktorn Lidingö AB (Sweden)

Hantverksdoktorn AB (Sweden)

Capio St Göran Radiologi AB (Sweden)

Gesfässklinik Dr. Berg GmbH (Germany)

Financial effect
The contribution made by the acquired operations to the Group’s revenues and profit 
before tax was as follows:

Net sales
Result after 

tax

Carema Healthcare 0 0

Other acquisitions 128 9

Total 128 9

If the acquisition of Carema Healthcare had taken place as per 1 January 2012, the full 
year net sales pro forma effect would have been MSEK 1,760. As the previous opera-
tional and organizational structure of Carema Healthcare is not representative of how the 
business will be integrated into Capio, no relevant profit for 2012 has been possible to 
estimate.

Note 24: Company acquisitions and divestments cont.
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Purchase price, goodwill and effect on cash flow

Purchase price
Carema 

 Healtcare
Other 

 acquisitions Total

Cash amount 696 180 876

Additional acquisition price 0 0 0

Total purchase price 696 180 876

Less fair value of acquired net assets -216 -38 -254

Goodwill 480 142 622

During 2012 a reversal has been made of a liability related to an acquistion made in 2011 
amounting to MSEK 54. This has been included in restructuring and other non-recurring 
items, see Note 3.

Cash flow effect related to implemented acquisitions amounted to:

Carema 
 Healtcare

Other 
 acquisitions Total

Purchase price 696 180 876

Less acquired cash and  
cash equivalents -7 -8 -15

Cash flow effect of acquisitions 689 172 861

Translation differences — — —

Total 689 172 861

Acquired assets and assumed liabilities
Acquired net assets and goodwill related to implemented acquisitions amounted to:

Carrying amount

Carema 
 Healtcare

Other 
 acquisitions

Total carrying 
amount in  
acquired 

 companies
Fair value 

 adjustments
Total fair  

value

Trademarks, healthcare contracts, leases and other intangible fixed assets 4 8 12 337 349

Buildings and land 20 0 20 — 20

Machinery and equipment 28 8 36 — 36

Inventories 1 — 1 — 1

Accounts receivable and other current assets 154 12 166 — 166

Cash and cash equivalents 7 8 15 — 15

Total acquired assets 214 36 250 337 587

Minority interest — 4 4 — 4

Provisions 14 0 14 74 88

Long-term liabilities — — 0 — 0

Current liabilities 230 11 241 — 241

Total assumed liabilities 244 15 259 74 333

Acquired net assets -30 21 -9 263 254

Goodwill 480 142 622 622

Total purchase price 696 180 876 876

Less acquired cash and cash equivalents -7 -8 -15 -15

Cash flow effect 689 172 861 861

Acquired goodwill is attributable to the underlying profitability of the acquired operations. All significant fair values were based on valuations with consideration taken to the special 
character of each asset.

Pledged assets and contingent liabilities in acquired operations:
Acquisitions

Pledged assets —

Contingent liabilities and guarantees —

Divestment 2012

No divestments were made in 2012

Note 24: Company acquisitions and divestments cont.
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Note 25 Share capital

Share capital 2014 2013 2012

386,401 (2013: 386,401; 2012: 369,220) 
shares 39 39 38

Issued and paid:

At 1 January 39 38 34

New issue — 1 4

New issue in progress — — —

At 31 December 39 39 38

There are 119,968 (2013: 119,968; 2012: 119,968) common shares and 266,433 
(2013: 266,433; 2012: 249,252) preferential shares, making a total of 386,401 (2013: 
386,401; 2012: 369,220) shares. Each preference share entails annual preference rights 
to dividends. In the event of the company's dissolution or liquidation, holders of prefer-
ence shares have preferential rights to an amount corresponding the average amount 
paid for all preference share and accrued non-paid dividends.

Neither the Parent Company nor any Group company has holdings of own shares.
Dividends are proposed by the Board of Directors in accordance with the rules in the 

Swedish Companies Act and approved by the Annual General Meeting. The Board of 
Directors proposal to the Annual General Meeting is that no dividend will be paid for the 
financial year from 1 January 2014 to 31 December 2014.

Note 26 Earnings per share

Profit/loss for the period (MSEK) 2014 2013 2012

Profit/loss for the period attributable to Parent 
Company shareholders net of income tax -5 53 -171

Profit/loss for the period attributable to Parent 
Company shareholders after dividend to pref-
erence shareholders2 net of income tax -253 -187 -361

Adjusted profit/loss for the period attributable 
to Parent Company shareholders net of 
income tax1 288 138 67

Adjusted profit/loss for the period attributable 
to Parent Company shareholders1 after divi-
dend to preference shareholders2 net of 
income tax 40 -103 -123

Number of shares 2014 2013 2012

Average number of outstanding shares  
before dilution 119,968 119,968 119,968

Average number of outstanding  
shares after dilution 119,968 119,968 119,968

Earnings per share (SEK) 2014 2013 2012

Earnings per share (before and after dilution)3 -2,108 -1,560 -3,008

Adjusted earnings per share (before and after 
dilution)1, 3 337 -856 -1,028

1  Adjusted for amortization on group surplus values, restructuring and other non- 
recurring items and acquisition related costs, net of income tax.

2 Each preference share entails annual preference rights to dividend.
3 Refer to definitions on page 101.

Note 27 Currency effects 

The Group’s sales and purchases are almost exclusively denominated in local currency. 
This means that currency effects on operating income of subsidiaries amount to small 
sums. During the financial year, currency effects amounted to net cost of MSEK 6 (2013: 
cost 11; 2012: cost 37), (income of MSEK 0 and cost of MSEK 6) for the Group.

Accumulated translation differences on the opening date that were recognized in 
consolidated equity amounted to MSEK 180 (2013: 73; 2012: 164). At year-end, these 
 differences amounted to MSEK 338 (2013: 180; 2012: 73). The Group strives to hedge 
net assets in foreign currency through the corresponding weighting of borrowing and 
thus match the cash flows in each currency.  

Changes in exchange rates between EUR and SEK are the primary reason for trans-
lation differences in comprehensive income.

The consolidated statement of comprehensive income is also affected by translation 
of earnings in subsidiaries. This effect is not hedged.

Note 28 Investment commitments

2014 2013 2012

Commitments for future investments  
in fixed assets 146 234 198

Total 146 234 198

The Group’s investement commitments in 2014 and prior years mainly related to expan-
sion and maintenance projects in Germany. 

Note 29 Parent Company

Capio Holding AB is a limited liability company according to Swedish law. The company 
provides healthcare services through its subsidiaries. The company has its headquarter 
in Gothenburg, Sweden where the address is:

Capio Holding AB
C/O Capio AB
Box 1064
SE-405 22 Gothenburg, Sweden
(Visiting address: Lilla Bommen 5)

Note 30 Information on related parties

Capio Holding AB, the Parent Company of the Capio Group, is owned by Ygeia Equity 
AB, which in turn is owned by Ygeia Top Holding AB, which are limited liability compa-
nies in Sweden. Transactions between Group companies and business areas are based 
on market terms. All internal transactions are eliminated in the consolidated accounts. 
Related parties include Group subsidiaries, associated companies, Board members and 
Group Management. Subsidiaries and associated companies are reported in Note 11 for 
the Parent Company. Deliveries of products and services between Group companies 
take place on commercial terms at market prices.

Apart from salaries and other compensation and the transactions described above, 
no other transactions took place between members of the Board of Directors and Group 
companies during the period from January to December 2014. No Board member or 
Group Management had any direct or indirect  participation in any business transactions 
with the company that was unusual with respect to its terms.

Compensation to Board members amounted to MSEK 4 (2013: 2; 2012: 2) includ-
ing social security charges of MSEK 1 (2013: 0; 2012: 0). Renumeration to Group 
Managment amounted to MSEK 51 (2013: 50; 2012: 42) in salaries including social 
security charges of MSEK 12 (2013: 11; 2012: 8) and MSEK 9 (2013: 10; 2012: 8) in 
pensions including MSEK 2 (2013: 2; 2012: 2) of special employer's contribution. Group 
Management consisted of 11 members (2013: 11; 2012: 12) and the number of Board 
members was 11 (2013: 11; 2012: 10).  

Unilabs Group has been considered a related party as the Group and Unilabs Group 
share the same majority owner. Net sales to and purchased services from Unilabs Group 
amounted net to MSEK -102 in 2014 (MSEK -104 in 2013). The closing net balance of 
payables and receivables as of December 31, 2014 was MSEK -13 (MSEK -14 as of 
December 2013). All transactions with Unilabs Group take place on commercial terms at 
market prices.

Note 31 Inventories

2014 2013 2012

Raw materials 185 160 146

Finished goods 14 17 15

Other 11 10 8

Total 210 187 169

Obsolescence is assessed based on age and the turnover rate for each item. Changes 
in provisions for obsolescence during the period as a whole had an effect of MSEK 0 
(2013: 0; 2012: 0) on earnings. Reductions for obsolescence amounted to MSEK 0 
(2013: 0; 2012: 0). Previous impairment losses were reversed in an amount of MSEK 0 
(2013: 0; 2012: 0). Inventories corresponding to MSEK 0 (2013: 0; 2012: 0) are 
expected to be sold after 12 months.

Note 32 Government grants

Government grants amounting to MSEK 61 (2013: 92; 2012: 44) were granted during 
the period. Government grants related to comprehensive income amounted to MSEK 4 
(2013: 55; 2012: 9) in the period and government grants related to assets amounted to 
MSEK 57 (2013: 37; 2012: 35). Government grants related to assets are mainly related 
to Germany where the acute hospitals receive yearly subsidies from the government to 
finance fixed assets. No subsidies were paid back in 2014. 
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Note 33 Pro forma consolidated statement of comprehensive income

The pro forma financial information has been prepared for illustrative purposes, as these 
events have materially affected the Group’s financial results and reduced the Group’s 
net debt position, and as Capio expects these transactions to impact the Group’s busi-
ness, financial condition and results of operations going forward. Pro forma adjustments 
have been made to the Group’s consolidated statement of comprehensive income for 
the period January – December 2014, in order to reflect the impacts of the completed 
sale and leaseback transaction (SLB) in Capio France, the divestment of Capio UK as 
well as the impact of the handover of a contract business in Capio Nordic to another 

healthcare provider. The Group has not prepared pro forma financial information for its 
consolidated balance sheet, as the effects of the above mentioned transactions are 
 visible in the balance sheet as of December 31, 2014.

The following pro forma consolidated statement of comprehensive income gives 
effect to the sale and leaseback transaction (SLB) in Capio France, the divestment of 
Capio UK and the handover of a contract business in Capio Nordic to another health-
care provider, as if they had been completed on January 1, 2014.

MSEK
Reported 

Group

Pro forma 
adjustment 

Nordic1

Pro forma 
adjustment 

France2

Pro forma 
adjustment 

UK3
Total pro forma 

adjustments

Group 
pro forma 
adjusted 

Dec 2014

Net sales 13,200 -160 -80 -240 12,960

Direct costs -10,944 122 -63 53 112 -10,832

Gross result 2,256 -38 -63 -27 -128 2,128

Administrative expenses -1,611 14 -3 16 27 -1,584

Operating result (EBITA) 645 -24 -66 -11 -101 544

Amortization on surplus values -106 — 11 — 11 -95

Restructuring and other non-recurring items 
and acquisition related costs -132 — -177 -76 -253 -385

Operating result (EBIT) 407 -24 -232 -87 -343 64

Net interest -248 46 46 -202

Other financial items -78 24 24 -54

Profit/loss after financial items 81 -24 -162 -87 -273 -192

Income taxes -88 111 111 23

Profit/loss for the period -7 -24 -51 -87 -162 -169

Operating result (EBITDA) 1,102 -25 -92 -13 -130 972

1 Adjustments are related to the handover of a contract business in Capio Nordic to another healthcare provider.
2  The direct costs adjustments for the French SLB transaction comprise of MSEK 90 in additional rent and MSEK 27 in reduced depreciation. 

The adjustment on administrative expenses relates to the reversal of capitalized capital gains from previous French property transactions. 
The financial items (interest expenses) in France arise from the reduced debt levels following the use of transaction proceeds to prepay the Group's syndicated loan facilities, 
 calculated with the same applicable margins as the relevant periods, but adjusted for the lower debt levels on affected loans. Effects from capitalized borrowing costs and  
interest hedges have also been applied (other financial items). 
The adjustment in restructuring and other non-recurring items relates to a capital gain of MSEK 177 related to the divestment of seven French hospital properties (French SLB 
transaction).

3 Adjustments for divestment of UK include capital gain of MSEK 77 related to the divestment of UK.

Note 34 Long-term financial development1

MSEK 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 CAGR, %1

Net sales 7,301 8,459 10,128 9,730 9,855 10,417 12,420 13,200

Organic sales growth, % 3.4 4.1 9.0 3.8 4.5 2.5 2.3 4.1 8.8

Operating result (EBITA) 266 367 511 565 543 545 608 645

Margin, % 3.6 4.3 5.0 5.8 5.5 5.2 4.9 4.9 13.5

Operating result (EBITDA) 580 722 906 940 962 988 1,084 1,102

Margin, % 7.9 8.5 8.9 9.7 9.8 9.5 8.7 8.3 9.6

1 Compound annual growth rate.

Presented figures for the periods 2011–2014 are the reported financial figures from the 
audited financial statements of the Capio Holding AB Group. Presented historical figures 
for periods 2007–2010 have been based on audited consolidated financial statements 
of Ygeia TopHolding AB Group and have been adjusted for significant structural changes 
(divestment of the Spanish business in 2010, divestment of the Unilabs business in 2009 
and the Diagnostics business in 2008).

The figures in the long-term financial development table have not been adjusted for 
the structural changes made in 2014, i.e. the figures have not been adjusted for the 
French SLB transaction, the divestment of the UK business and the handover of a con-
tract business in Capio Nordic. These structural changes impacted reported figures 
with: 

a)  The French SLB transaction impacted reported operating result (EBITA) with MSEK 
-42 and EBITDA with MSEK -71 in 2014. Full year impact of the French SLB transac-
tion on operating result (EBITA) is MSEK -98 and EBITDA MSEK -153.

b)  Capio UK was included in the Group’s accounts through June 30, 2014 and contrib-
uted to the Group in 2014 with net sales of MSEK 80 (2013: 120), an operating result 
(EBITDA) of MSEK 13 (2013: 10) and an operating result (EBITA) of MSEK 11 
(2013: 8). 

c)  Due to a procurement decision prior to Capio’s acquisition of Carema Healthcare a 
contract business was handed over to another healthcare provider as from December 
1, 2014. In 2014 the contract contributed to the Group with net sales of MSEK 160 
(2013: 171), an operating result (EBITDA) of MSEK 25 (2013: 28) and an operating 
result (EBITA) of MSEK 24 (2013: 28). This contract business was not included in the 
Group prior to 2013. 
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Segments 2014
The Group’s operations are primarily organized per business area which also is the basis 
for classification of segments. The segments represents the management structure of the 
group and also corresponds with the geographical composition of the operations. The 
business areas are consolidated in accordance with the same principles applied for the 

Group as whole. Transactions between business areas are conducted on a strictly com-
mercial basis. Other units in this context relate to the Parent Company Capio Holding AB, 
and a number of holding companies and Capio UK up until the divestment during 2014 
(consolidated through June 2014).

MSEK Nordic France Germany Other units Eliminations Total

Net sales 7,128 4,869 1,123 80 13,200

Direct costs -6,029 -3,939 -924 -52 -10,944

Gross result 1,099 930 199 28 0 2,256

Administrative expenses -813 -550 -144 -104 -1,611

Operating result (EBITA) 286 380 55 -76 0 645

Amortization on surplus values -75 -17 -14 — -106

Restructuring and other non-recurring items -127 93 -87 -7 -128

Acquisition related costs -1 -3 0 0 -4

Operating result (EBIT) 83 453 -46 -83 0 407

Financial net -326

Profit/loss after financial items 81

Taxes -88

Profit/loss for the period -7

Operating result (EBITDA) 436 658 78 -70 — 1,102

Investments in operating assets -141 -253 -27 -12 -433

Total assets 4,731 7,236 1,446 2,216 -3,107 12,522

Total liabilities and provisions 2,472 4,527 1,135 3,315 -3,107 8,342

Equity 4,180

Total liabilities, provisions and shareholders' equity 12,522

Segments 2013

MSEK Nordic France Germany Other units Eliminations Total

Net sales 6,716 4,552 1,031 121 12,420

Direct costs -5,703 -3,636 -844 -84 -10,268

Gross result 1,013 916 187 37 0 2,152

Administrative expenses -752 -549 -135 -117 -1,554

Other operating income 10 10

Operating result (EBITA) 261 377 52 -80 0 608

Amortization on surplus values -62 -15 -14 0 -91

Restructuring and non-recurring items -87 170 -31 -32 0 20

Acquisition related costs -5 0 0 0 -5

Operating result (EBIT) 107 532 7 -112 0 532

Financial net -380

Profit/loss after financial items 152

Taxes -97

Profit/loss for the period 55

Operating result (EBITDA) 397 689 74 -76 — 1,084

Investments in operating assets -136 -303 -21 -38 0 -498

Total assets 4,896 7,984 1,443 1,752 -2,350 13,725

Total liabilities and provisions 2,530 5,559 1,081 2,791 -2,350 9,610

Equity 4,115

Total liabilities, provisions and shareholders' equity 13,725

Note 35 Segment report
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Note 35: Segment report cont.

Segments 2012

MSEK Nordic France Germany Other units Eliminations Total

Net sales 4,777 4,515 1,000 124 10,417

Direct costs -3,976 -3,655 -817 -87 -8,535

Gross result 801 860 183 37 0 1,882

Administrative expenses -559 -549 -126 -116 -1,349

Other operating income 12 12

Operating result (EBITA) 242 323 57 -79 0 545

Amortization on surplus values -69 -22 -15 0 -106

Restructuring and non-recurring items 3 -210 -16 -19 0 -241

Acquisition related costs -4 -2 -1 -9 -16

Operating result (EBIT) 172 89 25 -107 0 182

Financial net -362

Profit/loss after financial items -180

Taxes 10

Profit/loss for the period -170

Operating result (EBITDA) 356 626 80 -74 — 988

Investments in operating assets -178 -543 -65 -4 0 -790

Total assets 4,667 7,570 1,447 2,684 -3,087 13,281

Total liabilities and provisions 2,455 5,448 1,076 3,509 -3,087 9,572

Equity 3,709

Total liabilities, provisions and shareholders' equity 13,281

Note 36 Events after the balance sheet date

Political development in Sweden concerning the welfare sector
On October 6, 2014 the new Swedish Government announced an agreement with the 
Left Party to initiate one or several inquiries to strengthen the orderliness in the Swedish 
welfare sector. The inquiries are aimed to analyze possible amendments of the current 
regulatory framework for welfare services such as healthcare, elderly care and educa-
tion, including private operators. The Ministry of Finance is responsible for such inquiries 
under the Minister for Public Administration. The Government launched the Committee 
directives for the inquiry on March 5, 2015. Findings and suggestions are expected to be 
reported November 1, 2015 and November 1, 2016. 

In December 2014 the Government passed a bill to The Committee on Health and 
Welfare concerning the removal of the mandatory obligation to allow for free right to 
establish operations within the primary care sector. The bill did not gain any majority sup-
port in the Committee and the Government reversed the bill. Hence the bill did not reach 
the Parliament in December 2014 as planned.

On December 27 the Government and four opposition parties announced the so 
called “December-agreement”. The agreement is aimed at securing a minority Govern-
ment to pass state budget proposals in the Parliament. Capio believes that the Decem-
ber-agreement has no material effects on The Government agreement with the Left 
Party mentioned above and consequently no impact on the announced inquiry, also 
mentioned above.

Capio continues to monitor the political development in Sweden.

Changes in the Swedish organization
From January 2015 the CMO of the Group (Sveneric Svensson) was appointed to also 
take over the responsibility of the Swedish business from the CEO. In connection with 
this change Martin Engström left the Group Management and his other assignments 
within the Group.
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Parent Company income statement

MSEK Notes 2014 2013 2012

Net sales 2 — —

Gross result 2 0 0

Administrative expenses 1, 2 -25 -3 -4

Operating profit/loss -23 -3 -4

Interest income and other financial items 3 0 0 3

Interest expense and other financial items 4 0 — -1

Profit/loss after financial items -23 -3 -2

Current income tax 5 — — —

Profit/loss for the period -23 -3 -2

Parent Company statement  
of comprehensive income

MSEK Notes 2014 2013 2012

Profit/loss for the period -23 -3 -2

Other comprehensive income that can be reclassified into profit/loss: — — —

Total comprehensive income for the period, net of income tax -23 -3 -2
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MSEK Notes 2014 2013 2012

Shares in group companies 6, 11 3,898 3,898 3,898

Financial fixed assets 3,898 3,898 3,898

Total fixed assets 3,898 3,898 3,898

Other receivables from group companies 7 1 — —

Other receivables 3 — —

Cash and cash equivalents 17 12 15

Total current assets 21 12 15

Total assets 3,919 3,910 3,913

Restricted equity

Share capital 39 39 38

Total restricted equity 39 39 38

Non-restricted equity

Premium reserve 3,687 3,687 3,516

Retained earnings 189 183 185

Profit/loss for the year -23 -3 -2

Total non-restricted equity 3,853 3,867 3,699

Total shareholder's equity 3,892 3,906 3,737

Short-term liabilities to group companies 8 — — 172

Accounts payable – trade 15 — —

Other current liabilities 1 — —

Accrued expenses and prepaid income 11 4 4

Total current liabilities 27 4 176

Total liabilities, provisions and shareholders’ equity 3,919 3,910 3,913

Pledged assets 9 3,898 3,898 3,898

Contingent liabilities 10 — 274 266

Parent Company statement  
of balance sheet
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Parent Company statement  
of cash flow

MSEK 2014 2013 2012

Operating profit/loss -23 -3 -4

Interest received 0 0 3

Cash flow from operating activities before changes in working capital -23 -3 -1

Change in current receivables -4 — —

Change in current liabilities 23 0 0

Change in net working capital 19 0 0

Cash flow from operating activities -4 -3 -1

Cash flow from investment activities 0 0 0

Change in loans — — 240

Capital contribution 9 — -322

Cash flow from financing operations 9 0 -82

Currency differences in cash and cash equivalents 0 0 -1

Change in cash and cash equivalents 5 -3 -84

Opening balance, cash and cash equivalents 12 15 99

Closing balance, cash and cash equivalents 17 12 15
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Parent Company change  
in shareholders’ equity

MSEK
Share  

capital
Premium  

reserve
Retained 
 earnings

Profit/loss  
for the year

Shareholders'  
equity

Opening balance at 1 January 2012 34 3,214 -1,844 1,699 3,103

Profit/loss from previous periods 1,699 -1,699 0

Other comprehensive income from previous periods — — —

Profit/loss for the year -2 -2

Other comprehensive income — —

New share issue 4 302 306

Group contribution 330 330

Closing balance at 31 December 2012 38 3,516 185 -2 3,737

MSEK
Share  

capital
Premium  

reserve
Retained 
 earnings

Profit/loss  
for the year

Shareholders'  
equity

Opening balance at 1 January 2013 38 3,516 185 -2 3,737

Profit/loss from previous periods -2 2 0

Other comprehensive income from previous periods —

Profit/loss for the year -3 -3

Other comprehensive income — —

New share issue 1 171 172

Closing balance at 31 December 2013 39 3,687 183 -3 3,906

MSEK
Share  

capital
Premium  

reserve
Retained 
 earnings

Profit/loss  
for the year

Shareholders' 
equity

Opening balance at 1 January 2014 39 3,687 183 -3 3,906

Profit/loss from previous periods -3 3 0

Other comprehensive income from previous periods —

Profit/loss for the year -23 -23

Other comprehensive income — —

Capital contribution 9 9

Closing balance at 31 December 2014 39 3,687 189 -23 3,892

The Parent Company’s shareholders’ equity comprises: 2014 2013 2012

Common shares Quota value: SEK 102 119,968 119,968 119,968

Preferential shares of series P1 Quota value: SEK 102 217,355 217,355 217,355

Preferential shares of series P2 Quota value: SEK 102 31,897 31,897 31,897

Preferential shares of series P3 Quota value: SEK 102 17,181 17,181 —

Share capital; total number of shares 386,401 386,401 369,220

Each preference share entails annual preference rights to dividends. In the event of the company's dissolution or liquidation, holders of preference shares have preferential rights to an 
amount corresponding the average amount paid for all preference shares and accrued non-paid dividends.
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Accounting principles

General information
All amounts are stated in millions of Swedish kronor (MSEK).

The Parent Company prepared its annual report in accordance with 
the Swedish Annual Accounts Act and the Swedish Financial Report-
ing Board’s recommendation RFR 2 Accounting for Legal Entities and 
the statements of the Swedish Financial Accounting Standards Coun-
cil's Emerging Issues Task Force. The rules in RFR 2 mean that the 
Parent Company in the annual report for the legal entity must apply all 
IFRS/IAS rules and statements adopted by the EU as far as possible 
within the framework of the Annual Accounts Act and with consider-
ation taken to the relationship between accounting and taxation.

There are recommendations regarding the exceptions to IFRS/IAS 
that may be made. These regulations are described in the accounting 
policies for the consolidated accounts.

The Parent Company uses the same accounting principles as in the 
consolidated accounts with the following exceptions:

Shares in subsidiaries
Shares in subsidiaries are valued at acquisition cost including external 
costs directly related to the acquisition. The shares are valued at the 
lowest of historical acquisition cost and fair value. 

Translation of foreign currency 
Transactions in foreign currencies are restated to the functional cur-
rency according to the applicable exchange rate on the transaction 
date. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from payment of 
transactions and restatement of liquid assets and liabilities in foreign 
curriencies on the balance sheet date, are taken over the income 
statement.
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Notes

Note 1 Salaries, other compensation and social costs

Salaries and other compensation 2014 2013 2012

Board and Chief Executive Officer 4 2 2

Other employees — — —

Total 4 2 2

Social security costs 2014 2013 2012

Pension costs for Chief Executive Officer — — —

Pension costs for other employees — — —

Social security expenses 1 0 0

Total 1 0 0

Upon termination by the company, the Chief Executive Officer receives unchanged 
employment benefits for up to twelve months.

Gender balance in the board and group 
management 2014 2013 2012

Distribution between men and women in 
the board:

Women 2 1 1

Men 9 10 10

Total 11 11 11

Distribution between men and women in 
group management: 

Women 3 3 3

Men 8 8 9

Total 11 11 12

Note 2 Audit fees

Fees for audit conducted by elected auditors Ernst & Young were paid by another Group 
company.

Note 3 Interest income and other financial items

2014 2013 2012

Interest income 0 0 1

Interest income, group companies 0 0 2

Total 0 0 3

Note 4 Interest expense and other financial items

2014 2013 2012

Exchange rate differences on recievables and 
liabilities 0 0 -1

Total 0 0 -1

Note 5 Income tax

Tax expense for the year divided among 
current and deferred tax: 2014 2013 2012

Current income tax — — —

Deferred income tax — — —

Tax expenses — — —

Estimated tax on profit for the year in Sweden has been calculated at 22%.

Origin of reported tax costs 2014 % 2013 % 2012 %

Profit/loss before tax -23 -3 -2

Tax calculated at Swedish tax 
rate of 22% resp. 26.3% 5 22 1 22 1 26

Tax related to non-deductible 
items 0 0 0 0 0 0

Tax related to non-taxable 
income 0 0 0 0 0 0

Changed valuation of temporary 
differences 0 0 0 0 0 0

Tax losses not recognized -5 -22 -1 -22 -1 -26

Reported tax expense 0 0 0 0 0 0

The income tax rate in Sweden has been changed from 26.3% to 22% from 1 January 
2013. The total tax losses amounted to MSEK 242 (2013: 219; 2012: 216) of which no 
deferred tax assets were recognized.

Note 6 Financial fixed assets

2014 2013 2012

Shares in group companies

Opening acquisition value 3,898 3,898 3,576

Shareholders' contribution — — 322

Closing accumulated acquisition value 3,898 3,898 3,898

Note 7 Other receivables from group companies

2014 2013 2012

Receivables from group companies

Accounts receivables 1 — —

Total 1 — —

Note 8 Short-term liabilities to group companies

2014 2013 2012

Liabilities to group companies

Current liabilities — — 172

Total — — 172

Note 9 Pledged assets

2014 2013 2012

Shares in subsidiaries for subsidiaries' liabilities 
to credit institutions 3,898 3,898 3,898

Total 3,898 3,898 3,898

Note 10 Contingent liabilities 

2014 2013 2012

Contingent liabilities1 — 274 266

Total — 274 266

1  Of which MSEK 0 (2013: 274; 2012: 266) relate to lease guarantees on behalf of 
 subsidiaries. 
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Note 11 Shares in subsidiaries

The following specification of shares in subsidiaries contains certain simplifications, such as when the ownership is divided among several owners.

Shares in subsidiaries Corporate reg.no. Share of equity
Share of  

voting rights
Number 

of shares Reg. office
Book  
value

SWEDEN

Capio AB 556518-9692 100% 100% 101,898,196 Gothenburg 3,898

Capio Lundby Sjukhus AB 556737-9432 100% 100% 1,000 Stockholm

Capio Närsjukvård AB 556422-0860 100% 100% 35,000 Gothenburg

Hälsoval Bergaliden AB 556832-9113 100% 100% 500 Gothenburg

Göingekliniken AB 556831-0329 100% 100% 500 Gothenburg

Hantverksdoktorn AB 556715-1021 100% 100% 2,400 Gothenburg 

Capio Vårdcentraler AB 556051-1577 100% 100% 70,000 Gothenburg 

Capio Specialistkliniker AB 556769-5209 100% 100% 100,000 Gothenburg 

Capio Medocular Holding AB 556761-3921 98.35% 99.80% 1,554,743 Gothenburg 

Capio Medocular AB 556259-9430 100% 100% 2,000 Uppsala

Capio Anorexi Center AB 556572-6121 100% 100% 10,000 Varberg

Capio Specialistcenter AB 556797-4414 100% 100% 1,000 Stockholm

Capio Gyn AB 556836-7725 100% 100% 1,000 Stockholm

Capio Centrum för Titthålskirurgi AB 556735-9764 100% 100% 1,000 Stockholm

Capio Movement AB 556592-0864 100% 100% 1,002 Halmstad

Capio Shared Services AB 556062-5237 100% 100% 18,519 Gothenburg

Capio Psykiatri AB 556750-6125 100% 100% 100,000 Gothenburg

Capio Support AB 556824-8735 100% 100% 500 Gothenburg

Capio fastighet Vesslan 34 i Örebro AB 556864-2184 100% 100% 500 Örebro

Capio Lager 3 AB 556870-2434 100% 100% 500 Gothenburg

Capio Lager 4 AB 556899-4361 100% 100% 500 Gothenburg

Capio Sjukvård AB 556527-3751 100% 100% 351,000 Gothenburg

Capio Primärvård AB 556570-3468 100% 100% 10,000 Gothenburg

Capio Vårdcentral Gävle AB 556591-8355 95.20% 95.20% 952 Gothenburg

Capio Specialistvård AB 556284-9819 100% 100% 4,375 Stockholm

Capio Specialistvård Skåne AB 556585-4709 100% 100% 1,961 Gothenburg

Capio Ortopediska Huset AB 556403-5110 100% 100% 2,400 Stockholm

Capio Psykiatri Syd-Väst AB 556469-6572 100% 100% 3,000 Stockholm

Capio Hjärnhälsan AB 556760-8673 100% 100% 1,000,000 Stockholm

Capio Närvård AB 556543-2878 100% 100% 10,000 Säffle

Capio Läkargruppen AB 556492-0410 91% 91% 27,300 Örebro

Capio Artro Clinic AB 556566-9552 100% 100% 1,000 Stockholm

Capio St Görans Sjukhus AB 556479-1456 99.97% 99.97% 2,999 Stockholm

Capio St Görans Radiologi AB 556868-2537 100% 100% 50,000 Stockholm

Capio Geriatrik AB 556543-9899 100% 100% 1,000 Stockholm 

Capio Geriatrik Nacka AB 556594-4443 100% 100% 10,260 Nacka

Capio Familjeläkarna Falkenberg AB 556685-3726 100% 100% 1,000 Gothenburg

Capio Hjärthuset i Varberg AB 556643-7413 100% 100% 1,000 Gothenburg

NORWAY

Capio Norge Holding AS 993 839 140 100% 100% 10,110 Oslo 

Volvat Medisinske Senter AS 953 164 701 100% 100% 260,000 Oslo 

Mensendieck Klinikken Fysioterapi AS 879 158 982 51% 51% 102,345 Oslo 

Klinikk Bunaes AS 987 588 195 100% 100% 84,334 Sandvika

Capio Anoreksi Senter AS 980 524 493 100% 100% 1,500 Fredrikstad

FRANCE

Capio Sante SA 66 272 069 700 082 100% 100% 4,473,000 Lyon

Capio Sud EURL 49 356 305 000 019 100% 100% 1 Lyon

Capio Ouest EURL 49 346 637 900 010 100% 100% 1 Lyon

MSC Dreux SA 58 295 006 900 010 100% 100% 720 Lyon

Capio 2 EURL 53 880 113 500 012 100% 100% 1 Lyon

Capio Immobilier SAS 49 346 678 300 013 100% 100% 37,000 Lyon

Capimmo SAS 44 226 896 700 027 100% 100% 3,700 Lyon

SCI Parc du Midi Toul 38 754 117 000 031 100% 100% 5,037 Lyon

Chambord 38 807 281 100 010 100% 100% 7,070 Lyon

SCI Croix d'Alliez 39 800 472 100 021 99.94% 99.94% 545,912 Lyon

SCI Godefroy 39 524 025 200 027 100% 100% 45,200 Lyon

SCI Haguenau 37 810 105 900 038 100% 100% 210,000 Lyon

Immo St Pierre SAS 63 282 062 700 040 100% 100% 2,700 Lyon
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Shares in subsidiaries Corporate reg.no. Share of equity
Share of  

voting rights
Number 

of shares Reg. office
Book  
value

SCI St V. La Compassion 38 053 862 900 037 100% 100% 335,000 Lyon

SCI Poly d'Orange 37 926 636 400 023 100% 100% 100,000 Lyon

SCI SIB 34 855 462 700 011 100% 100% 60 Lyon

SCI Lafourcade 78 225 406 400 028 98.62% 98.62% 43,634 Lyon

SAS Chantegrillet 39 377 296 700 039 100% 100% 6,100 Lyon

SCI Franca 34 424 576 600 011 100% 100% 3,100 Lyon

SCI Fontvert 3 933 813 140 002 100% 100% 16,250 Lyon

Carpio Orange Immo 52 871 737 400 011 100% 100% 1,000 Lyon

SCI Parc St Jean 52 983 085 300 014 100% 100% 1,000 Lyon

SCI Ezambu 53 356 761 600 016 100% 100% 1,000 Lyon

GIE Capio Gestion 33 492 417 200 078 100% 100% 5,000 Lyon

GIE Capio Services France 33 492 417 200 078 100% 100% 3,700 Lyon 

Les Cigognes SAS 31 055 138 700 023 100% 100% 1,050 Lyon

Clinique des Cèdres SAS 49 346 639 500 024 100% 100% 11,202,033 Toulouse

Atlantique Immobilière SAS 31 453 833 100 039 100% 100% 10,852 La Rochelle

Clinique de l'Atlantique SAS 53 880 115 000 029 100% 100% 3,577,518 La Rochelle

Capio Cliniques SAS 49 346 683 300 016 100% 100% 3,434,782 Lyon

St V.Besançon SAS, St. Vincent  
St V.Besançon SAS, St. Pierre

31 945 006 000 011 
31 945 006 000 060 100% 100% 1,087 Besancon

Clinique Jean Le Bon SA 98 722 029 000 017 99.49% 99.49% 12,530 Dax

Mail SAS 61 178 034 700 013 100% 100% 2,500 La Rochelle

Claude Bernard SAS 32 292 941 500 014 100% 100% 2,678 Pontoise

Clinique de Provence SAS 37 868 686 900 041 100% 100% 10,000 Avignon

Fontvert Avignon Nord SAS 4 934 664 780 001 100% 100% 4,619,510 Avignon

Rempart Investissement SAS 39 114 371 600 010 100% 100% 846,618 Lyon

St Jean Languedoc SAS 99 776 910 400 016 100% 100% 10,054 Toulouse

Parc Toulouse SAS 38 747 416 600 023 100% 100% 150,000 Toulouse

Ste Odile SAS 32 728 689 400 024 100% 100% 4,100 Strasbourg

Clinique du Tonkin SA 33 462 909 400 015 99.65% 99.65% 19,735 Lyon

IMPL 33 156 456 700 013 63% 63% 14,000 Lyon

Capio Centre Bayard SAS 49 776 289 800 011 100% 100% 37,000 Lyon

Beaujolais SAS 3 051 110 230 001 100% 100% 24,147 Villefranche-Tarare

GCS Capio Rhone Alpes 50 791 797 900 019 100% 100% 200 Lyon

Beaupuy SAS 62 080 085 400 015 100% 100% 4,000 Toulouse

Clinique Domont SA 4 187 533 800 017 100% 100% 126,667 Pontoise

Clinique Aguiléra SAS 7 822 718 940 019 100% 100% 9,100 Bayonne

Scanner Aguiléra SAS 523 894 350 51% 51% 100 Bayonne

GCS Centre de Cardiologie du Pays Basque 80 540 907 500 019 75% 75% 100 Bayonne

Capio Bayonne SAS 49 346 215 400 029 97.48% 97.48% 37,549,584 Bayonne

Capio Rhônes-Alpes SA 44 949 627 200 013 99.99% 99.99% 296,765 Lyon

Sauvegarde Immobilière SA 96 950 466 100 014 98.34% 98.34% 19,751 Lyon

Clinique Sauvegarde SAS 50 967 400 800 024 100% 100% 2,253,526 Lyon

Saint Louis Holding SA 95 750 137 200 016 99.94% 99.94% 2,285,327 Lyon

CLIM (imagerie) SA 33 414 986 100 034 99.50% 99.50% 775,000 Lyon

Lakco SAS 41 338 712 700 025 100% 100% 87,006 Lyon

GERMANY

Capio Deutsche Klinik GmbH HRB 5266 100% 100% 4 AG Fulda

Capio Deutsche Klinik Dannenberg GmbH HRB 120861 100% 100% 1 AG Lüneburg

Capio MVZ Dannenberg GmbH HRB 120856 100% 100% 1 AG Lüneburg

Capio Deutsche Klinik Otterndorf GmbH HRB 110868 100% 100% 1 AG Tostedt

Krankenhaus Land Hadeln Service GmbH HRB 110859 100% 100% 1 AG Tostedt

ATZ am KH Land Hadeln GmbH HRB 203850 100% 100% 25,000 AG Tostedt

MVZ Cuxhaven Rohdestrasse GmbH HRB 201489 100% 100% 1 AG Tostedt

Capio Deutsche Klinik Bad Kötzting GmbH HRB 8467 100% 100% 2 AG Regensburg

Capio Deutsche Klinik Weißenburg GmbH HRB 210046 100% 100% 1 AG Jena

Capio Deutsche Klinik Bad Bertrich GmbH HRB 4928 100% 100% 1 AG Koblenz

DV Venenliga Management GmbH HRB 7080 100% 100% 1 AG Koblenz

Capio MVZ Venenzentrum Bad Bertrich GmbH HRB 20498 60% 60% 3 AG Koblenz

Capio Deutsche Klinik Laufen GmbH HRB 9846 100% 100% 2 AG Traunstein

Capio Deutsche Klinik Hilden GmbH HRB 56999 100% 100% 1 AD Düsseldorf

MVZ Klinik im Park GmbH HRB 64091 100% 100% 25,000 AG Düsseldorf

GiB - Gesellschaft für Investitionen und den Betrieb von  
Kliniken GmbH HRB 57202 94% 94% 2 AG Düsseldorf

Note 11: Share in subsidiaries, cont.
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Shares in subsidiaries Corporate reg.no. Share of equity
Share of  

voting rights
Number 

of shares Reg. office
Book  
value

Capio Deutsche Klinik Aschaffenburg GmbH HRB 10414 100% 100% 2 AG Aschaffenburg

Capio MVZ Aschaffenburg GmbH HRB 11970 100% 100% 25,000 AG Aschaffenburg

Capio Grünewaldklinik GmbH HRB 10414 100% 100% 25,000 AG Aschaffenburg

KIP Orthopädiehandel GmbH HRB 59799 100% 100% 3 AG Düsseldorf

Capio MVZ Bad Brückenau Bahnhofstrasse GmbH HRB 5891 100% 100% 1 AG Schweinfurt

Gefäßklinik Dr. Berg GmbH Blaustein HRB 2627 90% 90% 2 AG Ulm

HKU GmbH Privatklinik für Dermatologie Venerologie und 
 Allergologie HRB 4677 100% 100% 1 AG Ulm

Capio Deutsche Klinik Büdingen GmbH HRB 3658 100% 100% 2 AG Friedberg

Mathilden-Hospital zu Büdingen Service GmbH HRB 3730 100% 100% 1 AG Friedberg

Capio Mathilden-Hospital zu Büdingen Wohnen GmbH HRB 3754 100% 100% 1 AG Friedberg

Capio MVZ am Mathilden-Hospital zu  Büdingen GmbH HRB 6539 100% 100% 1 AG Friedberg

RZM Küchenservice GmbH HRB 7088 40% 40% 2 AG Koblenz

UNITED KINGDOM

Capio UK Ltd 06275667 100% 100% 1 London 

DENMARK

Capio Holding Danmark A/S 31 622 816 100% 100% 500 Helsingör

Capio Specialistklinikker A/S 31 768 845 100% 100% 500 Helsingör

Closing carrying amount 3,898

Note 11: Share in subsidiaries, cont.
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Auditor’s report

Auditor’s report

Report on the annual accounts and consolidated 
accounts
We have audited the annual accounts and consolidated accounts of 
Capio Holding AB for the year 2014. The annual accounts and consoli-
dated accounts of the company are included in the printed version of 
this document on pages 45–99.

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors and the Managing 
Director for the annual accounts and consolidated accounts

The Board of Directors and the Managing Director are responsible for 
the preparation and fair presentation of these annual accounts in 
accordance with the Annual Accounts Act and of the consolidated 
accounts in accordance with International Financial Reporting Stan-
dards, as adopted by the EU, and the Annual Accounts Act, and for 
such internal control as the Board of Directors and the Managing 
Director determine is necessary to enable the preparation of annual 
accounts and consolidated accounts that are free from material mis-
statement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these annual accounts 
and consolidated accounts based on our audit. We conducted our 
audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing and gen-
erally accepted auditing standards in Sweden. Those standards 
require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform 
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the annual 
accounts and consolidated accounts are free from material misstate-
ment.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence 
about the amounts and disclosures in the annual accounts and con-
solidated accounts. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstate-
ment of the annual accounts and consolidated accounts, whether due 
to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor consid-
ers internal control relevant to the company’s preparation and fair pre-
sentation of the annual accounts and consolidated accounts in order 
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, 
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the company’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the 
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness 
of accounting estimates made by the Board of Directors and the Man-
aging Director, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the 
annual accounts and consolidated accounts.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions.

Opinions

In our opinion, the annual accounts have been prepared in accordance 
with the Annual Accounts Act and present fairly, in all material 
respects, the financial position of the parent company as of 31 Decem-
ber 2014 and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the 
year then ended in accordance with the Annual Accounts Act. The 

consolidated accounts have been prepared in accordance with the 
Annual Accounts Act and present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of the group as of 31 December 2014 and of their 
financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accor-
dance with International Financial Reporting Standards, as adopted by 
the EU, and the Annual Accounts Act. The statutory administration 
report is consistent with the other parts of the annual accounts and 
consolidated accounts.

We therefore recommend that the annual meeting of shareholders 
adopt the income statement and balance sheet for the parent com-
pany and the group.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
In addition to our audit of the annual accounts and consolidated 
accounts, we have also audited the proposed appropriations of the 
company’s profit or loss and the administration of the Board of Direc-
tors and the Managing Director of Capio Holding AB for the year 2014.

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors and the Managing 
Director

The Board of Directors is responsible for the proposal for appropria-
tions of the company’s profit or loss, and the Board of Directors and 
the Managing Director are responsible for administration under the 
Companies Act.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion with reasonable assurance 
on the proposed appropriations of the company’s profit or loss and on 
the administration based on our audit. We conducted the audit in 
accordance with generally accepted auditing standards in Sweden.

As a basis for our opinion on the Board of Directors’ proposed 
appropriations of the company’s profit or loss, we examined whether 
the proposal is in accordance with the Companies Act. 

As a basis for our opinion concerning discharge from liability, in 
addition to our audit of the annual accounts and consolidated 
accounts, we examined significant decisions, actions taken and cir-
cumstances of the company in order to determine whether any mem-
ber of the Board of Directors or the Managing Director is liable to the 
company. We also examined whether any member of the Board of 
Directors or the Managing Director has, in any other way, acted in con-
travention of the Companies Act, the Annual Accounts Act or the Arti-
cles of Association. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinions.

Opinions

We recommend to the annual meeting of shareholders that the profit 
be appropriated in accordance with the proposal in the statutory 
administration report and that the members of the Board of Directors 
and the Managing Director be discharged from liability for the financial 
year.

Gothenburg, March 10, 2015

Ernst & Young AB

Staffan Landén
Authorized Public Accountant

To the annual meeting of the shareholders of Capio Holding AB, corporate identity number 556706-4448

Translation from the swedish original
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Definitions

Definitions

Number of outpatients Number of patient visits, for patients  
with length of stay  shorter than 24 hours.

Number of inpatients Number of patient visits, for patients  
with length of stay longer than 24 hours.

Number of employees Number of employees as full-time equivalents 
on average during the year.

Total sales growth, % Increase in net sales for the period as a per-
centage of the   previous year’s net sales.

Total sales growth, adjusted for exchange rate, % Increase in net 
sales for the period as a percentage of the previous year’s net sales 
calculating previous year’s net sales using current period exchange 
rates to compare net sales between the periods at comparable 
exchange rates.

Organic sales growth, % Increase in net sales for the period, 
adjusted for acquisitions/divestments and changes in exchange rates, 
as a percentage of the previous year’s net sales adjusted for divest-
ments.

Operating result (EBITDA) Operating result (EBITA) adjusted for 
depreciations and impairments related to operating fixed assets.

Operating result (EBITA) Operating result before amortizations of 
group surplus values, restructuring and other non-recurring items and 
acquisition related costs.

Operating result (EBIT) Operating result before interest items and 
tax.

Adjusted profit/loss for the period Profit/loss for the period attrib-
utable to Parent Company shareholders adjusted for amortization of 
group surplus values, restructuring and other non-recurring items and 
acquisition costs, net of income tax.

Earnings per share Profit/loss for the period attributable to Parent 
Company shareholders after dividend to preference shareholders,  
in relation to the average number of outstanding shares during  
the period. 

Adjusted earnings per share Profit/loss for the period attributable to 
Parent Company shareholders after dividend to preference sharehold-
ers, adjusted for amortization of group surplus values, restructuring 
and other non-recurring items and acquisition costs, net of income tax, 
in relation to the average number of outstanding shares during the 
period. 

Net customer receivables Accounts receivables and accrued pro-
duction less bad debt provision and advances from customers.

Capital employed Capital employed includes all non-interest bearing 
assets and  liabilities.

Return on capital employed Operating result (EBITA) as a percent-
age of  capital employed.

Net debt The Group’s external interest-bearing assets and liabilities 
adjusted for cash and cash equivalents.

Financial leverage Financial leverage is the closing balance of  
net debt in relation to Operating result (EBITDA).

Net investments Investments in fixed assets, net of divestments  
of fixed assets,  depreciations and impairments, for the period.

Operating cash flow Operating cash flow relates to operating result 
(EBITA) adjusted for net investments and changes in working capital.

Free cash flow before financial items Corresponds with operating 
cash flow less income taxes paid.

Free cash flow after financial items Corresponds with free cash 
flow before financial items less net financial items paid.

Cash conversion Cash conversion in % is defined as the flow related 
to operating  result (EBITA).



Thomas Berglund
CEO since 2011

Born: 1952.
Member of Group Management since: 2007.
Education: BSc in Economics and Business  
Administration.
Professional experience: President and CEO at 
Securitas Group. Formerly consultant with Swedish 
Management Group and adviser to the Swedish govern-
ment administration.
Other appointments: Vice Chairman ISS A/S, board 
member of Vårdföretagarnas sjukvårds avdelning.
Previous appointments (past five years):  
Chairman of the board of The InfraNet Company AB. 
Board member of InfraNet Company 1 AB, P-PY 2009 
Holding AB.
Holding: 2,370 shares.

Olof Bengtsson
CFO since 2013

Born: 1961. 
Member of Group Management since: 2010.
Education: BSc in Finance and Business 
 Administration.
Professional experience: Responsible for Group 
Treasury, Corporate Finance and Group Insurance in the 
Securitas Group. Positions in treasury and corporate 
finance, with the STORA Group and with the Atlas 
Copco Group.
Other appointments: –
Previous appointments (past five years): Board 
member of Securitas Rental Aktiebolag.
Holding: 250 shares.

Henrik Brehmer
Senior Vice President Corporate Communications  
& Public Affairs since 2012

Born: 1964.
Member of Group Management since: 2012. 
Education: BSc in Personnel Administration and 
Business Administration and lieutenants degree from 
Military Academy.
Professional experience: Senior Vice President 
Corporate Communications in Swedish Match AB. 
Senior Vice President Investor Relations and Group 
Communication Securitas AB in the UK. 
Communications Director in Ericsson AB in Sweden  
and the UK. Officer in the Swedish Armed Forces. 
Other appointments: –
Previous appointments (past five years): – 
Holding: –

Philippe Durand
Business Area Manager Capio France  
since 2013

Born: 1969.
Member of Group Management since: 2013.
Education: Graduate EM Lyon Business School.
Professional experience: Deputy General Manager 
and Regional Manager Capio France and CFO Capio 
France. Financial controller at Infogrames. Auditor and 
Advisor at Arthur Andersen.
Other appointments: –
Previous appointments (past five years): –
Holding: 193 shares.

Group Management

Peter Holm
Business Area Manager Capio Specialist Clinics  
since 2014

Born: 1958.
Member of Group Management since: 2014.
Education: MD, specialist in thoracic surgery, PhD. 
Management program at IFL/ Stockholm School of 
Economics, Sweden.
Professional experience: Head of the acute division at 
Karolinska University Hospital. Head of the women and 
pediatric division and department of thoracic surgery 
and anaesthesiology at Uppsala University Hospital. 
Section manager for cardiothoracic surgery at Karolinska 
University Hospital. Cardiothoracic surgeon at 
Karolinska University Hospital.
Other appointments: –
Previous appointments (past five years): – 
Holding: –
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Christian W Loennecken
Business Area Manager Capio Norway  
since 2010

Born: 1947.
Member of Group Management since: 2010.
Education: MD, specialist in internal medicine and 
 geriatrics. Administration and leadership education from 
the Norwegian Medical Association.
Professional experience: Head Physician at the Volvat 
Medical Centre and Volvat Group. Senior Physician, 
Volvat Medical Centre.
Other appointments: Board member of Learn by 
Motion AS. Associated member of the project group for 
further education of physicians in the Norwegian Medical 
Association.
Previous appointments (past five years): –
Holding: –

Lotta Olmarken
Business Area Manager Capio Psychiatry  
since 2012

Born: 1955.
Member of Group Management since: 2012. 
Education: MD, specialist in general psychiatry. 
Management training at the Stockholm School of 
Economics. Management development programme  
for healthcare and AMP (Advanced Management 
Programme).
Professional experience: Chief Medical Officer,  
Maria Beroendecentrum AB. Section Manager, 
Beroendecentrum Syd. Prior to this, various posts  
in general psychiatry.
Other appointments: –
Previous appointments (past five years):  
CEO of Maria Personal AB.
Holding: –

Martin Reitz
Business Area Manager Capio Germany  
since 2008

Born: 1964.
Member of Group Management since: 2008.
Education: Qualified bank clerk. Business studies  
with diploma in Business Administration from  
University of Göttingen. 
Professional experience: Vice Hospital Manager, 
Mosel- Eifel-Klinik, Bad Bertrich. Hospital Manager 
Hofgartenklinik, Aschaffenburg. Managing Director Vena 
Fachkliniken, Bad Bertrich. Regional Director of Capio 
Deutsche Klinik GmbH in Germany.
Other appointments: Member of Wirtschaftsrat 
Deutschland e. V. (council of economic advisers). 
Member of Verband der Krankenhausdirektoren 
Deutschlands e. V. (association of German hospital 
directors).
Previous appointments (past five years): –
Holding: 39 shares.

Sveneric Svensson
Head of Capio Sweden since 2015  
Chief Medical Officer (CMO) since 2013

Born: 1953.
Member of Group Management since: 2007.
Education: MD, PhD and specialist in Cardio thoracic 
Surgery. 
Professional experience: Business Area Manager 
Capio France. Performance Management Director and 
Medical Director, Capio AB. Head of Medicine Capio 
Sjukvård Norden. Formerly Head of Department of 
Thoracic and Cardiovascular Surgery, Sahlgrenska 
University Hospital, Gothenburg, Sweden.
Other appointments: –
Previous appointments (past five years): –
Holding: 330 shares.

Britta Wallgren
Business Area Manager Capio St Göran’s Hospital 
since 2009

Born: 1963.
Member of Group Management since: 2009.
Education: MD, specialist in anesthesiology and 
 intensive care. Healthcare management programs, 
Stockholm School of Economics, Sweden,  
and Harvard Business School.
Professional experience: Head of Department of 
Anesthesiology and ICU, Head of physicians, 
Department of Anesthesiology and ICU, Capio St 
Göran’s Hospital, Stockholm. Anesthesiologist  
Capio St Göran’s Hospital.
Other appointments: –
Previous appointments (past five years): –
Holding: 200 shares.

Susanne Wellander
Business Area Manager Capio Proximity Care 
since 2010

Born: 1957.
Member of Group Management since: 2010.
Education: Registered nurse, specialty surgical nurse. 
BSc in leadership and management from Aalborg 
Business College.
Professional experience: Care unit manager,  
Head of Logistics and project manager at Capio City 
Clinics. Management positions at hospitals in Denmark 
and Sweden. Manager of Thule Air Base Hospital,  
US Air Force. 
Other appointments: –
Previous appointments (past five years): –
Holding: 100 shares.

Christian W  
Loennecken

Lotta  
Olmarken

Martin  
Reitz

Sveneric  
Svensson

Susanne  
Wellander

Britta  
Wallgren

Christian W  
Loennecken

 Group Management

103



Anders Narvinger
Board member and chairman of the 
Board of Directors since 2011

Chairman of the Remuneration 
Committee and member of the Medical 
Quality Committee.
Born: 1948.
Education: MSc in Engineering from 
Institute of Technology, Lund, BSc in 
Business and Economics from University 
of Uppsala.
Professional experience: Positions at 
ABB, including President and CEO of 
ABB Sweden and CEO of The 
Association of Swedish Engineering 
Industries.
Other appointments: Chairman of the 
board of Alfa Laval AB, Coor Service 
Management Group AB and ÅF AB. 
Deputy Chairman for ICC Sweden. 
Board member of JM AB and Pernod 
Ricard SA.
Previous appointments (past five 
years): Chairman of the Board Trelleborg 
AB, V&S Vin & Sprit AB and TeliaSonera 
AB. Member of the Board of Volvo 
Person vagnar Aktiebolag. Chairman of 
the Swedish Association of Listed 
Companies.
Holding: 164 shares.

Gunnar Németh
Board member and vice chairman 
of the Board of Directors since 2011

Chairman of the Medical Quality 
Committee.
Born: 1952.
Education: MD and specialist in 
Orthopedic Surgery and Algology. PhD 
and Professor of Orthopedic Surgery. 
MBA from Frankfurt School of Finance & 
Management.
Professional experience: COO and 
CMO of Capio Group, CEO of Capio AB 
and Capio St Göran’s Hospital. Formerly 
Professor and Head of Department, 
Orthopedics, Karolinska University 
Hospital, Stockholm. Advisor at county 
and national level in health and medical 
care issues.

Other appointments: Chairman of the 
board of UroClinic Sverige AB and 
Scandinavian Robotic Surgery Group 
AB. Board member of Swedish Hospital 
Partners Holding AB, Ortoma AB and G 
Németh Associates AB. Industrial 
Advisor Healthcare sector.
Previous appointments (past five 
years): Board member of Djursjuk hus-
gruppen Sverige Holding AB. 
Holding: 1,166 shares.

Robert Andreen
Member of the Board of Directors 
since 2006

Born: 1943.
Education: MSc from Chalmers 
University of Technology, Gothenburg, 
PhD in Industrial Management, visiting 
research scholar at Stanford University 
and Research Institute, USA, Marcus 
Wallenberg and Fullbright Commission 
scholarship.
Professional experience: Co-founded 
Nordic Capital in 1989 and currently 
Partner at NC Advisory AB (advisor to the 
Nordic Capital funds). Formerly held vari-
ous positions at SKF, President of a 
regional venture capital fund and then 
Head of Svenska Handelsbanken’s M&A 
department.
Other appointments: –
Previous appointments (past five 
years): Board member and CEO of 
Beechgate Industri AB, Marmarge 
Holding AB, Presidmont Holding AB and 
Varsaera Holding AB. Board member of 
Leaf International B.V., Brasil 
Development AB, Plastal Holding AB and 
SDV Holding AB. Deputy board member 
of Roland Dahlström Design Aktiebolag.
Holding: –

Neal Dignum
Member of the Board of Directors 
since 2013

Member of the Finance and Audit 
Committee and member of the 
Remuneration Committee.
Born: 1985.
Education: MBA from The Wharton 
School, University of Pennsylvania; BA in 
Economics from Middlebury College.
Professional experience: Senior asso-
ciate at Apax Partners since 2013. 
Previously worked at Advent International 
and Morgan Stanley.
Other appointments: –
Previous appointments (past five 
years): –
Holding: –

Gun Nilsson
Member of the Board of Directors 
since 2014

Chairman of the Finance and Audit 
Committee since 2015.
Born: 1955.
Education: BSc in Economics.
Professional experience: CFO of 
Sanitec Oyj and Nobia Group, CEO of 
Gambro Holding AB, Managing Director 
of Indap Sweden AB and Deputy CEO 
and Executive Vice President of Duni AB.
Other appointments: Chairman of the 
board of Ifö Sanitär AB. Board member 
of Hexagon Aktiebolag. Deputy board 
member of Art Photo Foundation and 
Vinpröjsarn AB.
Previous appointments (past five 
years): Board member of Husqvarna AB 
and Nobia Sverige AB. Board member 
and CEO of Nobia Interiör and Nobia 
Köks Invest AB. 
Holding: –

Fredrik Näslund
Member of the Board of Directors 
since 2006

Member of the Finance and Audit 
Committee and member of the 
Remuneration Committee.
Born: 1971.
Education: MSc in Engineering Physics, 
MSc in Business Administration.
Professional experience: Partner at 
NC Advisory AB (advisor to the Nordic 
Capital funds), Vice President Corporate 
Finance, Capio (Bure Healthcare). 
Other appointments: Chairman of the 
board of Cidron Delfi Intressenter Top 
Holding AB (Orc Group Holding 
Company), CameronTec Intressenter Top 
Holding AB, Cameron Intressenter AB, 
Cidron SuperPay Top Holding AB 
(Euroline Group Holding Company) and 
Näslund och Nordin Aktiebolag. Board 
member of Unilabs Holding AB, 
Handicare AS, Eyre Invest Svenska AB, 
Naslerto AB and SRN Holding AB. 
Deputy board member of Näslund 
Arkitektur & Fastighet AB.
Previous appointments (past five 
years): Board member of Cidron I AB, 
Cidron II AB, Electronic Transaction 
Group Nordic Holding AB (Point Group 
Holding Company), Permobil Holding AB 
and Salve Arkitekter AB. Deputy board 
member of Eko bostäder i Ö-vik AB and 
Reynolds Holding AB.
Holding: –

Board of Directors
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Michael Phillips
Member of the Board of Directors 
since 2010

Born: 1962.
Education: BS in Engineering Chemistry 
from Queen’s university in Kingston, 
Canada, MBA from INSEAD.
Professional experience: Investment 
partner of Castik Capital S.à r.l. Joined 
Apax Partners in 1992. Led and partici-
pated in a number of transactions, includ-
ing Sulo, IFCO Systems and Tommy 
Hilfiger. Prior to Apax worked at OTTO 
Holding and Ciba-Geigy Canada.
Other appointments: Travelex Holdings 
Limited.
Previous appointments (past five 
years): –
Holding: – 

Bertrand Pivin
Member of the Board of Directors 
since 2011

Born: 1960.
Education: MBA at Harvard Business 
School, Master in Electrical Engineering at 
Telecom ParisTech, Master in Maths & 
Physics at École Polytechnique, Paris, 
France.
Professional experience: Research 
Engineer at Alcatel France. Project 
Director at Alcatel North America. Joined 
Apax in 1993. Invests in Tech and 
Telecom, and more recently in Healthcare 
Business Services.
Other appointments: Board member of 
Unilabs, chairman of Amplitude, SK 
FireSafety, Inseec, Vizada and board 
member of Apax Partners Mid Market.
Previous appointments (past five 
years): Chairman of Parkeon and IEE.
Holding: – 

Håkan Winberg
Member of the Board of Directors 
since 2013

Member of the Finance and Audit 
Committee
Born: 1956.
Education: BSc in Economics and 
Business administration. 
Professional experience: CFO and 
Executive Vice President Capio Group, 
Director of Accounting and Finance, CFO 
and Executive Vice President at Securitas 
Group, Controller at Invest ment AB 
Skrinet and auditor at PwC. 
Other appointments: Member of the 
Council for the Swedish Chamber of 
Commerce UK and consultant via CFO 
Metrics Ltd.
Previous appointments (past five 
years): Chairman of the board of BTI 
Studios AB. Board member of Poolia AB 
(publ).
Holding: 2,369 shares. 

Employee 
 representatives
Kevin Thompson
Member of the Board of Directors 
(employee representative) since 2010

Born: 1958.
Education: Assistant nurse training and 
trade union training.
Professional experience: In the health-
care sector since 1978. Ex tensive trade 
union work since 1991.
Other appointments: –
Previous appointments (past five 
years): –
Holding: –

Julia Turner
Member of the Board of Directors 
(employee representative) since 2012

Born: 1956.
Education: Registered nurse.
Professional experience: In the health-
care sector since 1981.
Other appointments: –
Previous appointments (past five 
years): –
Holding: –

Deputy board 
 members
Tommi Unkuri
Deputy Board member since 2010

Born: 1980.
Education: MSc in Economics and 
Business Administration from the 
Stockholm School of Economics.
Professional experience: Director at 
NC Advisory AB (advisor to the Nordic 
Capital funds). Prior to this worked at the 
Investment Banking Division at Morgan 
Stanley in London and Stockholm. 
Other appointments: Board member of 
Unilabs Holding AB, DLG Holding AB, 
Cidron TBS I Limited, Cidron Animal 
MidCo AB and DLG Holding AB.
Previous appointments (past five 
years): -
Holding: –

Alexandra Ekengren
Deputy Board member (employee rep-
resentative) since 2014

Born: 1972.
Education: Registered nurse.
Professional experience: In the health-
care sector since 2008. Previously 
worked as an accounts assistant in vari-
ous companies prior to nursing 
education.
Other appointments: –
Previous appointments (past five 
years): –
Holding: –

Bengt Sparrelid
Deputy Board member (employee rep-
resentative) since 2010

Born: 1954.
Education: MD, specialist in cardiology 
and internal medicine.
Professional experience: In the health-
care sector since 1985.
Other appointments: Board member of 
PRO DIE Aktiebolag.
Previous appointments (past five 
years): –
Holding: –

Auditor

Staffan Landén
Authorized Public Accountant, Ernst & 
Young AB.

Born: 1963.
Auditor for Capio Holding AB since 2009. 
Elected auditor at 2009 Annual General 
Meeting. Staffan Landén has extensive 
experience in auditing exchange-listed 
and internationally active companies. 
Among other assignments, he is auditor 
for Papyrus AB, Academedia AB and 
Rederi AB Transatlantic. Staffan Landén is 
also stock  exchange auditor for Nasdaq 
in Stockholm.

Kevin Thompson Julia TurnerHåkan WinbergBertrand PivinMichael Phillips
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Contact

History

Capio was founded in 1994 in Gothenburg, Sweden, as a divi-
sion of Bure Healthcare. Since its foundation, the company has 
grown to become a leading pan-European healthcare provider. 

Capio entered the Norwegian market through the acquisition of 
the Volvat Group in 1997. Capio solidified its position as a lead-
ing Swedish private healthcare provider when it began to man-
age the operations of Capio St Göran’s Hospital in Stockholm 
following a public tender process in 1999 and also entered the 
UK market in the same year. 

The company continued its expansion in Europe after its ini-
tial listing on the Stockholm Stock Exchange in 2000, and by 
entering France in 2002, Spain in 2005 and Germany in 2006. 

Capio was acquired by Nordic Capital Fund IV, Apax Part-
ners Worldwide LLP and Apax Partners S.A, and simultane-
ously delisted from the Stockholm Stock Exchange in 2006. In 
2007, it was required to divest most of its UK business due to 
antitrust issues following its new ownership structure. 

Capio refined and focused its operating profile through the 
divestiture of Capio Diagnostics to Unilabs in 2008. Subse-
quently, the Spanish business was divested in 2010. 

Capio further strengthened its Swedish care network in 
2012 through the contract renewal of Capio St Göran’s Hospi-
tal, during which Capio was clearly differentiated from other 
bidders by achieving 11 out of 12 quality scores, as defined in 
the public request for proposal. The acquisition and successful 
integration of Carema Healthcare during 2012 added further 
scale to Capio’s own care network and contributed to the 
development of a leading platform for its primary care opera-
tions. 

During 2014 the Group divested the remainder of its UK 
business through the sale of its private mental health hospital in 
central London (Capio Nightingale Hospital).

Head offices

Capio Holding AB (the Group)
Box 1064
SE-405 22 Gothenburg
Visiting address:
Lilla Bommen 5

Tel:  +46 31 732 40 00
Fax:  +46 31 732 40 99
E-mail: info@capio.com
www.capio.com

Capio Holding AB
Box 8173
SE-104 20 Stockholm
Visiting address:
S:t Eriksgatan 44

Tel:  +46 8 737 87 80
Fax: +46 8 737 87 99
E-mail: info@capio.com
www.capio.com

Production: Capio AB in cooperation with  
Hallvarsson & Halvarsson.
Photo:  Inside cover, page 6, 16, 40, 42, Olof 
Holdar. Inside cover, page 12, Frida Valentin.  
All other photos, Alexander Ruas.

Capio AB Corporate  
Communications & Public Affairs
Henrik Brehmer
SVP Corporate Communications  
and Public Affairs
Tel: +46 8 737 87 82
E-mail: henrik.brehmer@capio.com

 
Linda Wallgren
Corporate Communications Director
Tel: +46 31 732 40 16
E-mail: linda.wallgren@capio.com
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Capio Sweden

Capio St Göran’s Hospital
SE-112 81 Stockholm
Visiting address:  
S:t Göransplan 1 
Sweden

Tel:  +46 8 5870 10 00
Fax:  +46 8 5870 19 56
www.capiostgoran.se

Care unit Location

Capio St Göran’s Hospital Stockholm

Capio Specialist Clinics
Box 8173
SE-104 20 Stockholm
Visiting address:  
S:t Eriksgatan 44 
Sweden

Tel:  +46 8 737 87 80
Fax:  +46 8 737 87 99
www.capio.se

Care unit Location

Capio Advanced Home Healthcare Dalen Stockholm

Capio Advanced Home Healthcare Nacka Stockholm

Capio Artro Clinic Stockholm

Capio Artro Clinic Rehab Bosön Stockholm

Capio Geriatrics Dalen Stockholm

Capio Geriatrics Nacka Stockholm

Capio Gynaecology Globen Stockholm

Capio Lundby Local Hospital Gothenburg

Capio Läkargruppen Örebro

Capio Medocular (satellite) Falun

Capio Medocular Gothenburg

Capio Medocular Jönköping

Capio Medocular Lidingö

Capio Medocular Lund

Capio Medocular Malmö

Capio Medocular Stockholm

Capio Medocular (satellite) Västerås

Capio Medocular (satellite) Sundsvall

Capio Medocular Uppsala

Capio Medocular (satellite) Örebro

Capio Movement Halmstad

Capio Movement Varberg

Capio Ortopediska Huset Stockholm

Capio Palliative Care Dalen Stockholm

Capio Palliative Care Nacka Stockholm

Capio Rehab Dalen Stockholm

Capio Rehab Saltsjöbaden Stockholm

Capio CFTK Stockholm

Capio Ear Nose Throat Globen Stockholm

Capio Psychiatry
S:t Göransgatan 66
SE-112 33 Stockholm 
Sweden

Tel:  +46 8 737 87 80
Fax: +46 8 684 005 30
www.capio.se

Care unit Location

Capio Anorexia Centre Malmö

Capio Anorexia Centre Sollentuna

Capio Anorexia Centre Varberg

Capio Maria Stockholm

Capio Maria Helsingborg

Capio Maria Landskrona

Capio Psychiatry Haninge

Capio Psychiatry Linköping

Capio Psychiatry Lysekil

Capio Psychiatry Munkedal/Sotenäs

Capio Psychiatry Nacka

Capio Psychiatry Norrköping

Capio Psychiatry Nynäshamn

Capio Psychiatry Simrishamn

Capio Psychiatry Sjöbo

Capio Psychiatry Tomelilla

Capio Psychiatry Tyresö

Capio Psychiatry Värmdö

Capio Psychiatry Växjö

Capio Psychiatry Ystad

Capio TILMA Halmstad

Capio TILMA Kungsbacka

Capio TILMA Varberg
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Capio Proximity Care
Box 1064
SE-405 22 Gothenburg
Visiting address:  
Lilla Bommen 5 
Sweden

Tel:  +46 31 732 40 00 
Fax:  +46 31 732 40 99
www.capio.se

Care unit Location

Capio City Clinic Båstad Båstad

Capio Primary Care Centre Enköping Enköping

Capio Specialist Centre Eslöv Eslöv

Capio General Practitioners Falkenberg Falkenberg

Capio Primary Care Centre Grästorp Grästorp

Capio Health Centre Bomhus Gävle

Capio Health Centre Brynäs Gävle

Capio Health Centre Gävle Gävle

Capio Health Centre Wasahuset Gävle

Capio Rehab Gävle Gävle

Capio Primary Care Centre Amhult Gothenburg

Capio Primary Care Centre Axess Gothenburg

Capio Primary Care Centre Hovås/Billdal Gothenburg

Capio Primary Care Centre Gårda Gothenburg

Capio Primary Care Centre Lundby Gothenburg

Capio Primary Care Centre Sävedalen Gothenburg

Capio City Clinic Halmstad Halmstad

Capio City Clinic Helsingborg Mariastaden Helsingborg

Capio City Clinic Helsingborg Olympia Helsingborg

Capio City Clinic Helsingborg Söder Helsingborg

Capio Göingekliniken Hässleholm Hässleholm

Capio Primary Care Centre Viksjö Järfälla

Capio City Clinic Klippan Klippan

Capio City Clinic Kristianstad Kristianstad

Capio General Practitioners Kungsbacka Kungsbacka

Capio General Practitioners Vallda Kungsbacka

Capio City Clinic Landskrona Landskrona

Capio Stadshusdoktorn Lidingö Lidingö

Capio Primary Care Centre Lidingö Lidingö

Capio Primary Care Centre Berga Linköping

Capio City Clinic Lund Clemenstorget Lund

Capio City Clinic Lund S:t Laurentiigatan Lund

Capio City Clinic Bunkeflo-Hyllie Malmö

Capio City Clinic Limhamn Malmö

Capio City Clinic Malmö Centrum Malmö

Capio City Clinic Malmö Singelgatan Malmö

Capio City Clinic Malmö Stortorget Malmö

Capio City Clinic Malmö Västra Hamnen Malmö

Capio Primary Care Centre Mölndal Mölndal

Capio Primary Care Centre Orust Orust

Capio City Clinic Ronneby Ronneby

Capio Primary Care Centre Simrishamn Simrishamn

Care unit Location

Capio Primary Care Centre Solna Solna

Capio Children’s Healthcare Centre   
Bagarmossen/Hammarbyhöjden Stockholm

Capio Children’s Healthcare Centre  
Eken Södermalm Stockholm

Capio Children’s Healthcare Centre Farsta Stockholm

Capio General Practice Serafen Stockholm

Capio Rehab Globen Stockholm

Capio Primary Care Centre Bro Stockholm

Capio Primary Care Centre Farsta Stockholm

Capio Primary Care Centre Gubbängen Stockholm

Capio Primary Care Centre Gullmarsplan Stockholm

Capio Primary Care Centre Hagsätra Stockholm

Capio Primary Care Centre Högdalen Stockholm

Capio Primary Care Centre Ringen Stockholm

Capio Primary Care Centre Rågsved Stockholm

Capio Primary Care Centre Skogås Stockholm

Capio Primary Care Centre Slussen Stockholm

Capio Primary Care Centre Södermalm Stockholm

Capio Primary Care Centre Taptogatan Stockholm

Capio Primary Care Centre Vårberg Stockholm

Capio Primary Care Centre Årsta Stockholm

Capio Primary Care Centre Östermalm Stockholm

Capio Primary Care Centre Lina Hage Södertälje

Capio Primary Care Centre Wasa Södertälje

Capio Health Centre Dragonen Umeå

Capio Primary Care Centre Väsby Upplands Väsby

Capio Primary Care Centre Liljeforstorg Uppsala

Capio Primary Care Centre Sävja Uppsala

Capio Heart Clinic Varberg Varberg

Capio Primary Care Centre Vallby Västerås

Capio Primary Care Centre Västerås City Västerås

Capio Primary Care Centre Hovshaga Växjö

Capio City Clinic Ängelholm Ängelholm

Capio Primary Care Centre Haga Örebro

Capio Primary Care Centre Lekeberg Örebro

Capio City Clinic Broby Östra Göinge
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Capio Germany

Capio Deutsche Klinik
Flemingstraße 20–22
D-36041 Fulda
Germany

Tel:  +49 661 242 92 0
Fax:  +49 661 242 92 299
www.de.capio.com

Care unit Location

Capio Franz von Prümmer Klinik Bad Brückenau

Capio MVZ Bad Brückenau Bad Brückenau

Capio Elbe-Jeetzel-Klinik Dannenberg

Capio MVZ Dannenberg Dannenberg

Capio Krankenhaus Land Hadeln Otterndorf

MVZ Cuxhaven Rohdestrasse Cuxhaven

Capio Klinik an der Weißenburg Uhlstädt-Kirchhasel

Capio Klinikum Maximilian Bad Kötzting

Capio Pflegezentrum Bad Kötzting Bad Kötzting

Capio Mathilden-Hospital Büdingen

Capio MVZ am Mathilden-Hospital Büdingen

Capio Hofgartenklinik Aschaffenburg

Capio MVZ Aschaffenburg Aschaffenburg

Capio Mosel-Eifel-Klinik Bad Bertrich

Capio MVZ Venenzentrum Bad Bertrich Bad Bertrich

Capio Klinik im Park Hilden

MVZ Klinik im Park Hilden

Capio Schlossklinik Abtsee Laufen

Capio Blausteinklinik Blaustein

Capio France

Capio Santé
113 Boulevard Stalingrad
F-69100 Villeurbanne
France

Tel:  +33 4 37 47 16 50
Fax:  +33 4 37 47 16 51
www.capio.fr

Care unit Location

Capio Clinique Jean le Bon Dax

Capio Clinique Lafourcade Bayonne

Capio Clinique Paulmy Bayonne

Capio Clinique St Etienne Bayonne

Capio Clinique Aguiléra Biarritz

Capio Clinique du Mail La Rochelle

Capio Clinique de l’Atlantique Puilboreau

Capio Clinique Sainte Odile Haguenau

Capio Clinique Saint Pierre Pontarlier

Capio Clinique Saint Vincent Besançon

Capio Clinique Claude Bernard Ermont

Capio Clinique de Domont Domont

Capio Clinique de Beaupuy Beaupuy

Capio Clinique des Cèdres Cornebarrieu

Capio Clinique Saint Jean Languedoc Toulouse

Capio Polyclinique du Parc Toulouse

Capio Clinique de Fontvert Avignon Nord Sorgues

Capio Clinique de Provence Orange

Capio Clinique du Parc Orange

Capio Centre Bayard Villeurbanne

Capio Clinique de la Sauvegarde Lyon

Capio Clinique du Tonkin Villeurbanne

Capio Polyclinique du Beaujolais Arnas/Villefranche-sur-Saône

Capio Norway

Volvat Medical Centre
Postboks 5280 Majorstuen
N-0303 Oslo
Visiting address:  
Borgenveien 2A
Norway

Tel:  +47 22 9575 00
Fax:  +47 22 9576 41
www.capio.no

Care unit Location

Volvat Medical Centre Oslo

Volvat Medical Centre Oslo Sentrum Oslo

Volvat Medical Centre Bergen

Volvat Medical Centre Fredrikstad

Volvat Medical Centre Hamar

Volvat Ulriksdal Bergen 

Capio Anorexia Centre Fredrikstad

Mensendieck Clinic Oslo
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Capio Holding AB
Box 1064
SE-405 22 Gothenburg, Sweden
Visiting address: Lilla Bommen 5

Telephone: +46 31 732 40 00
Fax: +46 31 732 40 99
E-mail: info@capio.com
www.capio.com
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